Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management Series Editors: Christoph Herrmann, Sami Kara

## Malte Schönemann

# Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems



## Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management

## Series editors

Christoph Herrmann, Braunschweig, Germany Sami Kara, Sydney, Australia Modern production enables a high standard of living worldwide through products and services. Global responsibility requires a comprehensive integration of sustainable development fostered by new paradigms, innovative technologies, methods and tools as well as business models. Minimizing material and energy usage, adapting material and energy flows to better fit natural process capacities, and changing consumption behaviour are important aspects of future production. A life cycle perspective and an integrated economic, ecological and social evaluation are essential requirements in management and engineering. This series will focus on the issues and latest developments towards sustainability in production based on life cycle thinking.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/10615

Malte Schönemann

# Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems



Malte Schönemann Institute for Machine Tools and Production Technology Technische Universität Braunschweig Braunschweig Germany

ISSN 2194-0541ISSN 2194-055X (electronic)Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and ManagementISBN 978-3-319-49366-4ISBN 978-3-319-49367-1DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016957861

#### © Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

## Foreword

Manufacturing companies play an important role in the transition to a global sustainable development. They create products by using resources such as materials and energy, which in return cause various emissions to the environment, and directly or indirectly affect the well-being of people. Consequently, the goal must be to improve the production operation to reduce costs and environmental impacts while creating products with a desired quality. This is no easy task since prevalent cause-effect relationships in production systems bear the risk of problem shifting. In particular, this is relevant for the production of complex products which require various processes, diverse equipment, and specific factories. Well-intended measures and the utilization of innovative technologies may lead not only to local improvements, but also to undesired effects in other sectors or equipment of a production system causing higher overall costs and environmental impacts. In order to avoid problem shifting, production engineers and product developers need methods and tools for an integrated decision support and to foster the collaboration of these disciplines to gain an interdisciplinary system understanding. In this regard, simulation is a powerful method which enables to examine the dynamic behavior of complex systems. However, due to the high effort related to the creation and employment of sophisticated simulation models, the application of simulation in industry is so far limited.

With this published work, Schönemann has strongly contributed to the application of simulation for planning and improvement of production systems and products. He developed a multiscale simulation approach with an exemplary application for the case of large scale battery systems production which considers the relevant characteristics and elements of production systems needed for the integrated evaluation of economic, environmental, and technological goals. His approach is based on coupled simulation models allowing the utilization of best-suited modeling approaches and tools to represent specific production system elements in detail. As an example of a detailed model, he suggests an agent-based process chain simulation in order to consider the characteristics and production requirements of individual product units. This is novel in contrast to established process chain simulation approaches. In addition, he defined interfaces between different model types to enable the use of existing models and to increase the re-usability of models, which reduces the effort for model creation and fosters the collaboration of different disciplines and experts. Although being specifically developed for battery production systems, the approach stands on a generalized framework which allows an easy adaptation also to other industries.

> Prof. Dr.-Ing. Christoph Herrmann Technische Universität Braunschweig Braunschweig, Germany

> > Prof. Dr. Sami Kara University of New South Wales Sydney, Australia

## Acknowledgments

This book is the result of my work in the Sustainable Manufacturing & Life Cycle Engineering Research Group of the Institute of Machine Tools and Production Technology (IWF) at the Technische Universität Braunschweig. I specially thank Professor Christoph Herrmann for providing a very friendly, productive, and open working environment as well as for the great support regarding my thesis. Furthermore, I thank Professor Sami Kara from the Sustainable Manufacturing & Life Cycle Engineering Research Group of the University of New South Wales (UNSW) in Sydney, Australia, for his great support and the cooperation within the Joint German-Australian Research Group, especially during my research stay at the UNSW. Moreover, I thank Professor Arno Kwade for his positive feedback and the evaluation of this book. Also I thank Professor Thomas Vietor for the coordination of the dissertation committee and the good research cooperation during the last few years.

Many thanks go to all fellow colleagues in the IWF who made working at the institute a pleasure and who contributed to great memories. In particular, I am very grateful to Sebastian Thiede and Denis Kurle for the detailed reviews of my work and the great constructive discussions which helped very much in finalizing this book. Also I thank Jan Beier, Gerrit Posselt, and Marius Winter for the uncountable talks and their insightful comments. Thanks go also to Anne-Marie Schlake especially for helping a great deal with the publishing processes.

Moreover, I thank the colleagues from the Battery LabFactory Braunschweig for the great atmosphere. In particular, I thank Linus Froböse, Henrike Bockholt, Wolfgang Haselrieder, Henning Dreger, and Christiane Schilcher, who helped me a lot in understanding the battery production processes.

Special thanks go to Dirk Scharff, Roland Kossel, and Wilhelm Tegethoff from the TLK-Thermo GmbH for providing the TISC middleware software and the required extensions. Without this support, it would have been very difficult to demonstrate the applicability of my concept. Beyond that, I thank my close friends for all the great journeys, adventures, and trips which caused the necessary distractions. Niklas, Malte, Max, Alex, Nikos, Meik, Conny, Sebi ... it has been a blast!

Above all, I sincerely thank my family for always supporting my academic and personal decisions with dedication and without hesitation. Thank you for everything! And finally, lovely and deep thanks go to Anika for her patience, understanding, and unlimited support especially during the last few months of the dissertation. Thank you so much!

Braunschweig, Germany July 2016

Malte Schönemann

## Contents

1	Intro Refe	ntroduction		
2	Battery Production and Simulation			
	2.1	Battery Production	11	
		2.1.1 Batteries and Battery Components	11	
		2.1.2 Production Systems and Production Management	15	
		2.1.3 Production of Battery Cells and Systems	18	
	2.2	Simulation of Production Systems	24	
		2.2.1 Digital Factory	24	
		2.2.2 Simulation	25	
		2.2.3 Simulation in Production.	27	
		2.2.4 Multiscale Simulation	28	
		2.2.5 Co-Simulation	29	
	2.3	Summary and Preliminary Findings for the Simulation		
		of Battery Production	31	
	Refe	rences.	32	
2	Stat	a of Dessandh for Multiceala Simulation of Draduction		
5	Stat	ame	30	
	3 1	Selection of Approaches and Definition of Evaluation Criteria	30	
	5.1	3.1.1 Selection of Approaches	30	
		3.1.2 Evaluation Criteria	10	
	37	Presentation and Evaluation of Existing Approaches	40	
	3.2	Findings and Research Demand	51	
	J.J Refe	rances	55	
	Refe	<i>A</i> chees	55	
4	Mul	tiscale Simulation Modeling Concept for Battery		
	Proc	luction Systems	59	
	4.1	Objectives and Requirements	59	
	4.2	Modeling Framework Development	62	
		4.2.1 System Boundaries and Scope	63	

		4.2.2	Hierarchy and Scales	64
		4.2.3	Multiscale Model Framework	66
	4.3	Proces	ss Chain Model (1)	67
		4.3.1	Process Chain Elements	68
		4.3.2	Process Chain Configurations and Control Strategies	70
		4.3.3	State Variables and Indicators	73
	4.4	Conce	epts for Sub-models	81
		4.4.1	Machine Models (2)	81
		4.4.2	Product and Process Models (3)	88
		4.4.3	Human Workers (4)	98
		4.4.4	TBS Models (5)	99
		4.4.5	Building Model (6)	106
	4.5	Mode	l Connection (7)	108
	4.6	Result	t Evaluation and Visualization (8)	110
	4.7	Applic	cation Procedure	115
		4.7.1	Description of Production System and Stakeholders (I)	116
		4.7.2	Definition of Evaluation and Simulation Objectives (II)	117
		4.7.3	Definition of Required Models (III)	118
		4.7.4	Modeling, Implementation (IV), and Coupling	
			of Models (V)	120
		4.7.5	Verification and Validation (VI)	123
		4.7.6	Definition (VII) and Execution (VIII)	
			of Simulation Runs	123
		4.7.7	Evaluation of Simulation Results (IX)	
			and Objectives (X)	124
		4.7.8	Reporting of Evaluation Results (XI)	124
	Refe	erences.		125
5	Imp	lement	ation of a Multiscale Core Model	131
	5.1	Core 1	Model Architecture	131
	5.2	Core 1	Model Components	133
		5.2.1	Jobs and Product Types	133
		5.2.2	Processing Unit Agents	134
		5.2.3	Machine Agents	136
		5.2.4	Workers	139
		5.2.5	Building Zones and Lighting.	139
		5.2.6	Shift Schedules	140
		5.2.7	Evaluation and Visualization	140
	5.3	Comp	ressed Air Generation System	141
	5.4	Coupl	ing and Synchronization of Models	142
	5.5	Verifie	cation	143
	Refe	erences.		147

6	Exe	mplary	Application	149
	6.1	Simula	ation of Cell Production	149
		6.1.1	Problem Formulation (I) and Objective Definition (II)	149
		6.1.2	Definition of Required Models (III)	150
		6.1.3	Modeling, Implementation (IV), and Coupling	
			of Models (V)	152
		6.1.4	Verification and Validation (VI)	157
		6.1.5	Definition (VII) and Execution (VIII)	
			of Simulation Runs	157
		6.1.6	Evaluation of Simulation Results (IX)	
			and Objectives (X)	159
	6.2	Simula	ation of Module Assembly	164
	Refe	erences.		168
7	Sum	mary a	and Outlook	169
	7.1	Summ	ary	169
	7.2	Critica	l Review	171
	7.3	Outloo	ok on Further Research	174
	Refe	erences.		176

## Acronyms

AHU	Air handling unit
AB	Agent based
BCVTB	Building control virtual test bed
BMS	Battery management system
CB	Carbon black
DE	Discrete event
DEM	Discrete element method
DS	Dynamic systems
FEM	Finite element method
GWP	Global warming potential
HLA	High level architecture
HVAC	Heating, ventilation and air conditioning
LCA	Life cycle assessment
LCI	Life cycle inventory
Li	Lithium
LIB	Lithium-ion battery
LMO	Lithium-Mangan-Oxid
MTTF	Mean time to failure
MTTR	Mean time to repair
NMP	N-methylpyrrolidone
OCV	Open circuit voltage
PHEV	Plugin hybrid electric vehicle
PMI	Process machine interaction
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
SD	System dynamics
SEI	Solid electrolyte interphase
SOC	State of charge
TBS	Technical building services
TRY	Test reference year
VSM	Value stream mapping

## Symbols

$A_{mn}$	Surface area of machine with number <i>mn</i>
$A_d$	Window surface area
$A_w$	Wall surface area
$\alpha_{mn}$	Convective heat transfer coefficient of machine with number mn
acr	Air change rate
$BC_{mn}$	Buffer capacity of machine with number mn
$J_{jn}$	Job with job number as index $(jn = 1,, JN)$
$C_{energy}$	Total energy costs
Cmachining	Total costs of machine operation
C <sub>materials</sub>	Total material costs
C <sub>mn</sub>	Heat capacity of machine with number mn
$C_{total}$	Total production costs
$CAD_{MACH}$	Compressed air demand of all machines
$CAD_{MACH_{mn}}$	Compressed air demand of machine with number nm
$CAD_{mn_c}$	Compressed air demand of component $c$ or machine with number $mn$
$CO_2^{eq}$	Equivalent carbon dioxide
$DED_{pun}$	Direct energy demand of processing unit with the number pun
Elenergy	Environmental impact of energy generation
EI <sub>materials</sub>	Environmental impact of materials
E <sub>mn</sub>	Emissivity factor of machine with number mn
g	Energy transmittance
I <sub>max</sub>	Maximum radiation
$MACH_{mn}$	Machines with machine number as index $(mn = 1,, MN)$
m <sub>air</sub>	Mass of air
$m_{mn}$	Mass of machine with number mn
$\dot{M}E_{WO_{wn}}$	Moisture emissions of worker with number wn
PCHAR <sub>ptn</sub>	Product characteristics
PD <sub>MACH</sub>	Power demand of all machines
$PD_{MACH_{mn}}$	Power demand of machines with number mn

Power demand of component $c$ ( $c = 1,, C$ ) of machine with
number mn
Power demand of compressed air generation
Power demand of HVAC systems
Power demand of lighting
Power demand of entire TBS
Total power demand of entire process chain
Product type with product type number <i>ptn</i> as index
$(ptn = 1, \dots, PTN)$
Processing unit with processing unit number pun as index
(pun = 1,, PUN) and associated product type <i>ptn</i>
Heat source within machine with number mn
Heat emissions from workers
Heat emissions from worker with number wn
Heat emissions from lighting
Heat emissions from all machines
Heat emissions from machine with number mn
Heat emissions from component $c$ of machine with number $mn$
Total heat emissions to the building
Stefan-Boltzmann constant
Air temperature of building zone z
Surface temperature of machine with number mn
Heat transfer coefficient of a wall

## Chapter 1 Introduction

Battery systems for energy storage are among the most relevant technologies of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. They – in particular modern lithium-ion batteries (LIB) – are enablers for the market success of electric vehicles (EV) as well as for stationary energy storage solutions for balancing fluctuations in electricity grids resulting from the integration of renewable energy sources with volatile supply<sup>1</sup>. Both EV and stationary storage solutions are important because they foster the transition from the usage of fossil energy carriers towards cleaner renewable energy sources. Furthermore, EV cause less local air pollution and noise emissions compared to conventional combustion engine vehicles resulting in better air quality especially in urban areas. Unfortunately, to this day, various technological and economic challenges impede a broad application of batteries for EV as well as for large scale energy storage and load leveling in electricity grids.

In 2010, the German government has set the goal of 1 million registered EV in Germany by 2020 (NPE 2010). This goal is motivated by the commitment to reduce carbon dioxide emissions of the transport sector as well as to establish Germany as a lead provider and market for electric mobility technologies. Until today, however, this goal seems far from reachable, even if hybrid electric vehicles (HEV) are included in the electric vehicle stock. Figure 1.1 shows provocatively the development of the stock of EV in Germany from 2006 until 2016 in reference to the goal of one million vehicles (without HEV). The plot is hardly visible in the figure since only 25,502 EV were registered in 2016 (January). Consequently, a strong growth in new registrations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In addition to EV and stationary storage, batteries are essential components for portable and mobile consumer electronics. The predicted market shares (based on revenue breakdown) of these three segments of LIB application in 2020 are 37.6% for grid and energy storage, 30% for automotive applications and 23.9% for consumer electronics. Other industrial applications account only for 8.5% (Frost and Sullivan 2014).

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_1



**Fig. 1.1** *Top* Development of the stock of EV in Germany from 2006 to 2016 in reference with the goal of 1 million registered EV in Germany by 2020 (without HEV). *Bottom* Annual change in EV stock in percent (KBA 2015, 2016)

is required to approach the set goal. However, the figure further presents the annual development of the vehicle stock and it reveals that there is no consistent increase in new vehicle registrations.

The barriers of a successful and broad commercialization of EV are high vehicle costs, short driving ranges, and long charging times (Braess and Seiffert 2013). In this regard, battery systems are among the most important vehicle components (Hettesheimer et al. 2013). The production costs of battery systems<sup>2</sup> can account for up to 40% of the total production costs of a vehicle (Acatech 2010). This leads to much higher sales prices of EV compared to conventional vehicles. This aspect becomes even more relevant considering the relatively short life time of battery cells. Their capacity decreases with age and used cycles and consequently the battery system will likely have to be replaced during the life time of a vehicle. Furthermore, the driving range of an EV depends on the energy density<sup>3</sup> of the battery system. Since the size of a battery system is limited by the available space within a vehicle structure and weight restrictions, the achievable capacity only enables a relatively short driving range. In addition to these technological shortcomings, the production of battery systems entails high environmental impacts due to the used materials and required production processes. For example, Volkswagen states that the battery system can contribute to up to 45% of the production related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of a vehicle, whereas 36% can be allocated to the production of battery cells (Volkswagen AG 2012). Similar, Hawkins et al. mention the share of 35–41% for the battery production on the global warming potential (GWP) of the vehicle production phase (Hawkins et al. 2013). Overall, these numbers underline that battery systems are very important components of EV. The market success of EV depends on the improvement of the performance of battery systems and cells (i.e. energy and power density, cycling stability,<sup>4</sup> charging

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ According to Nykvist and Nilsson (2015), the production costs of battery cells for automotive OEM are currently around US\$ 300–400 per kWh; further decline is expected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Gravimetric (Wh/kg) and volumetric (Wh/l) energy density. Modern LIB have energy densities around 230 Wh/kg (Nishi 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The cycling stability is characterized by the number of charging and discharging cycles until the battery capacity degrades to 80% of the initial capacity (Dinger et al. 2010).

times, etc.) and a reduction of their production costs. Decreasing production costs will also foster the usage of batteries for stationary energy storage applications. This could in return increase the production volume supporting economies of scale. Furthermore, from an environmental perspective, it is important to reduce the negative environmental impacts related to cell production. If batteries harm the environment, they foil the intention behind EV and renewable energy sources which is to unburden the environment of the impacts from transportation and energy generation.

The German engineering association VDMA<sup>5</sup> published a road map for battery production technology and named four grand challenges (VDMA 2014). The first challenge is the scale up of processes from laboratory scales to series production with high volumes. It is necessary to achieve short throughput times although facing uncertain demands. Second, process stability has to be improved to increase the output by reducing the scrap rate. The third challenge is sustainability in battery production addressing the used materials in products and processes as well as energy and resource efficiency. The last challenge is the reduction of production costs while improving the product quality.

In addition, another challenge is the expected evolution in battery technology. Today, LIB are the most established batteries of which producers have the most experience and know-how regarding material combinations and large scale mass production. However, new material systems such as lithium-air and new battery types such as all solid state batteries are currently in development. Although these so-called next-generation batteries are still only available in laboratory scale and have not proven to be advantageous for large scale production, they will be relevant in the future. Toyota already presented a road map towards lithium-air batteries (Yada et al. 2015; Mizuno et al. 2014). Figure 1.2 shows a ragone plot of the energy and power densities of different battery types. Thus, it is expected that the required production technology and production steps will evolve together with new battery systems. Consequently, these future developments have to be considered in present improvements of battery production and in the evaluation of investments in production technology. Finding solutions to the described challenges is of great importance to producers of batteries and related production equipment.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Verband Deutscher Maschinen- und Anlagenbau e.V.

Today, the majority of battery cells is produced in Asia.<sup>6</sup> However, Tesla<sup>7</sup> is currently building a gigafactory for battery cells in the USA with an annual production capacity of 35 GWh. This capacity would be higher than the entire global production capacity for battery cells in 2013. Tesla's goal is to achieve a reduction in production costs of 40-45%. Companies from other countries – including Germany – produce only a small number of battery cells per year. In this situation, the challenges and drivers for improvements may be different for each battery producer. While the established market participants aim at improved battery performance and reduced production costs by optimizing their production systems and product designs, aspiring companies have to establish a competitive battery production facing high risks from uncertain demands and low but potentially increasing production volumes. Moreover, established producers have to find ways for integrating new battery technologies into existing production systems while new production facilities may account for future battery technologies already from the beginning. In general, it is important to tackle the described challenges of battery production by developing innovative production technologies and strategies along with product designs which enable a flexible scale up as well as an economic and environmental friendly production. Figure 1.3 summarizes the challenges and drivers for the improvement of battery production as well as the relevant goals.

The goals are strongly interlinked since the battery performance depends on product specifications, materials, and process characteristics (e.g. quality rate or process parameters), all of which also effect the production costs and environmental impacts related to production processes. For example, the specified power and energy of a battery have strong influence on production costs (Gallagher and Nelson 2014). As another example, the substitution of battery materials (e.g. active materials or solvents) may require different process parameters (e.g. mixing intensity or drying time) or equipment which can effect the energy demands of machines, the utilization of resources, and the output of product units per production time. That means that improvement measures regarding one goal may result in problem shifting causing negative effects regarding other goals. Consequently, it is important to find improvement measures which avoid problem shifting between different production system elements and the defined goals. However, the various and often dynamic relations



Fig. 1.3 Challenges, drivers, and goals of battery production

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>More specifically, the countries with the highest production volume are Japan (by far with 19,200 MWh; Panasonic and Samsung), Korea (LG) and China (BYD). This order is based on the expected market shares in 2017 (Roland Berger Strategy Consultants 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Tesla Motors, Inc.

within a battery production system (e.g. between machines, processes, materials, building infrastructure, material and information flows, etc.) result in complex system characteristics which are difficult to be completely understood intuitively by engineers. Thus, there is a need for methods and tools supporting an interdisciplinary system understanding which fosters innovations and an integrated evaluation of improvement measures regarding all goals. Such methods and tools must address the following fields of action:

- Identification and reduction of inefficiencies and non-value adding activities within the production system
- Identification of energetic hot spots and reduction of energy demands of processes and auxiliary equipment
- Identification and analysis of influences from production processes on product characteristics along the process chain, and vice versa
- Derivation and evaluation of product specifications and production strategies aiming at defined improvement targets (such as "high performance battery", "environmental friendly battery", or "budget battery")

However, no methods and tools for the integrated evaluation of measures are already established or available for application. So far, only specific approaches have been developed addressing either the technological, economic, or environmental evaluation of batteries, battery components, or production systems. The technical performance of batteries is often analyzed with simulations on electrode, cell, module, or system level. Physical models are used to determine performance indicators for specific cells or batteries. Economic aspects and in particular the production costs of batteries are addressed in various studies and cost models. The environmental impacts of batteries are analyzed in several life cycle assessment (LCA) studies. However, the published LCA studies from the last few years have shown different results for the energy consumption in cell production (Ellingsen et al. 2014). Studies of the energy demand strongly rely on rough estimations and assumptions. For example, some studies assume that factories operate at full capacity - which is often not the case - or refer to a lab-scale production system. This effects the results since energy demands depend on the used equipment and process parameters and vary over time along with the production output. Also, often specialized building equipment such as dry rooms are not included in the studies at all or not considering the actual output of products. Hence, it has not been possible to allocate the energy demands of peripheral production equipment on single product units (Dunn et al. 2014). Furthermore, static methods such as LCA or cost calculations have shortcomings regarding the consideration of dynamic effects. Since the challenges of battery production are especially caused by the dynamic behavior and interactions of different production system elements, static methods seam not suitable for an integrated evaluation. Instead, dynamics in production systems can be replicated and analyzed by simulation methods. In production engineering, discrete event simulations are in use for the evaluation of process chain performance and logistic related planning tasks but are not capable of simulating physical production process in detail. Detailed physical models, however, are usable for the simulation of continuous processes but not well suited for modeling of discrete activities on production system level. Other disciplines (e.g. material science or civil engineering) use hybrid or so-called multiscale simulation approaches to analyze and solve multidomain engineering problems. This concept was already applied to the simulation of production systems but mostly with a focus on energy management in factories without considering a detailed product perspective. In conclusion, no model based evaluation method exists for production systems which allows considering dynamic interactions between product specification, production processes, the production system operation, and factory infrastructure as well as between technological, economic and environmental objectives. However, according to Forrester (1994) – the initiator of the system dynamics approach – modeling and computer simulation help to gain insight into the dynamic behavior of complex systems. Modeling is part of an iterative learning process which results in an improved system understanding of the involved stakeholders (Sterman 2000).

What is strongly required for the improvement of battery production is a new modeling method for supporting the evaluation of improvement measures regarding technological, economic, and environmental objectives as well as for generating an interdisciplinary system understanding of battery production, as illustrated in Fig. 1.4.

The goal of this work is to develop such multiscale simulation method which contributes to the improvement of battery systems for EV and stationary energy storage solutions as well as their production systems. Such method must address different planning perspectives such as strategic, tactical and operational planning (different time scales) and consider all production system elements such as product units, processes, machines, technical building services (TBS) and the building (different spatial scales) and their dynamic interactions. For example, products are transformed by processes in machines, machines are organized in process chains, the operation of TBS depends on the activities within the process chain and the environmental conditions inside and outside of the factory building. For these reasons, there is a need for a hybrid multiscale simulation approach which allows to accurately imitate the production activity and to determine performance indicators of production systems and produced batteries or components for a later evaluation.

Beside addressing the described challenges, this desired planning method must enable the evaluation of future battery technologies. This creates the demand for a planning and evaluation method which is usable also for next-generation batteries which are not specified today.



Fig. 1.4 Motivation for a multiscale simulation of battery production

#### 1 Introduction

The developed concept shall be transformed into a functional model which serves the evaluation of the concept and the intended evaluation tasks. This book is structured into seven chapters of which the content is shortly described in the next paragraphs.

- Chapter 2 presents the relevant background information needed to create a multiscale simulation of battery production systems. This includes knowledge about the structure of battery systems, production systems and management, as well as the simulation methodology with current trends, strategies, and approaches for the development of simulation applications for production systems. The chapter concludes with a summary of relevant aspects of battery production which have to be considered in a simulation concept.
- **Chapter 3** presents the state of research regarding multiscale simulation approaches for production systems. The chapter evaluates existing research contributions and derives research demands towards a multiscale simulation of battery production systems. It reveals that although different simulation approaches and methods as well as various specialized simulation models (e.g. for machines, HVAC systems, buildings) exist, no approach was found providing the required functionality to combine simulation results from product and process scale up to the building.
- **Chapter 4** presents the development of the multiscale simulation concept for battery production systems. In particular, it describes the objectives and requirements for the simulation concept, a framework as a pattern for model interactions, the content and logic of models for required production system elements and the coupling of different models. The core of the concept is a process chain model which allows to model products and machines as agents sharing information about their characteristics and states. Furthermore, an application procedure is described which supports developers of such multiscale simulation models in selecting and modeling production system elements, and in using the resulting simulation environment.
- **Chapter 5** presents the implementation of a multiscale core model which acts as a coordinator for detailed models. This model enables the evaluation of the functionality of the proposed simulation concept. It provides all models, parameters and variables which are required to demonstrate the simulation of any kind of production system configuration for battery production. Moreover, for the purpose of demonstration and for the verification of the model coupling, a detailed model of a compressed air generation system was developed and connected to the core model via a middleware software. Furthermore, the section explains the verification of the core model with its integrated sub-models, the detailed compressed air model and an analysis of the effects of the model coupling on simulation results.
- **Chapter 6** demonstrates the application of the simulation concept by creating two exemplary multiscale simulations for cell production and system assem-

bly. The first case study investigated the cell production at the Battery LabFactory Braunschweig which is a laboratory scale production facility. The second case is the assembly of different types of battery systems on one assembly system. Both case studies demonstrate the application of a multiscale simulation.

Chapter 7 summarizes the results of this work, presents a critical review of the concept, and gives recommendations for further research activities.

Figure 1.5 illustrates the structure of this book.



Fig. 1.5 Outline of the book

## References

Acatech. Wie Deutschland zum Leitanbieter für Elektromobilität werden kann, 2010.

- H.-H. Braess and U. Seiffert, editors. *Vieweg Handbuch Kraftfahrzeugtechnik*. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, Wiesbaden, 2013. ISBN 978-3-658-01690-6. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-01691-3.
- A. Dinger, R. Martin, X. Mosquet, M. Rabl, D. Rizoulis, M. Russo, and G. Sticher. Batteries for Electric Cars, 2010. URL http://www.bcg.com/documents/file36615.pdf.
- J. B. Dunn, L. Gaines, J. C. Kelly, C. James, and K. G. Gallagher. The significance of Li-ion batteries in electric vehicle life-cycle energy and emissions and recycling's role in its reduction. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 8:158–168, 2014. ISSN 1754-5692. doi:10.1039/C4EE03029J.
- L. A.-W. Ellingsen, G. Majeau-Bettez, B. Singh, A. K. Srivastava, L. O. Valøen, and A. H. Strømman. Life Cycle Assessment of a Lithium-Ion Battery Vehicle Pack. *J. Ind. Ecol.*, 18(1):113–124, 2014. ISSN 10881980. doi:10.1111/jiec.12072.
- J. W. Forrester. Learning through System Dynamics as Preparation for the 21st Century, 1994.
- Frost & Sullivan. 2020 Vision: Global Lithium-ion Battery Market (cited from statista.com: Projected split of the global lithium-ion battery market in 2020, by segment), 2014. URL http://www. statista.com/statistics/309579/lithium-ion-battery-market-estimation/.
- K. G. Gallagher and P. A. Nelson. Manufacturing Costs of Batteries for Electric Vehicles. In G. Pistoia, editor, *Lithium-Ion Batter*, pages 97–126. Elsevier, 2014. ISBN 9780444595133. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-59513-3.00006-6.
- T. R. Hawkins, B. Singh, G. Majeau-Bettez, and A. H. Strømman. Comparative Environmental Life Cycle Assessment of Conventional and Electric Vehicles. J. Ind. Ecol., 17(1):53–64, Feb 2013. doi:10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00532.x.
- T. Hettesheimer, T. Hummen, F. Marscheider-Weidemann, M. Schröter, C. Lerch, M. Stahlberger, and A. Heussler. Energiespeicher Monitoring für die Elektromobilität (EMOTOR) - Bericht zur Produktion und Ökobilanzierung. Technical report, Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI, 2013.
- KBA. Bestand an Pkw in den Jahren 2006 bis 2015 nach ausgewählten Kraftstoffarten (web page, accessed 2016-03-28), 2015. URL http://www.kba.de/DE/Statistik/Fahrzeuge/Bestand/Umwelt/ b\_umwelt\_z.html.
- KBA. Jahresbilanz des Fahrzeugbestandes am 1. Januar 2016 (web page, accessed 2016-03-28), 2016. URL http://www.kba.de/DE/Statistik/Fahrzeuge/Bestand/b\_jahresbilanz.html?nn=644526.
- F. Mizuno, C. Yada, and H. Iba. Solid-State Lithium-Ion Batteries for Electric Vehicles. In *Lithium-Ion Batter*, pages 273–291. Elsevier, 2014. doi: .
- Y. Nishi. Past, Present and Future of Lithium-Ion Batteries. In *Lithium-Ion Batter.*, pages 21–39. Elsevier, 2014. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-59513-3.00002-9.
- NPE. Zwischenbericht der Nationalen Plattform Elektromobilität. Technical report, Gemeinsame Geschäftsstelle Elektromobilität der Bundesregierung (GGEMO), Berlin, 2010. URL http://www.bmwi.de/Dateien/BMWi/PDF/elektromobilitaet-bericht,property=pdf,bereich=bmwi, sprache=de,rwb=true.pdf.
- B. Nykvist and M. Nilsson. Rapidly falling costs of battery packs for electric vehicles. *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, 5(4):329–332, 2015. ISSN 1758-678X. doi:10.1038/nclimate2564.
- Roland Berger Strategy Consultants. Index Elektromobilität 1. Quartal 2015. Technical report, Roland Berger Strategy Consultants Automotive Competence Center & Forschungsgesellschaft Kraftfahrwesen mbH Aachen, 2015.
- J. D. Sterman. *Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World*. Mcgraw-Hill Education Ltd, 2000.
- VDMA. Roadmap Batterie-Produktionsmittel 2030, 2014.
- Volkswagen AG. Die e-Mission. Elektromobilität und Umwelt, 2012.
- C. Yada, C. E. Lee, D. Laughman, L. Hannah, H. Iba, and B. E. Hayden. A High-Throughput Approach Developing Lithium-Niobium-Tantalum Oxides as Electrolyte/Cathode Interlayers for High-Voltage All-Solid-State Lithium Batteries. J. Electrochem. Soc., 162(4):A722–A726, 2015. doi:10.1149/2.0661504jes.

## Chapter 2 Battery Production and Simulation

This chapter introduces relevant background information about the production of battery components and the assembly of battery systems (Sect. 2.1) as well as about how simulation can be used to imitate the behavior of production systems (Sect. 2.2).

## 2.1 Battery Production

A sound understanding of the production of batteries requires background information about the structure and components of batteries (Sect. 2.1.1), general knowledge about production systems and production management (Sect. 2.1.2), as well as a description of specific characteristics and requirements of the production of batteries and their components (Sect. 2.1.3).

## 2.1.1 Batteries and Battery Components

As stated in the introduction, until today, the most relevant battery type for large applications is the LIB. LIB systems are commonly used for EV, stationary storage units and consumer electronics. Although new battery types and materials combinations are in development in order to improve the performance of batteries, LIB are expected to stay highly relevant (Kampker 2014). For this reason, the remainder of this section will focus on LIB.

Principle of Lithium-ion Battery Cells

LIB are chemical energy storage systems which transform the stored energy into electricity at electrodes. A basic LIB cell consists of a negative (anode) and a positive (cathode) electrode which are separated by an isolating separator and surrounded by an electrolyte. During discharging, lithium ions move from the anode through the separator to the cathode and bind to active material particles. Simultaneously,

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_2





released electrons are conducted through an external circuit from the anode to the cathode. During charging, the direction of the movement of electrons and lithium ions is reversed by a connected power supply. Figure 2.1 illustrates these reactions and the structure of a LIB cell.

Electrodes consist of metallic current collector foils which are coated with active material. The collectors of anodes are usually made of copper while cathode collectors are made of aluminum. Different active materials can be used for anodes and cathodes. These materials are characterized regarding energy density, life time, safety, costs and environmental impacts. It is important to identify material combinations which result in the desired technical properties and cause relatively low costs and environmental impacts. Moreover, different materials require different processes or process parameters, which may also effect costs and environmental impacts.

According to Kaiser et al. (2014), it is important that active materials and pores of active materials are completely wetted and filled with electrolyte so that ions can be released, transported and bound to all active material particles. This avoids local current peaks. Furthermore, it is necessary to contact and bind the active material particles with each other and the current collector to ensure electron transport from and to each particle. The coating layer thickness and active material loading must be uniform to avoid cell failures due to inhomogeneities. Similar rules are stated by Pettinger (2013).

Cells can be designed to provide high energy or high power (Kampker 2014). High energy cells are characterized by high specific energy and low specific power and they usually have thick electrodes with a high density. High power cells are characterized by high specific power and low specific energy and have thin and porous electrodes. While the power of a cell is influenced by the contact area of electrodes, the energy



content depends on the amount of active materials within one cell (Väyrynen and Salminen 2012).

In addition, cell types can be differentiated regarding their form and housing. The most common types are cylindrical or prismatic hard-case or prismatic pouch cells (Wöhrle 2013; Fleischer et al. 2012). Cylindrical cells usually have a metallic hard-case and an electrode-separator assembly in form of a cylindrical winding (also called jelly roll). Prismatic cells also have a hard-case but with a prismatic flat-winding or a prismatic electrode-separator stack. Pouch cells – also called coffee bag cells – consist of prismatic stacks or windings surrounded by laminated aluminum foil which fixates the bundle of electrodes and separators. Figure 2.2 illustrates cross-sections of the types of electrode-separator package and cell housing.

Kampker (2014) and Pettinger (2013) present the advantages and challenges of the different cell types. Pouch cells can have high specific energy and good cooling characteristics, low weight, and allow a high packing density. Challenges in the development and production of pouch cells exist regarding leak tightness, stacking of electrode sheets, internal pressure, mechanical stability, and production costs. Cylindrical cells can have high specific energy, are relatively easy to produce by winding processes and provide good mechanical integrity, have a high degree of tightness and a high life expectancy. However, their form bears the risk of high temperatures (which requires external cooling), results in a low achievable packing density, and requires additional mounting devices in cell modules. Prismatic cells have a leak tight housing with high mechanical stability and enable an efficient space utilization and easy assembly in cell modules.

In summary, battery cells consist of different components and their characteristics are influenced by the selection of materials (for active materials, collector foil, separator, electrolyte), design parameter (e.g. coating thickness), geometry and housing (e.g. prismatic or cylindrical, soft or hard case), and required production processes (e.g. winding or stacking and related cutting processes). The design of a battery cell has to account for the specific intended use-case and technological, economic and environmental objectives.



Fig. 2.3 Illustration of an exemplary battery system structure

Structure and Components of Battery Systems

Batteries usually consist of multiple battery cells which are – depending on the intended purpose – connected in serial or parallel which results in higher capacity or voltage compared to single cells (Köhler 2013). Larger battery systems commonly have a modular structure in which several battery cells are combined within modules and several modules are installed in a mechanical structure together with sensors (for monitoring the charge, voltage, and temperature), a battery management system (BMS), a communication interface, a cooling system, and power electronics (Väyrynen and Salminen 2012; Kampker et al. 2013; Warner 2014). Figure 2.3 illustrates a schematic of the structure and components of an exemplary battery system.

Battery modules should consist of cells having matching capacities according to defined tolerated capacity limits. This is important since the capacity of a module is limited by the cell with the lowest capacity (Kenney et al. 2012; Kampker 2014). This is caused by the BMS which will stop charging of a module as soon as the first cell is completely charged. Consequently, all other cells will not receive a full charge (Warner 2014). Moreover, modules should be designed around stackable frames which create a rigid structure and enable a variable length of modules (Väyrynen and Salminen 2012). Furthermore, the design of modules has to consider the used cell type (Fleischer et al. 2012). Pouch cells are flexible to some extend and not as rigid as hard case cells. For this reason, they have to be fixated within the module structure. Additionally, internal pressures may result in bloating of cells so enough space has to be provided in order to avoid mechanical stress. Prismatic cells can be arranged in a more compact manner since the cells are more rigid, require no special fixation and do not tend to expand much during operation. Cylindrical cells are directly fitted to a module chasing. Due to their round form, it is important to position the cells very closely to not waste available space. This is possible since cylindrical cells are rigid and do not expand.

In summary, cells are assembled into modules which must be designed according to the cell type and the desired capacity, current, and voltage. Battery systems consist of various modules and components and can be of different size and shape depending on the intended use-case and the used cell type.

## 2.1.2 Production Systems and Production Management

The production of battery cells and the assembly of battery modules or systems take place in production systems. The detailed analysis of the production of batteries and battery components requires a general understanding of the typology and management of production systems.

#### Processes and Process Chains

The actual production is characterized by a physical transformation process which combines input factors into outputs. Inputs to processes are resources and equipment, materials, energy, labor and information which are transformed into desired (e.g. electrodes) and undesired (e.g. waste, emissions) products (Schenk et al. 2014; Dyckhoff and Spengler 2010). Figure 2.4 drafts a production processes with related inputs and outputs.

Complex products – such as batteries – are usually produced by several processes. Such sequences of processes are often referred to as process chains which consist of multiple processes connected through material flows. Process chains can be of different structure referring to the type of material flow which can be classified as continuous, converging, diverging, or rearranging (Dyckhoff and Spengler 2010). Figure 2.5 presents the different types of process chain structures based on the material flow.

In addition, the production activity can further be differentiated regarding type and principle. The production type is determined by the product quantities. In this regard, it is differentiated between the single production of individual products, the repeated series production of a small quantity of a product type or of batches of a defined larger quantity of a product type, as well as the (open end) mass production of a large quantity of product units (Westkämper and Zahn 2009; Dyckhoff and Spengler 2010; Schuh 2006). In contrast to unit processes, which result in one or multiple discrete



Fig. 2.4 Production as physical transformation process according to Dyckhoff and Spengler (2010) and Schenk et al. (2014)



Fig. 2.5 Types of material flows according to Dyckhoff and Spengler (2010)

product units, processes can also be continuous, resulting in batches or a specific amount of product per time period (e.g. Schuh 2006). The production principle can be differentiated regarding the spatial alignment of the processes. In a workshop production, machines for similar operations or processes are grouped together in one area. Products or work pieces have to move to the required workshops. In order to reduce the material flow, machines can also be grouped as cells in one area based on the process requirements of specific product types. Alternatively, machines can be arranged linearly according to their position in a required process sequence. The material flow can be realized for example by transfer lines which create a continuous flow based on a defined tact time or an asynchronous flow. Flexible production systems combine the advantages of the cell arrangement with an automated processing and material flow. These principles and types of production are usually applied in suitable combinations. For example, while workshop or cell configurations are suitable for the production of individual products or small batches of various product types, continuous line configurations are suitable for mass production. Flexible production systems are used for mass production or series production of several product types.

## Elements and Hierarchy of Production Systems

Processes and process chains require peripheral processes and equipment, energy and media supply, infrastructure for transport and quality control, worker for operations of machines and material handling, as well as a surrounding workshop space in a factory (Westkämper 2006). Thus, in a greater context, process chains are embedded in production systems. A system in general consists of different entities interacting with each other to fulfill the systems purpose (Westkämper and Zahn 2009). This is also the case for production systems, where system entities (e.g. machines) interact to create products. The elements of factories can be grouped into production equipment, technical building services (TBS), and the building whereas the production equipment can be further linked to single processes or process chains (Thiede 2012). Figure 2.6 shows the structure of these elements which is proposed by Thiede (2012). These elements are connected through flows of material, media, energy, and information which – similar to the actual processes – have to be controlled in order to react on induced changes in the production system (Westkämper and Zahn 2009). For this reason, Westkämper and Zahn suggest a hierarchical structure of production systems which enables defined interfaces between different system elements and a hierarchical target system. Literature provides various concepts for defining the hierarchy of production systems (Wiendahl et al. 2007; Liang and Yao 2008; Verl et al. 2011; Benkamoun et al. 2014; Heinemann et al. 2012; Schenk et al. 2014; Herrmann et al. 2010; Nyhuis and Wiendahl 2010). For example, Wiendahl et al. structure the hierarchy into plant, production area, production system, manufacturing cell, and workstation. According to Westkämper and Zahn (2009), production networks include different factories with production segments, where specific process chains consist of machines or aggregated production cells. Heinemann et al. (2012) differentiate between four levels: factory, material flow (process chain), single process and machines. Similar hierarchies are presented in Herrmann et al. (2010) and

#### 2.1 Battery Production





Verl et al. (2011) additionally including the supply chain or global production system as the highest level above the factory level. Schenk et al. (2014) present a hierarchy of sub-systems of a production system based on peripheral orders. Another kind of hierarchy is developed by Nylund and Andersson (2010) by introducing the terms macro, meso, and micro level to production systems. The macro level refers to the behavior of the whole factory including all production stages, material and information flows, layout design and the systems overall performance. The meso level refers to individual production stages consisting of areas with multiple units and their interactions. The micro level refers to units such as machines, tools, methods and work pieces. The authors describe the interactions between the levels as services such as requests and delivery of relevant information. Their concept appears to be the only one directly considering product units with their specific features. Other hierarchy concepts do not specifically include the product level. However, the consideration of products is important in order to describe and investigate product specific routing or material flow as well as the effects of processes on product characteristics. Wuest et al. (2013) developed a more detailed structure of the product level and the interaction between product characteristics with processes. In summary, the examined publications suggest very similar structures for the hierarchy of production systems - although in some cases using different terms - which can also be used to structure the elements of battery production.

### Production Management

Industrial production systems must be continuously adapted to short and long term changes in production technology, market, politics and legislation, and society (Dyckhoff and Spengler 2010). The purpose of production management is the design, planning and control, as well as monitoring of the production activity (Schuh and Schmidt 2014). The planning aims at the design of the production system and each individual system element while the control regulates the execution of production activities according to the order management. The production management acts as



the controller in a control loop containing the production system as the controlled system. The control variables are decisions regarding required actions and measures. These decisions can consider strategic, tactic, and operational perspectives. The strategic production management aims at adapting the production system to the requirements of the surrounding environment based on normative and strategic reference goals (e.g. cost or sales objectives). Examples of strategic decisions are initialization of new product development activities and the selection of new facility locations. The tactical production management is responsible for the realization of the strategic decisions. Examples are the utilization of new production technologies or the rearrangement of a factory layout. The purpose of the operational production management is to ensure the production of the requested quantity of products in the desired quality in the available time. Decisions regarding all perspectives have to consider feedback from the production system which is acquired based on defined performance indicators. Examples of feedback variables from the production system are the utilization, production costs, throughput times, and order fulfillment. Figure 2.7 illustrates an abstract control loop with the production system and production management.

More detailed descriptions about production management can be found for example in Schuh and Schmidt (2014), Herrmann (2010), Nyhuis and Wiendahl (2010) and Westkämper (2006).

## 2.1.3 Production of Battery Cells and Systems

The information about production systems and production management can be used to further investigate the production of LIB electrodes, cells, modules, and systems.

Production of Electrodes and Cells

The production of a LIB cell can be structured into the three stages electrode production, cell assembly, and electrical formation. The major value is added within the cell production stage. However, this stage also requires the highest investment (Roland Berger Strategy Consultants 2010).

#### 2.1 Battery Production

The production of battery cells requires many processes in a sequential order. The configuration of process chains for battery cells depends on the cell type, electrode materials, used processes and production technology, as well as on producers specific decisions. There are strong interrelation between different processes and process parameters (Kaiser et al. 2014; Kampker 2014; Gallagher and Nelson 2014; Pettinger 2013; Brodd and Helou 2013). For example, raw materials may be prepared within an intensive dry mixing processes prior to wet mixing (dispersion). As another example, the coating may be continuously or intermittently which also effects the separation process. The separation process further depends on the form of the electrode-separator assembly. Windings require a continuous electrode foil while prismatic stacks need separated electrode sheets. These examples show, that process chains for cells can be rather different and that it is not possible to define a generic reference process chain. However, Fig. 2.8 presents an attempt of a generalized process sequence for cell production based on information from various publications. First, the anode and cathode are produced by mixing, coating of the resulting slurry onto the current collector foil and successive drying, calendering of the coated foil, separation to required width or the final electrode format, and drying of the finished electrodes. Second, electrodes are used as the basis for the assembly of cells.

Material preparation and mixing The different materials for electrodes such as active materials, carbon black, binder (usually polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF)) and solvents (e.g. N-methylpyrrolidone (NMP)) are weighted, combined, and mixed in different processing steps. In the mixing processes, first active materials and additives such as carbon black are mixed (Wieser et al. 2015). Next, the prepared materials are mixed with further additives such as a binder and a solvent. The solvent is used to adjust the viscosity of the slurry (Tran et al. 2012; Li et al. 2011a). The desired result of the mixing processes is a viscous slurry which will be coated onto the current collector foil. The material composition of the slurry is different for anodes and cathodes as well as for different cell chemistry systems. Different formulations for the compositions of material types are possible for anodes and cathodes of which an overview (of cathode formulations) is presented by Li et al. (2011a). Different mixing intensities, types of mixing tools, and temperatures can be used to adjust the slurry according to the desired properties such as homogeneity or viscosity (Kampker et al. 2013). The properties of a slurry



Fig. 2.8 Process chain of lithium-ion battery cells for stacking or folding cell assembly

do not only directly influence the characteristics of the final cell but also the further processing of the slurry in the subsequent process steps (Kaiser et al. 2014).

**Coating and drying** The slurry is coated onto a current collector foil either on one or both sides. This process significantly affects the product quality. A uniform transmission of the slurry and a defined mass load are required along the length and width of the coating layer (WZL und VMDA 2012b). Different coating methods can be used for applying the slurry onto the foil such as slot-die, comma or roll coating whereas the slot-die coating is the most used method (Schmitt et al. 2013; Kampker et al. 2013). The coating layer can be either continuous or intermittent and it is possible to coat both sides of a foil simultaneously or subsequently. The coating layer must be created with high precision regarding layer thickness and the weight per area unit.

Directly after coating, the layer must be immobilized and solidified via evaporation of the solvent in the following drying process. Different types of dryers can be used and the temperature profile within a dryer has influence on the adhesion of the coating layer to the foils and on the binder distribution across the layer crosssection. Undesired effects caused by wrong process parameters are the detachment of active material particles from the foil which may result in reduced battery performance and higher risk of failures. From an economic perspective it is of interest to reduce the required drying time and increase the throughput, since the process has a high energy demand and long dryers require high investment. Further details about coating and drying can be found in Kaiser et al. (2014).

- **Calendering** The resulting coating layers are usually porous. For this reason, calendering can be used to compact the layer, reduce the pore volumes, and increase the density. In a calender, several rolls are used to gradually reduce the thickness of an electrode (WZL und VMDA 2012b; Kampker et al. 2013). This improves the contact between particles and the foil. Relevant process and machine parameters are compression rate, line force, roller speed, and roll diameters (Haselrieder et al. 2013). Tolerances in coating and calendering can only be accepted on micrometer scale. Larger deviations may result in accelerated aging of the battery cells. This is also the case if anodes or cathodes from upper and lower tolerance limits are combined within a cell (Kaiser et al. 2014).
- **Separation and drying** Depending on the kind of cell packaging, the compressed electrodes have to be separated. The created electrode coils are usually cut to width in a continuous slitting process using rotary knifes or lasers (Pettinger 2013; Luetke et al. 2011). The cutting lines must be straight, clean, and precise. The accepted tolerances are small since electrode sheets within one cell must be of equal size. If cells are created by stacking or z-folding, single electrode sheets have to be cut out of the electrode stripes or coils by die cutting or laser cutting (WZL und VMDA 2012b; Baumeister and Fleischer 2014). The separated electrode sheets or coils are dried to eliminate any water content from the coating layer. The following cell assembly is located within a dry room to avoid new water input after drying (Kaiser et al. 2014).

#### 2.1 Battery Production

The assembly of battery cells depends on the type of cells to be produced. Especially packaging and housing are influenced by the form of the electrode-separator assembly and the housing.

- **Package assembly** The cell assembly starts with the packaging in which anodes, cathodes, and separator are combined to wrapped packages. The design of the packing process depends on the cell type. Electrode stacks can be created by a stacking or z-folding process. In a stacking process, separate anode, cathode and separator sheets are placed above each other in the order separator, anode, separator, cathode. The stack is completed by sheets of separator, anode, and separator. In a z-folding process, single electrode sheets are placed alternating with a continuously supplied separator (Schmitt et al. 2014; WZL und VMDA 2012b). Cylindrical and prismatic windings are created by a winding process. As in stacking, the order of layers is cathode, separator, anode, separator. Relevant process parameters are tension, positioning accuracy, and angular velocity of the strips and the radius of the windings. The resulting electrode-separator package is wrapped and fixated (Kampker et al. 2013; Baumeister and Fleischer 2014).
- **Contacting, housing, and filling with electrolyte** The tabs of the electrodes of a created package must be contacted. Usually, ultra sonic spot welding or laser welding is used to create the connections (Kampker et al. 2013). Next, the package is placed within the cell housing which is closed and sealed. The cell is filled with a liquid electrolyte. The electrolyte must penetrate into the porous separator and electrode layers. This process is time consuming since the air inside the cell structure can escape only slowly. For this reason, the cells are usually filled and finally sealed under vacuum conditions (Schmitt et al. 2015).
- **Forming and aging** The forming process the first charging of a cell activates the active materials and initiates the forming of a solid electrolyte interphase (SEI) on the anode (Yoshio et al. 2009). After the first charge, further charging and discharging cycles can be used to age the cells and to identify cells with reduced performance. Processes parameters are amperage, temperature differences, and pause lengths. The forming and aging processes are among the most energy intensive processes in cell production. Moreover, forming and especially the subsequent aging step are very time consuming. At the end of forming and aging, cells are checked and tested regarding their performance and self-discharge (Hettesheimer et al. 2013).

#### Assembly of Modules and Systems

The assembly of modules and systems strongly depends on the specific product variant. For example, the cell type, the number of cells per module or modules per system, as well as the design of the housings determine the required production steps. However, an exemplary assembly structure can be characterized based on the descriptions of WZL und VMDA (2012a,b), Kampker et al. (2013), and Fleischer et al. (2012), as shown in Fig. 2.9.



Fig. 2.9 Process chain of battery module and system assembly

At first, the cells are inspected and cells with similar characteristics are clustered. Cells with undesired characteristics are sorted out. Next, several selected cells are pre-assembled on a base plate using fixtures or frames (Väyrynen and Salminen 2012). The cell tabs are contacted according to the desired type of interconnection (serial or parallel). Afterwards, a cell supervision circuit board is installed along with sensors for temperature and state of charge (SOC). The sensors must be wired and connected to the circuit boards. The installed sensors and the circuit board are checked for correct functioning by connecting the module to a power source. In addition, a thermal imaging camera can be used to monitor the welds (WZL und VMDA 2012a). After testing, cooling plates are mounted to the assembly which is inserted into a housing. The final assembly is tested regarding functioning and performance (voltage test) and leak tightness of the cooling system (pressure test). After a visual inspection, a module is completed.

Several modules are used to assemble a battery system. In the first production step of system assembly, selected modules are inserted and mounted into a battery pack base plate. Furthermore, installed are a cooling system, a BMS, and a high-voltage module, as well as the required cables and wires. Next, the BMS is flashed with software for battery management and diagnosis. The latter software is used within a test to analyze the battery operation. Also, an initial charging creates an uniform SOC for all cells. Afterwards, the housing is closed, sealed, and tested regarding leak tightness.

#### Ambient Conditions for Battery Production

Battery factories must fulfill the high requirements regarding safety and product quality while aiming at low production costs. The production of cells has specific requirements regarding ambient indoor conditions and cleanness in building zones since temperature, humidity, and cleanness have significant impact on product quality, safety, performance, and life time of the battery cells (Simon 2013). Simon provides detailed information about the required environmental conditions for the different productions steps in cell production and system assembly. As an example, the cell assembly (and especially the filling with electrolyte) requires low humidity with a dew point temperature up to -60 °C corresponding to a relative humidity below 1% in the temperature range of  $22 \pm 2$  °C. Consequently, the building construction and building services (e.g. cooling towers, ventilation units, dehumidifiers, heating and cooling) play an important role in the planning and operation of factories
#### 2.1 Battery Production

and they contribute to a great share of investment and energy demands. Furthermore, battery factories need the supply of media which are directly required by processes such as water for the production of coating materials, process exhaust air, cooling water and compressed air (Simon 2013). Another relevant aspect mentioned by Simon is the high waste heat from the drying process of the coated electrodes which could be re-used by heat-recovery processes.

### Production Costs of Batteries

As mentioned in the introduction, the production costs of a battery system can contribute to up to 40% of an EV which makes them a significant cost driver. The total costs of a battery consist of the costs of raw materials, the process steps in production of electrodes and the assembly of cells, modules, and systems, as well as of other components such as sensors or electronics (Fleischer et al. 2012). During the last few years, several cost models have been developed for modern battery cells and systems (Schünemann 2015; Nelson et al. 2012, 2015; Petri 2015; Petri et al. 2015; Patry et al. 2015; Gallagher and Nelson 2014).

The Battery Performance and Cost Model (BatPaC) was developed at the Argonne National Laboratory (Gallagher and Nelson 2014; Nelson et al. 2012). It supports the design of battery systems. The production steps are separately documented which allows modifications in the cost calculations. Furthermore, the model considers a base plant scenario which can be scaled to represent different output. The impact of flexibility in plants was further studied in Nelson et al. (2015). However, the BatPaC model neglects energy costs and differences between production technologies. Based on the cell design module of the BatPaC, Patry et al. (2015) developed a cost model for cells which breaks costs down into purchase costs, processing costs, overhead costs and other fees. The processing costs are determine based on factors and battery characteristics such as electrode thickness. However, the process cost factors are not explained in detail. Schünemann (2015) provided a more detailed discussion of different existing cost models and developed an own integrated cost model for the production of LIB cells. This model is based on a process chain analysis considering detailed process characteristics and using average values for energy consumption, processing times and material fractions per cell. However, dynamic interactions are not considered within the process chain or the factory level and the model assumes a constant output of cells for the allocation of indirect costs. His results show that a large cost share is already caused in the mixing process due to high material costs. This underlines the importance of eliminating scrap in the following processes.

In summary, the presented models show that battery costs are mostly influenced by the used materials. Differences and uncertainties exist regarding the actual processing costs (e.g. energy costs) and the effect of a higher factory output.

### Environmental Impacts of Battery Production

Several LCA studies directly or indirectly have analyzed the environmental impacts of battery production (Ellingsen et al. 2014; Dunn et al. 2014; Hawkins et al. 2013; Notter et al. 2010). Most of these studies evaluated batteries in the context of EV. The study of Hawkins et al. (2013) has shown that the production of vehicle batteries

contributed to 35–41% of the GWP of the entire vehicle production. Their results show a rather high impact of the battery compared to other studies (e.g. compared to Notter et al. 2010), which are found to be caused by different assumptions regarding the energy demands in battery production and different system boundaries. Dunn et al. state that the throughput of a factory has a strong influence on the energy intensity of battery production. This is explained by the high energy demands of energy intensive TBS equipment (e.g. dry rooms) of which the energy demand is independent of the produced quantity of batteries. If the output increases and the energy demand per product unit decreases, the raw material production has the largest influence on the environmental impacts (Dunn et al. 2014). Both of these factors can be influenced within product development and production. Ellingsen et al. recommended reducing the production energy demand or utilizing cleaner energy sources, enabling material recycling, and enhancing the life time of batteries (Ellingsen et al. 2014).

In conclusion, although these studies came to differing results regarding the exact environmental impact, all show that battery production has important influences on the environmental impact of EV. Uncertainties exist mostly regarding the energy requirements of battery production, the throughput of battery factories, and the life time of batteries.

### 2.2 Simulation of Production Systems

This section describes the role of simulation in the context of the digital factory (Sect. 2.2.1), gives background information about different simulation approaches (Sect. 2.2.2), and about how they are applied in the context of production systems (Sect. 2.2.3). The section explains that the simulation of an entire production system demands a multiscale simulation approach (Sect. 2.2.4) and how co-simulation can support the collaborative development of comprehensive simulation models (Sect. 2.2.5).

### 2.2.1 Digital Factory

The term digital factory<sup>1</sup> refers to a network of digital methods and tools supporting the planning, realization, and improvement of factories including the related processes and products (Westkämper et al. 2013; Bullinger et al. 2009; VDI 2008). Moreover, the term refers to the totality of employees, software, and workflows required to realize the virtual and real world production. Consequently, digital factory is more than just a collection of methods and tools. It is also a set of organizational measures aiming at creating a better understanding of the operation of factories. The main purpose of the digital factory is the predictive, visual and simulative imitation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In German: Digitale Fabrik.

of the production of future products. With this function, it acts as a link between product development and production management (Bracht et al. 2011). Moreover, the digital factory aims at improving communication and collaboration between the stakeholders in planning by providing a redundancy-free, consistent data and knowledge base (Landherr et al. 2013). This leads to the goal to establish standardized tools and models which can be re-used within different planning steps such as the planning of factory buildings and TBS equipment, shop floor layout, production processes, logistics and material flow, logistic oriented product development, and machine configuration (Bracht et al. 2011). There are different types of methods to support these different planning tasks. However, according to (Bracht et al. 2011), there is no established structure for methods and tools in the context of digital factory. He defines the following classes of methods: Methods for collecting data and information, methods for design and representation, mathematical methods for analysis and optimization, simulation methods, artificial intelligence methods, methods for visualization as well as for collaboration. In contrast to static methods for analysis and representation, simulation is a method for analyzing complex dynamic effects and interactions. It enables the replication of the time-dependent behavior of factories.

### 2.2.2 Simulation

Simulation is an established method for supporting planning tasks in industry and research. The main principle of simulation is the emulation of an existing or planned system and its behavior over time by using a approach (Banks et al. 2010). This enables gaining insights about the modeled systems behavior which is transferable to the real system (VDI 2014). A system can be defined to be a set of interacting entities. Interactions determine the effect of system inputs on the outputs as well as on states of the system. The entities and interactions have to be included in a formal model which can be executed during a simulation run. Experiments consisting of simulation runs usually support planning tasks or decisions in which different scenarios of system variants have to be evaluated and compared (März et al. 2011).

In general, modeling types can be grouped according to different characteristics (Banks et al. 2010). While discrete models describe the change of system state variables only at events at discrete points in time, continuous models describe system variables continuously over the simulation period. Models can also combine both characteristics and contain discrete and continuous objects within a hybrid model. Furthermore, models can be based on deterministic inputs and deliver repeatable results or contain random variables and determine their values during simulation runs based on random number generators. Moreover, models can be static or dynamic whereas static models describe the state of a system at a specific point in time, often considering stochastic effects (e.g. Monte Carlo experiments, in which models with random variables are repeatedly executed). Dynamic models describe the behavior of a system over time.

In addition to these characteristics, four main simulation approaches can be differentiated which are suitable for different levels of abstraction of the related models (Borshchev and Filippov 2004).

- **Discrete event (DE)** simulation uses passive entities which flow through a network of resources and trigger actions and variable changes. In DE models, states of the modeled system change at discrete points in time. This approach is usually used on tactical level with middle degree of abstraction.
- **Dynamic systems (DS)** simulation is based on mathematical models of dynamic systems which consist of state variables and algebraic equations. These models are commonly used for physical systems with continuous behavior. DS is used on operational micro level with low degree abstraction. Examples are Finite Element Method (FEM) or Computational Fluid Dynamics (CDF) approaches.
- **Agent based (AB)** simulation can be used to model the behavior of active agents in a defined environment. Each agent acts individually based on its implemented logic and interacts dynamically with other agents. The system behavior is determined in a decentralized manner without a global control.
- **System dynamics (SD)** models describe the behavior of a corresponding system with a set of differential equations representing interacting feedback loops and flows affecting stock variables. SD is usually used on strategic level with high degree of abstraction.

Figure 2.10 structures these approaches according to their level of abstraction and discrete or continuous behavior. Borshchev and Filippov further explain in detail how these approaches can be combined to model a desired system behavior.

An important challenge in model development is determining the required detail of models. Very detailed models contain many objects and cause effort in development and maintenance. Very simplified models bear the risk of being to coarse and not sufficiently accurate for the given planning task (Rose and März 2011). Moreover, Sterman (2000) suggests to avoid black box models which do not provide



Fig. 2.10 Simulation approaches on abstraction level scale from Borshchev and Filippov (2004)

enough insight into the system behavior of interest. Other challenges are related to the clear definition of the simulation study objectives, the participation of all involved stakeholder, and availability of required know-how and skills, selecting of a suitable simulation tool, as well as sufficient validation (Wenzel et al. 2008). In order to support model developers and simulation engineers, different but similar procedure models were published for model development and simulation studies (Banks et al. 2010; VDI 2014; Rabe et al. 2008). The differences between these procedure models are mainly related to the complexity, scope and terms of the individual steps. Content wise, all models contain the steps related to objective analysis, model formulation, implementation, verification and validation, and employment.

### 2.2.3 Simulation in Production

Simulation is widely used in planning, analysis, and improvement of factories and the elements of production systems (Negahban and Smith 2014; März et al. 2011; Jahangirian et al. 2010; Schuh 2006). Entire production systems or material flows in process chains are usually represented by models which simulate the dynamic behavior of a system using a DE approach (Bergmann 2014; Rose and März 2011). According to the results of Jahangirian et al. 2010, DE and AB simulations were often used for scheduling, resource allocation, assembly line balancing, capacity planning, transportation and inventory management. In addition to DE and AB, SD approaches were used for strategic decisions such as supply chain management, project management, and organizational design. Moreover, simulation of process chains including DS process models is also seen to be beneficial for the improvement of product quality (Afazov 2013; Barthel et al. 2013). Such approach may allow a detailed analysis of the influences of processes on product characteristics. DS simulations are also usable for the detailed micro analysis of the interaction between processes and machines (Brecher et al. 2009). However, Afazov states that although simulation is often used for a macro-scale analysis of process chains, the micro-scale analysis of processes is still a challenge.

Already in 2004, Fowler suggested a real-time factory simulation which runs simultaneously to the real factory operation and instantaneously provides results for short-term decision making (Fowler 2004). Today this idea is for example addressed in the context of the Industry 4.0 initiative which aims at creating intelligent factories by using cyber-physical systems (CPS) consisting of virtual and physical elements as well as digital technologies such as augmented reality and internet of things (Kagermann et al. 2013). Similarly, the digital twin approach aims at combining a real world system with a virtual duplicate. This approach allows to understand how a product is transformed during production and also to trace the characteristics of a product throughout its life cycle (Grieves 2014). However, so far the most simulation applications focus on individual structural levels such as an entire production system, a production cell, machines and equipment, or processes (Landherr et al. 2013). In order to simulate an entire factory, new simulation approaches have to pursue a multiscale simulation of production systems with its structures and processes.

### 2.2.4 Multiscale Simulation

Many problems in science and engineering show multiscale solutions considering different spatial and temporal scales of individual systems or processes. The concept of multiscale modeling and simulation is established in various domains and disciplines such as biology (Boras et al. 2015), material science or "computational materials" (Wieser et al. 2015; McDowell and Olson 2009; Gates et al. 2005), or computational science (Hoekstra et al. 2007). The idea behind multiscale modeling is describing the behavior of one or multiple systems by separately considering different scales using the best suited methods and tools. As an example from material science, Gates et al. start a bottom-up approach by modeling at an atomic scale and by using molecular mechanics or dynamics methods. Next, moving up in scales from micro to meso scales using micro-mechanics until the system scale which can be analyzed with fundamental mechanics (Gates et al. 2005). Problems can be solved at particular scales and results can be passed to models addressing other scales. Thus, multiscale modeling allows bridging of scales.

Similar to physical or chemical systems, production systems can be observed at different spatial scales from unit processes over process chains and TBS up to the building. In addition, Bullinger et al. (2009) suggest to consider different time scales in production system simulation such as seconds, minutes, and hours or up to several years. For this reason, multiscale modeling and simulation is seen as a key feature in order to realistically imitate the operation of production systems (Landherr et al. 2013). Figure 2.11 illustrates how a production system may extend the commonly observed scales in multiscale modeling in both the temporal and spatial direction.

Production systems itself consist of system elements acting on different scales. These elements have to be modeled within a multiscale simulation based on the presented simulation approaches. Figure 2.12 presents a structure of simulation models for different scales considering different degrees of abstraction, simulation approaches, and model characteristics.

One risk related to detailed multiscale simulations is the high expected effort and required know-how for model development. This has to be considered since modeling effort, the required skill set of simulation experts, as well as the missing re-usability are common barriers of simulation which impedes the broad application





Fig. 2.12 Structure of simulation models for different scales considering suitable simulation approaches; figure inspired by Borshchev and Filippov (2004) and Landherr et al. (2013)

for production engineering (Bergmann 2014). Another challenge is the selection of suitable software tools for each production system element. Different tools exist for different simulation approaches and model characteristics. Typical software tools for DE simulation are Tecnomatix Plant Simulation (part of Siemens PLM software) or Arena. An established SD simulation tool is Vensim. The tool AnyLogic allows to combine DE, AB, and SD simulation. Established tools for DS simulation are Matlab/Simulink, Abaqus, Adams, or Dymola (Modelica). Consequently, the realization of multiscale simulations requires the combined application of different software tools or the complete implementation of all models within a multimethod simulation software such as AnyLogic.

These challenges are partially addressed in the digital factory by providing interfaces and workflows to connect existing models and to enable the re-use of models. Furthermore, it is suggested to develop separate models of different factory elements and to create seamless interactions between these models and used tools in order to achieve a distributed simulation model of a production system (Bullinger et al. 2009; Fowler 2004).

### 2.2.5 Co-Simulation

During the last decade, a new simulation paradigm evolved aiming at the coupling of different simulation models. The goal of coupled simulation or so-called cosimulation is the integrated analysis of system elements and their interrelations by coupling of multiple simulation models or tools for systems and sub-systems (Sweafford and Yoon 2013; Brecher et al. 2009; Zülch et al. 2002; McLean 2005). A clear and standardized definition of the term co-simulation has not yet been established (Geimer et al. 2006). In co-simulation, each model represents a part of an entire system and exchanges data with other models during simulation runtime. Co-simulation is motivated by an increasing complexity of systems which requires an interdisciplinary collaboration of experts. Co-simulation allows to use the best suited simulation tools for each sub-system, to re-use models, to reduce the modeling time, and to represent a sub-system in greater details than it would be in a monolithic model (Sicklinger et al. 2014; McLean 2005). As a result, co-simulation may lead to a time-efficient execution of an entire system simulation and a high accuracy of simulation results (Aurich et al. 2009; McLean 2005). Examples of co-simulation applications are multi-physics problems (Sicklinger et al. 2014; Brecher et al. 2009; Errera et al. 2011), agent-based systems (Morvan et al. 2012), multi-level material analysis (Gates et al. 2005), building energy and control design (Zuo et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2013), and planning of production systems (Pedrielli et al. 2011; Zülch et al. 2002).

The data exchange between different models is a great challenge with respect to accuracy and stability of the transfer and the results. Different strategies for coupling and synchronization were developed and evaluated (Sicklinger et al. 2014; Sweafford and Yoon 2013). The coupling of models can be realized by direct connections between simulation tools or via centralized middleware software (e.g. based on principles of High-Level Architecture (HLA)) (McLean 2005; Raab et al. 2008; Kossel et al. 2006). The task of middleware software is the synchronization of data exchange and communication between different simulation programs. Wetter (2010) developed the open-source middleware interface Building Control Virtual Test Bed (BCVTB) for coupling different tools such as EnergyPlus, Dymola (Modelica), Matlab and Simulink in order to allow an integrated building energy simulation (Wetter 2010; Wetter et al. 2011). Common applications of the BCVTB are in the context of building energy and control system evaluation. A commercial middleware solution is TISC which consists of a TISC server and different TISC clients for implementation in the coupled simulation tools (Kossel et al. 2006).

In co-simulation, models can be executed in a serial, parallel, or integrated configuration (Sweafford and Yoon 2013; Leobner et al. 2011) or with fix or variable time steps for data exchange. Sweafford and Yoon have shown that the parallel and integrated model executions provide identical results while the results of serial simulations differ (from the parallel configuration) and are less accurate. Furthermore, a serial configuration of multiple models results in longer execution times, especially if models with long execution times are involved and other models have to wait for the results. However, parallel coupling of models also cause challenges such as the combination of discrete and continuous models (Leobner et al. 2011).

The simulation of complex production systems can benefit from the combination of different modeling types, simulation approaches, and software tools. Cosimulation with specialized models of different production system elements or scales can improve the simulation results also for the simulation of battery production. Moreover, the combination of specialized models to a comprehensive multiscale model requires the investigation of interactions and the definition of interfaces, which fosters a deeper understanding of the observed system.

# 2.3 Summary and Preliminary Findings for the Simulation of Battery Production

Battery systems consist of different components which relate to different production stages each of which has specific requirements in production. Cell production is characterized by sequential process chains with specialized processes. These processes require comprehensive machines and equipment which is expensive and have partially very high energy demands. These processes – along with the used materials – have strong influences on the product quality. In addition, cell production makes great demands on the environmental ambient conditions such as temperatures, humidity and cleanness which requires specific building equipment. Additional TBS are needed for compressed air generation and air suction. Due to the expensive and comprehensive facility infrastructure, machines, and equipment, it is important to achieve high utilization and throughput in order to decrease specific production costs and environmental impacts for each cell unit.

The assembly of modules or systems is characterized by handling and assembly tasks which are relatively less complex compared to cell production. Furthermore, the requirements for building environment conditions are not as high compared to cell production. However, the product variety is much higher compared to the variety of electrodes or cells.<sup>2</sup> Consequently, it is a challenge to achieve a high production system utilization and short throughput times while dealing with high product variety. This demands for a flexible production system.

Simulation of production systems or factories is - in general - used for the analysis and improvement of the production activity and to support product development and production management. It is suggested to consider multiple scales of production systems and to use the best suited simulation approach for each production system element. The simulation of battery production - in particular - shall consider the production of all production stages from electrodes to systems. It should enable the evaluation of the production performance based on various indicators which allow the identification of hot-spots for improvement regarding quality, costs and environmental impacts. In this regard, relevant are the utilization of machines and the entire system, the lead times of jobs, the output of finished product units per time period, the material demands per product unit, quality rates or scrap, as well as the energy demands of machines and TBS equipment. Since different materials and energy carriers have different impacts, the simulation has to differentiate material types and energy carriers (e.g. electricity or gas). Moreover, while material demands and energy demands of machines correlate with the output of final products, the energy demands of peripheral equipment and TBS are independent of the output. Thus, it is of interest to determine the energy demands per product unit in addition to the overall energy demand.

To determine these indicators, the simulation has to imitate discrete unit processes considering the influences of processes on product characteristics, machine

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ For example, modules and systems can be assembled by using different cell types, different quantities of cells, different housings, and with or without a cooling system.

behavior, as well as the related energy and materials demands. In addition, the material flow has to be simulated in order to determine the output and utilization of the production systems. The simulation must be able to imitate sequential process chains (cell production) as well as shop floor configurations allowing a flexible material flow (module and system assembly). Furthermore, the simulation must consider the influences of product variants on processes and the material flow.<sup>3</sup>

These relevant production system elements can be simulated by using different approaches. DE simulation is suitable for describing the material flow of product units between machines. An AB approach allows modeling of system elements as individual instances with specific properties and characteristics. This would enable to simulate the individual characteristics of product units and their development along a process chain. DS simulation approaches are suitable to imitate the behavior of dynamic systems such as machines, processes, or TBS equipment. The combined and parallel utilization of different simulation models enables to use the best suitable software tools for each sub-model, and to re-use existing specialized models of involved stakeholders.

## References

- S. Afazov. Modelling and simulation of manufacturing process chains. *CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol.*, 6 (1): 70–77, 2013. ISSN 17555817. doi:10.1016/j.cirpj.2012.10.005.
- J. C. Aurich, D. Biermann, H. Blum, C. Brecher, C. Carstensen, B. Denkena, F. Klocke, M. Kröger, P. Steinmann, and K. Weinert. Modelling and simulation of process: machine interaction in grinding. *Prod. Eng.*, 3 (1): 111–120, 2009. ISSN 0944-6524. doi:10.1007/s11740-008-0137-x.
- J. Banks, J. S. Carson, B. L. Nelson, and D. M. Nicol. *Discrete-event System Simulation*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 5th edition, 2010. ISBN 978-0136062127.
- C. Barthel, B. Klusemann, R. Denzer, and B. Svendsen. Modeling of a thermomechanical process chain for sheet steels. *Int. J. Mech. Sci.*, 74: 46–54, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.ijmecsci.2013.04.006.
- M. Baumeister and J. Fleischer. Integrated cut and place module for high productive manufacturing of lithium-ion cells. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 63 (1): 5–8, 2014. ISSN 17260604. doi:10. 1016/j.cirp.2014.03.063.
- N. Benkamoun, W. ElMaraghy, A.-L. Huyet, and K. Kouiss. Architecture Framework for Manufacturing System Design. *Procedia CIRP*, 17: 88–93, 2014. ISSN 22128271. doi:10.1016/j.procir. 2014.01.101.
- S. Bergmann. Automatische Generierung adaptiver Modelle zur Simulation von Produktionssystemen. Universitätsverlag Ilmenau, Ilmenau, 2014. ISBN 9783863600846.
- B. W. Boras, S. P. Hirakis, L. W. Votapka, R. D. Malmstrom, R. E. Amaro, and A. D. McCulloch. Bridging scales through multiscale modeling: A case study on protein kinase A. *Front. Physiol.*, 6 (SEP): 1–15, 2015. ISSN 1664042X. doi:10.3389/fphys.2015.00250.
- A. Borshchev and A. Filippov. From System Dynamics to Agent Based Modeling:. In 22nd Int. Conf. Syst. Dyn. Soc., Oxford, England, 2004.
- U. Bracht, D. Geckler, and S. Wenzel. *Digitale Fabrik*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011. ISBN 978-3-540-89038-6. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-88973-1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For example, the material flow of electrodes and modules is completely different and the coating of a double sided electrode takes more time compared to a single sided electrode.

- C. Brecher, M. Esser, and S. Witt. Interaction of manufacturing process and machine tool. *CIRP* Ann. Manuf. Technol., 58 (2): 588–607, 2009. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2009.09.005.
- R. J. Brodd and C. Helou. Cost comparison of producing high-performance Li-ion batteries in the U.S. and in China. J. Power Sources, 231: 293–300, 2013. ISSN 03787753. doi:10.1016/j. jpowsour.2012.12.048.
- H.-J. Bullinger, D. Spath, H.-J. Warnecke, and E. Westkämper, editors. *Handbuch Unternehmensorganisation Strategien, Planung, Umsetzung*. Number 1. Springer, 3rd modifi edition, 2009. ISBN 9783540721369. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-87595-6.
- J. B. Dunn, L. Gaines, J. C. Kelly, C. James, and K. G. Gallagher. The significance of Li-ion batteries in electric vehicle life-cycle energy and emissions and recycling's role in its reduction. *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 8: 158–168, 2014. ISSN 1754-5692. doi:10.1039/C4EE03029J.
- H. Dyckhoff and T. S. Spengler. *Produktionswirtschaft*. Springer-Lehrbuch. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010. ISBN 978-3-642-13683-2. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-13684-9.
- L. A.-W. Ellingsen, G. Majeau-Bettez, B. Singh, A. K. Srivastava, L. O. Valøen, and A. H. Strømman. Life Cycle Assessment of a Lithium-Ion Battery Vehicle Pack. J. Ind. Ecol., 18 (1): 113–124, 2014. ISSN 10881980. doi:10.1111/jiec.12072.
- M. Errera, A. Dugeai, M. Poinot, S. Cerqueira, and G. Chaineray. Multi-Physics Coupling Approaches for Aerospace Numerical Simulations. J. AerospaceLab, (2): 1–16, 2011.
- J. Fleischer, E. Rupprecht, and S. Haag. Produkttechnische Handlungsbedarfe der Batteriemodulfertigung. Zwf, 107(9): 637–641, 2012. ISSN 09470085.
- J. W. Fowler. Grand Challenges in Modeling and Simulation of Complex Manufacturing Systems. *Simulation*, 80 (9): 469–476, 2004. ISSN 0037-5497. doi:10.1177/0037549704044324.
- K. G. Gallagher and P. A. Nelson. Manufacturing Costs of Batteries for Electric Vehicles. In G. Pistoia, editor, *Lithium-Ion Batter*, pages 97–126. Elsevier, 2014. ISBN 9780444595133. doi:10. 1016/B978-0-444-59513-3.00006-6.
- T. Gates, G. Odegard, S. Frankland, and T. Clancy. Computational materials: Multi-scale modeling and simulation of nanostructured materials. *Compos. Sci. Technol.*, 65 (15-16): 2416–2434, 2005. ISSN 02663538. doi:10.1016/j.compscitech.2005.06.009.
- M. Geimer, T. Krüger, and P. Linsel. Co-Simulation, gekoppelte Simulation oder Simulatorkopplung Ein Versuch der Begriffsvereinheitlichung. *O+P Ölhydraulik und Pneum.*, 50 (11-12): 572 576, 2006.
- M. Grieves. Digital Twin: Manufacturing Excellence through Virtual Factory Replication, 2014.
- W. Haselrieder, S. Ivanov, D. K. Christen, H. Bockholt, and A. Kwade. Impact of the Calendering Process on the Interfacial Structure and the Related Electrochemical Performance of Secondary Lithium-Ion Batteries. *ECS Trans.*, 50 (26): 59–70, 2013.
- T. R. Hawkins, B. Singh, G. Majeau-Bettez, and A. H. Strømman. Comparative Environmental Life Cycle Assessment of Conventional and Electric Vehicles. *J. Ind. Ecol.*, 17 (1): 53–64, feb 2013. doi:10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00532.x.
- T. Heinemann, S. Thiede, C. Herrmann, and S. Kara. A Hierarchical Evaluation Scheme for Industrial Process Chains: Aluminum Die Casting. In 19th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., 2012.
- C. Herrmann. Ganzheitliches Life Cycle Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2010. ISBN 978-3-642-01420-8. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-01421-5.
- C. Herrmann, S. Kara, S. Thiede, and T. Luger. Energy Efficiency in Manufacturing Perspectives from Australia and Europe. In *17th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng.*, 2010.
- T. Hettesheimer, T. Hummen, F. Marscheider-Weidemann, M. Schröter, C. Lerch, M. Stahlberger, and A. Heussler. Energiespeicher Monitoring für die Elektromobilität (EMOTOR) - Bericht zur Produktion und Ökobilanzierung. Technical report, Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI, 2013.
- A. Hoekstra, E. Lorenz, J.-L. Falcone, and B. Chopard. Towards a complex automata framework for multi-scale modeling: Formalism and the scale separation map. *Proc. ICCS 2007*, pages 1–9, 2007.

- M. Jahangirian, T. Eldabi, A. Naseer, L. K. Stergioulas, and T. Young. Simulation in manufacturing and business: A review. *Eur. J. Oper. Res.*, 203 (1): 1–13, may 2010. ISSN 03772217. doi:10. 1016/j.ejor.2009.06.004.
- J. Kaiser, V. Wenzel, H. Nirschl, B. Bitsch, N. Willenbacher, M. Baunach, M. Schmitt, S. Jaiser, P. Scharfer, and W. Schabel. Prozess- und Produktentwicklung von Elektroden f
  ür Li-Ionen-Zellen. *Chemie-Ingenieur-Technik*, 86 (5): 695–706, 2014. doi:10.1002/cite.201300085.
- H. Kagermann, W. Wahlster, and J. Helbig. Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0, 2013.
- A. Kampker. *Elektromobilproduktion*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. ISBN 978-3-642-42021-4. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-42022-1.
- A. Kampker, C.-r. Hohenthanner, C. Deutskens, H. H. Heims, and C. Sesterheim. *Handbuch Lithium-Ionen-Batterien*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 978-3-642-30652-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-30653-2.
- B. Kenney, K. Darcovich, D. D. MacNeil, and I. J. Davidson. Modelling the impact of variations in electrode manufacturing on lithium-ion battery modules. J. Power Sources, 213: 391–401, sep 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2012.03.065.
- U. Köhler. Aufbau von Lithium-Ionen-Batteriesystemen. In *Handb. Lithium-Ionen-Batterien*, pages 95–106. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-30653-2\_8.
- R. Kossel, W. Tegethoff, M. Bodmann, and N. Lemke. Simulation of complex systems using Modelica and tool coupling. In *Modelica*, pages 485–490, 2006.
- M. Landherr, M. Neumann, J. Volkmann, and C. Constantinescu. Digitale Fabrik. In E. Westkämper, D. Spath, C. Constantinescu, and J. Lentes, editors, *Digit. Produktion*, pages 107–131. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 9783642202582.
- I. Leobner, K. Ponweiser, G. Neugschwandtner, and W. Kastner. Energy Efficient Production A Holistic Modeling Approach. In 2011 World Congr. Sustain. Technol. (WCST), London, pages 62–67. IEEE, 2011.
- S. Liang and X. Yao. Multi-level Modeling for Hybrid Manufacturing Systems Using Arena and MATLAB. 2008 Int. Work. Model. Simul. Optim., pages 155–159, 2008. doi:10.1109/WMSO. 2008.79.
- J. Li, C. Daniel, and D. Wood. Materials processing for lithium-ion batteries. J. Power Sources, 196 (5): 2452–2460, 2011a. ISSN 03787753. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2010.11.001.
- M. Luetke, V. Franke, A. Techel, T. Himmer, and U. Klotzbach. A Comparative Study on Cutting Electrodes for Batteries with Lasers. 12: 286–291, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.phpro.2011.03.135.
- L. März, W. Krug, O. Rose, and G. Weigert. *Simulation und Optimierung in Produktion und Logistik*. 2011. ISBN 9783642145353. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-14536-0.
- D. L. McDowell and G. B. Olson. Concurrent design of hierarchical materials and structures. *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. Eng.*, 68 LNCSE: 207–240, 2009. ISSN 14397358. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-9741-6\_14.
- C. McLean. An Architecture and Interfaces for Distributed Manufacturing Simulation. *Simulation*, 81 (1): 15–32, jan 2005. ISSN 0037-5497. doi:10.1177/0037549705052326.
- G. Morvan, D. Dupont, J.-B. Soyez, and R. Merzouki. Engineering hierarchical complex systems: an agent-based approach. The case of flexible manufacturing systems. In T. Borangiu, A. Thomas, and D. Trentesaux, editors, *Serv. Orientat. Holonic Multi-Agent Manuf. Control*, volume 402 of *Studies in Computational Intelligence*, pages 49–60. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN 978-3-642-27448-0. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-27449-7.
- A. Negahban and J. S. Smith. Simulation for manufacturing system design and operation: Literature review and analysis. J. Manuf. Syst., 33 (2): 241–261, 2014. ISSN 02786125. doi:10.1016/j.jmsy. 2013.12.007.
- P. A. Nelson, S. Ahmed, K. G. Gallagher, and D. W. Dees. Cost savings for manufacturing lithium batteries in a flexible plant. J. Power Sources, 283: 506–516, 2015. ISSN 03787753. doi:10.1016/ j.jpowsour.2015.02.142.

- P. Nelson, K. Gallagher, I. Bloom, and D. Dees. Modeling the Performance and Cost of Lithium-Ion Batteries for Electric-Drive Vehicles. Technical report, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, 2012.
- D. A. Notter, M. Gauch, R. Widmer, P. Wäger, A. Stamp, R. Zah, and H. J. Althaus. Contribution of Li-ion batteries to the environmental impact of electric vehicles. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 44 (17): 6550–6556, 2010. ISSN 0013936X. doi:10.1021/es903729a.
- P. Nyhuis and H.-p. Wiendahl. Ansatz zu einer Theorie der Produktionstechnik. 105: 1–2, 2010.
- H. Nylund and P. H. Andersson. Simulation of service-oriented and distributed manufacturing systems. *Robot. Comput. Integr. Manuf.*, 26 (6): 622–628, dec 2010. doi:10.1016/j.rcim.2010.07. 009.
- G. Patry, A. Romagny, S. Martinet, and D. Froelich. Cost modeling of lithium-ion battery cells for automotive applications. *Energy Sci. Eng.*, 3 (1): 71–82, 2015. ISSN 20500505. doi:10.1002/ese3.47.
- G. Pedrielli, P. Scavardone, T. Tolio, M. Sacco, and W. Terkaj. Simulation of Complex Manufacturing Systems via HLA-Based Infrastructure. In 2011 IEEE Work. Princ. Adv. Distrib. Simul., pages 1–9. IEEE, 2011. ISBN 978-1-4577-1363-7. doi:10.1109/PADS.2011.5936772.
- K.-H. Pettinger. Fertigungsprozesse von Lithium-Ionen-Zellen. In Handb. Lithium-Ionen-Batterien, pages 221–235. 2013. ISBN 978-3-642-30652-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-30653-2.
- R. Petri. Technologiebasiertes Materialkostenmodell f
  ür Li-Ionen Batteriezellen in der Elektromobilität. Vulkan Verlag, 2015. ISBN 9783802783401.
- R. Petri, T. Giebel, B. Zhang, J.-H. Schünemann, and C. Herrmann. Material cost model for innovative li-ion battery cells in electric vehicle applications. *Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. Technol.*, 2 (3): 263–268, 2015. doi:10.1007/s40684-015-0031-x.
- M. Raab, T. Schulze, and S. Straßburger. Experiences from the application of HLA-based distributed simulations in the production of vehicles. In *HMS 2008 11th Int. Work. Harb. Marit. Multimodal Logist. Model. Simul.*, pages 29–34, 2008. ISBN 9788890372421.
- M. Rabe, S. Spieckermann, and S. Wenzel. Verifikation und Validierung für die Simulation in Produktion und Logistik. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008. ISBN 978-3-540-35281-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-35282-2.
- Roland Berger Strategy Consultants. Powertrain 2020. Electr. Veh., (August): 1-36, 2010.
- O. Rose and L. März. Simulation. In *Simul. und Optimierung Produktion und Logistik*, pages 13–19. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-14536-0\_2.
- M. Schenk, S. Wirth, and E. Müller. Fabrikplanung und Fabrikbetrieb. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. ISBN 978-3-642-05458-7. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-05459-4.
- G. Schuh. *Produktionsplanung und -steuerung*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006. ISBN 978-3-540-40306-7. doi:10.1007/3-540-33855-1.
- G. Schuh and C. Schmidt, editors. *Produktionsmanagement*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. ISBN 978-3-642-54287-9. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-54288-6.
- M. Schmitt, M. Baunach, L. Wengeler, K. Peters, P. Junges, P. Scharfer, and W. Schabel. Slotdie processing of lithium-ion battery electrodes-Coating window characterization. *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.*, 68: 32–37, 2013. doi:10.1016/j.cep.2012.10.011.
- J. Schmitt, G. Posselt, F. Dietrich, S. Thiede, A. Raatz, C. Herrmann, and K. Dröder. Technical Performance and Energy Intensity of the Electrode-Separator Composite Manufacturing Process. *Procedia CIRP*, 29: 269–274, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.02.016.
- J. Schmitt, A. Raatz, F. Dietrich, K. Dröder, and J. Hesselbach. Process and performance optimization by selective assembly of battery electrodes. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 63 (1): 9–12, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.018.
- S. Sicklinger, V. Belsky, B. Engelmann, H. Elmqvist, H. Olsson, R. Wüchner, and K.-U. Bletzinger. Interface Jacobian-based Co-Simulation. *Int. J. Numer. Methods Eng.*, 98 (6): 418–444, 2014. doi:10.1002/nme.4637.
- R. Simon. Aufbau einer Fabrik zur Zellfertigung. In R. Korthauer, editor, *Handb. Lithium-Ionen-Batterien*, pages 249–257. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 978-3-642-30652-5.

- J.-H. Schünemann. Modell zur Bewertung der Herstellkosten von Lithiumionenbatteriezellen. Sierke Verlag, 2015.
- J. D. Sterman. *Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World*. Mcgraw-Hill Education Ltd, 2000.
- T. Sweafford and H.-S. Yoon. Co-simulation of dynamic systems in parallel and serial model configurations. *J. Mech. Sci. Technol.*, 27 (12): 3579–3587, dec 2013. doi:10.1007/s12206-013-0909-x.
- S. Thiede. Energy Efficiency in Manufacturing Systems. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN 978-3-642-25913-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-25914-2.
- H. Y. Tran, G. Greco, C. Täubert, M. Wohlfahrt-Mehrens, W. Haselrieder, and A. Kwade. Influence of electrode preparation on the electrochemical performance of LiNi 0.8Co 0.15Al 0.05O 2 composite electrodes for lithium-ion batteries. *J. Power Sources*, 210: 276–285, 2012. doi:10. 1016/j.jpowsour.2012.03.017.
- A. Väyrynen and J. Salminen. Lithium ion battery production. J. Chem. Thermodyn., 46: 80–85, 2012. ISSN 00219614. doi:10.1016/j.jct.2011.09.005.
- A. Verl, E. Westkämper, E. Abele, A. Dietmair, J. Schlechtendahl, J. Friedrich, H. Haag, and S. Schrems. Architecture for Multilevel Monitoring and Control of Energy Consumption. In 18th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., Braunschweig, 2011.
- VDI. VDI 4499: Digitale Fabrik Grundlagen (engl.: Digital factory Fundamentals), 2008.
- VDI. VDI 3633, Sheet 1: Simulation von Logistik-, Materialfluss- und Produktionssystemen Grundlagen (engl.: Simulation of systems in materials handling, logistics and production Fundamentals), 2014.
- J. Warner. Lithium-Ion Battery Packs for EVs. Elsevier, 2014. ISBN 9780444595133. doi:10.1016/ B978-0-444-59513-3.00007-8.
- S. Wenzel, M. Weiß, S. Collisi-Böhmer, H. Pitsch, and O. Rose. *Qualitätskriterien für die Simulation in Produktion und Logistik*. VDI-Buch. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008. ISBN 978-3-540-35272-3. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-35276-1.
- M. Wetter. Co-simulation of building energy and control systems with the Building Controls Virtual Test Bed. *J. Build. Perform. Simul.*, 4 (3): 185–203, sep 2010. doi:10.1080/19401493.2010. 518631.
- M. Wetter, W. Zuo, and T. S. Nouidui. Recent Developments of the Modelica Buildings Library for Building Energy and Control Systems brary. In *Model. Conf.*, pages 266–275, 2011.
- T. Wöhrle. Lithium-Ionen-Zelle. In *Handb. Lithium-Ionen-Batterien*, pages 107–117. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013.
- E. Westkämper and E. Zahn. Wandlungsfähige Produktionsunternehmen: Das Stuttgarter Unternehmensmodell. 2009. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-68890-7.
- E. Westkämper. *Einführung in die Organisation der Produktion*. Springer-Lehrbuch. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, 2006. ISBN 3-540-26039-0. doi:10.1007/3-540-30764-8.
- E. Westkämper, D. Spath, C. Constantinescu, and J. Lentes, editors. *Digitale Produktion*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 978-3-642-20258-2. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-20259-9.
- H. P. Wiendahl, H. a. ElMaraghy, P. Nyhuis, M. F. Zäh, H. H. Wiendahl, N. Duffie, and M. Brieke. Changeable Manufacturing - Classification, Design and Operation. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 56 (2): 783–809, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2007.10.003.
- C. Wieser, T. Prill, and K. Schladitz. Multiscale simulation process and application to additives in porous composite battery electrodes. *J. Power Sources*, 277: 64–75, 2015. ISSN 0378-7753. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2014.11.090.
- T. Wuest, C. Irgens, and K.-D. Thoben. An approach to monitoring quality in manufacturing using supervised machine learning on product state data. *J. Intell. Manuf.*, 2013. ISSN 0956-5515. doi:10.1007/s10845-013-0761-y.
- WZL und VMDA. Der Produktionsprozess einer Lithium-Ionen Folienzelle. Technical report, WZL und VDMA, Aachen, Frankfurt, 2012b.

- WZL und VMDA. Der Montageprozess eines Batteriepacks. Technical report, WZL und VDMA, Aachen, Frankfurt, 2012a.
- M. Yoshio, R. J. Brodd, and A. Kozawa, editors. *Lithium-Ion Batteries*. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2009. ISBN 978-0-387-34444-7.
- R. Zhang, K. P. Lam, S.-c. Yao, and Y. Zhang. Coupled EnergyPlus and computational fluid dynamics simulation for natural ventilation. *Build. Environ.*, 68: 100–113, Oct 2013. ISSN 03601323. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.04.002.
- G. Zülch, U. Jonsson, and J. Fischer. Hierarchical simulation of complex production systems by coupling of models. *Int. J. Prod. Econ.*, 77 (1): 39–51, 2002. ISSN 09255273. doi:10.1016/S0925-5273(01)00198-0.
- W. Zuo, M. Wetter, D. Li, M. Jin, W. Tian, and Q. Chen. Coupled simulation of indoor environment, hvac and control system by using fast fluid dynamics and the modelica buildings library. In ASHRAE/IBPSA-USA Build. Simul. Conf., pages 56–63, Atlanta, 2014.

# **Chapter 3 State of Research for Multiscale Simulation of Production Systems**

This chapter presents the state of research in areas related to multiscale simulation of production systems. There are various generic or specific simulation applications for production systems of which many were reviewed in order to provide an overview about existing approaches, underline the relevance of production system simulation, and to get inspiration for specific methodological solutions. This chapter explains the selection of reviewed approaches and the definition of evaluation criteria (Sect. 3.1) as well as the evaluation of the selected approaches (Sect. 3.2). The chapter concludes with an identified research demand (Sect. 3.3).

# **3.1** Selection of Approaches and Definition of Evaluation Criteria

There has been a wide range of applications of simulation for production systems and a multitude of simulation models and approaches. Consequently it is necessary to select relevant approaches (Sect. 3.1.1) and to define evaluation criteria according to the identified requirements for a detailed battery simulation (Sect. 3.1.2).

# 3.1.1 Selection of Approaches

In general, applicable simulations were considered which provide useful methods, techniques, and ideas for the multiscale simulation of discrete part production including different scales from the lowest process scale up to the building scale. In particular, three main research areas were examined which share goals and features similar to the intended multiscale simulation of battery production systems.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_3

- 1. Simulations for the evaluation of production systems regarding economic and environmental objectives. In this context, simulations address the operational performance (e.g. output, lead time), material flows, and the related energy demands of the entire production equipment.
- 2. Simulations aiming at the analysis of product characteristics during production along a process chain and the acting effects of process parameters, machine configurations, and environmental conditions (technological objectives).
- 3. Simulations which combine different simulation models in order to improve the result quality regarding the desired objective.

Static applications such as linear programming models were not considered in this evaluation. These models are often used for planning and optimization tasks in the context of production systems but do not imitate the complex dynamic behavior of production systems over time. An example of such optimization model is published by Agha et al. (2010) in which an integrated approach is used to optimize the schedules of production operation and utility systems (boiler and fuel storage). Their concept addresses a multiscale analysis of production systems but the static optimization approach limits the application. Furthermore, contributions were not considered if they solely focus on simulation techniques in general aiming at optimized algorithms, IT infrastructures, and distributed computer systems (e.g. Sicklinger et al. 2014; Sweafford and Yoon 2013 or Viel and Minimes 2014).

### 3.1.2 Evaluation Criteria

The selected approaches have been evaluated regarding a set of criteria. These criteria were derived from the findings described in Sect. 2.3 and clustered into the groups scope, scales, as well as methodology and application. This subsection describes the criteria and the specification of criteria fulfillment.

### Scope

The criteria related to the scope observe the relevance of a simulation application for battery production, the planning perspectives, and the addressed objectives.

**Battery production relevance** This criterion refers to the context of an approach. The related question is, if an approach aims at simulating the production of batteries or if it is applicable or adaptable for the simulation of battery production systems. The criteria is not fulfilled if an approach is not related to or does not address the production of batteries or battery components. This criterion is completely fulfilled it the research is directly related or specifically designed to be applied to battery production. The criterion is partially fulfilled if an approach addresses discrete production and considers system elements or aspects relevant to battery production.

- **Multiple planning perspectives** Production management can take operational, tactical, and strategic perspectives. The related question to this criterion is, if a simulation application supports planning tasks of all three perspectives or if it is limited to a specific perspective. In the best case, a simulation approach is able to support tasks from all planning perspectives. The criterion is not fulfilled if it is not possible to identify any addressed planning perspective.
- **Integrated objectives** Product quality, production costs and environmental impacts during production are closely related. Consequently, it is desired to investigate the cause-effect relations between technological, economic, and environmental objectives in an integrated manner. The related question is, if a simulation application allows to consider all three objectives simultaneously or if only specific objectives are addressed, for example energy efficiency. The criteria is completely fulfilled if an approach addresses the integrated analysis of all three objectives. The criteria is not fulfilled, it no objective is clearly defined.

### Production System Scales

The criteria related to the production system scales describe whether and in which detail a simulation application addresses single or multiple scales of a production system. For this evaluation, it has been differentiated between the scales process, product, machine, process chain, TBS and the building.

- **Process** This criterion refers to the consideration of production processes in a simulation.<sup>1</sup> Processes can be described and modeled using different methods and levels of detail. The related question to this criterion is, if a simulation includes modeling of specific process characteristics and processing results in detail. This criterion is not fulfilled if process characteristics and the influences on product characteristics are not considered at all. It is fulfilled if physical models (e.g. using finite element methods (FEM) or discrete element methods (DEM)) are included for describing the detailed process characteristics. It is partially fulfilled if process characteristics are considered within other related models for machines or products. The degree of fulfillment depends on the modeled level of detail.
- **Product** Processes transform an initial state of a product unit (or workpiece) into an output state which is characterized by the current product characteristics. This output product state can be the input of an adjacent process. This criterion refers to the consideration of product unit specific requirements for processing and created product characteristics within a simulation application. It is not fulfilled if product units and their characteristics are not considered at all. It is completely fulfilled if different product types, their specific requirements for processing and intermediate states of product units during production are integrated within a simulation and if the physical influences of processes and machines on product characteristics can be analyzed. It is partially fulfilled if a simulation considers product units

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It was found that processes and machines are often treated and modeled synonymous. However, a machine is required to perform a process. A process is the activity which transforms the properties of a product to desired states or conditions.

as events, product specific parameters (e.g. processing times) for processes, or product units as black box models with a defined set of parameters.

- **Machines** Machines consist of various components (e.g. mechanical parts, sensors, control) and have different states (e.g. idle, processing, failure) and operational characteristics (e.g. maximum values of process parameters, working area, capacity, availability, mean time to failure (MTTF), scrap rate). Furthermore, machines have energy and media demands (e.g. for compressed air, cooling liquid) which depend on the operational state. This criterion evaluates the consideration of machine characteristics in simulation approaches. The related question is, if an approach addresses the behavior of machines. This criterion is not fulfilled if machines are not specifically included in an approach and completely fulfilled, if detailed models of machines are used to represent structural and operational machine characteristics including machine component behavior.
- **Process chain** Machines can be grouped to process chains according to their functionality or according to the desired process combinations for specific product types. Relevant plannings task related to process chains are for example the allocation and routing of products to machines, the scheduling of jobs, bottle neck and lead time reduction, and improvement of the systems utilization. This criterion refers to the consideration of the operation of multiple machines, material flow and product routing, schedules, and the overall production performance. It is not fulfilled if no coordinated process chain and product flow is included in an approach. It is completely fulfilled if the product flow and routing, buffers, and detailed scheduling are included and an evaluation of performance indicators as well as of impacts on TBS is possible.
- **Technical building services** This criterion refers to the consideration of TBS and auxiliary equipment within a simulation application. TBS are related to machines (e.g. compressed air, air suction) or the building operation (e.g. HVAC, lighting, energy supply). The criterion is not fulfilled if TBS are not considered at all. It is completely fulfilled if all required services are included by in-depth physical models which represent the operation as well as the interactions with processes (e.g. demand/supply) and the building (e.g. heat emissions). The criteria is partially fulfilled if only few TBS are included which are only represented by simplified models.
- **Building** This criterion specifies if a simulation supports the analysis of the building surrounding a production system. The simulation of buildings can be realized with different methods and tools and be carried out in different levels of detail. The related question is, if a simulation considers or includes the building ambient conditions. It is completely fulfilled if the building shell is a major part of a simulation and if detailed physical models are implemented to represent the building construction, weather influences, and internal loads. The criterion is not fulfilled if the building is not part of an approach. It is partially fulfilled if simplified models for building zones are used.

#### Methodology and Application

This group of criteria addresses the questions whether existing simulation applications use coupled simulation models, provide an integrated evaluation of results from different models, and are applicable to other production systems in general and battery production in particular.

- **Model coupling and co-simulation** Co-simulation is a suggested method for the simulation of complex hierarchical systems and consequently usable for production systems or factories. This criterion refers to the combined use of different interdisciplinary simulation models within one application. The criterion is not fulfilled if only one model is used. The criterion is completely fulfilled if multiple models are individually implemented in the best-suited software environment and coupled via a coordinating middleware software.
- **Methodological contribution** This criterion refers to the contribution of a publication to the methodology of multiscale production system simulation. This includes but is not limited to simulation methodology, model coupling, numerical aspects, and synchronization of data exchange. The criterion is not fulfilled if a publication does not address methodological issues towards multiscale simulation of production systems. It is completely fulfilled if methodological aspects are the main focus of a contribution.
- **Applicability** This criterion refers to the application of existing simulation applications in an industrial production context. It is examined if models and tools are available and adaptable as well as if there are clear guidelines for application. The criterion is not fulfilled if a publication presents only a theoretical concept. The criterion is completely fulfilled if commercial software is used, executable models are developed, and guidelines or procedures for application are available.

In addition to these criteria, all existing simulation contributions were analyzed regarding the used simulation approaches such as DE, AB, DS or SD.

### 3.2 Presentation and Evaluation of Existing Approaches

The presentation of research contributions begins with simulation applications addressing the smallest scales of a production system (processes, machines, products) and continues with simulations considering multiple and larger scales. All contributions are explained and discussed regarding the defined criteria. Figure 3.1 illustrates the identified contributions and the order of presentation based on the addressed scales.

While there are several applications and concepts in the field of battery cell and battery system simulation (e.g. Wieser et al. 2015; Allu et al. 2014; Du et al. 2014 and Yu et al. 2013), there are hardly any existing or established simulation approaches for individual processes of battery production. One of the few examples for process simulation is the simulation of different formulation strategies of the mixing process





(Li et al. 2014). Furthermore, according to Kaiser et al. (2014), computational fluid dynamics are used for the dimensioning and design of coating devices. These simulations focus solely on processes without considering external influences such as machine interactions in an industrial production environment.

Outside of the research field of battery production, several simulation concepts focus on the combined simulation of processes and machines. For example, coupling of models is used to analyze the interactions between machining processes and related machine tools such as the impacts of vibrations or thermal effects on machining stability (Brecher et al. 2009; Aurich et al. 2009; Witt 2007; Schapp 2008). Many researchers work in this field which is called process machine interaction (PMI). An overview about research approaches in PMI is presented in Brecher et al. (2009). The majority of studies contains the analysis of machine structures, physical component behavior, process physics and interactions between machine, process and work pieces. These approaches focus on product quality and refer to small spatial and temporal scales of production systems.

Abele et al. developed a holistic simulation environment for the analysis of energy demands of machines by combining models for machine components and processes (Abele et al. 2012, 2015). They developed methods for the simulation-based assessment of the energy demand of machining processes for a given product geometry (NC files) and process parameters (e.g. cutting force). They combined models for machine, process, and product to simulate the resulting energy demand. This work was part of the research activity ECOMATION. In this context, Eisele (2014) developed a modular methodology and models for the simulation of machine components. Physical models for machine components (e.g. motor, valves, pipes, cooling system, etc.) have been summarized within a library (Simulink) which can be used for the definition of specific machines. These models also include process specific parameters. In a similar concept, Schrems (2014) proposed a machine simulation considering different machine components. The goal was to develop a method for modeling the energy demand of machine tools. The components of a machines with relevance to the energy demand are grouped according to their functions and demand behavior. Furthermore, he combined several machine models to simulate the energy demands

of an entire process chain (DE with Siemens Plant Simulation). He also suggested to identify the shares of each machine of the total energy demand as well as on the energy demand per product unit. Overall, this approach enables a detailed modeling of machines on component level aiming at the simulation of energy demands on process chain level.

The same goal was addressed by Weinert et al. (2011) who developed an energy block methodology for modeling state specific energy demands of machines on component level. Moreover, Weinert et al. extended the approach towards the modeling of multiple machines. This allows using the methodology to include energy related criteria into production system planning and scheduling. However, not much detail is presented about the implementation of the models.

Liang and Yao (2008) presented a hybrid modeling approach for production systems combining the tools Matlab/Simulink and Arena to determine continuous characteristics on process level and the discrete behavior of machines on workshop level. Arena was used to model production lines with multiple machines and to determine the output and waiting times per product type. Matlab Stateflow was used to describe the operational steps of machines. Matlab Simulink was used to imitate the process controller and to determine processing times and cutting forces for each work piece. ActiveX and VBA were used to control the continuous and discrete Matlab models through the DE Arena model. This approach enables evaluating the interactions between different scales of production lines. However, the specific target of the approach is not clearly stated. The output of products and cutting forces are calculated although it is not apparent how the results are used.

Colledani and Tolio (2013) developed an integrated multiscale and multilevel model for a material recycling system combining the process and process chain level. The goal was to estimate the performance of a de-manufacturing system considering the complex interdependencies between process physics (e.g. separation quality or size reduction) and the system dynamics (e.g. routing or utilization and profitability). However, the system dynamics analysis is not conducted by simulation but with analytic methods. Moreover, the physical process models refer to specific processes and seem not to be easily adaptable.

Cho (2005) developed a distributed simulation approach for the job-shop scheduling problem in which machines and parts are represented as events. The entities machine and part have properties and states and exchange information with each other via a developed communication architecture. The approach is able to determine the arrival time of parts for different machine allocations. However, the approach is targeted specifically to the scheduling problem, is implemented based on specific software solutions, and is not easily adaptable to other cases.

Heilala et al. (2008) developed an application which combines DE simulation and 3D modeling of production systems with LCA to perform a joint analysis of economic, environmental, and ergonomic characteristics of production systems. Their goal was to establish a simulation tool for supporting the production system planning phase. Their approach differentiates the higher level of product flow and the lower level of workstations and process steps. A DE simulation model is proposed for calculating the system performance (e.g. percentage of machine states, energy

demands) based on given schedules, product mix, product routes and other production characteristics. Furthermore, product properties are included since material properties and product dimensions have influence on economic and environmental performance indicators. They use software for integrated factory and robotic simulation (3DCreate and 3DRealize of Visual Components) and Excel for the calculation of related environmental impacts. A coupling of DE simulation and LCA calculation is suggested but not implemented.

Sproedt developed a similar concept which utilizes available life cycle inventory (LCI) data in combination with a DE simulation model in order to automatically generate LCA results for production systems (Sproedt 2013; Sproedt et al. 2015). The concept shall support the evaluation of improvement measures towards improving the eco-efficiency and the performance of production systems. He included modules for processes and supporting services in the simulation framework. These processes and supporting services are described by various parameters (e.g. processing time, MTTF) and states (e.g. idle, off, processing) which also include the behavior and characteristics of the related machines. An evaluation module allows the calculation of various results such as costs, throughput time, and environmental impact. The physical characteristics of processes and equipment are not modeled and the building environment is not considered. The approach is prototypical implemented and Sproedt further provided a detailed guiding procedure which supports the application of his approach for other production systems. A similar approach using DE simulation and LCA was presented by Löfgren and Tillman (2011).

The combined analysis of production operation and building energy management is motivated by Michaloski et al. (2011). They proposed the integration of manufacturing execution systems (MES) with energy management system (EMS) to identify and evaluate improvement measures towards energy efficiency and more sustainable production. The main idea is to use DE simulation to determine schedules of production activities including job and resource allocation, determine the production performance (e.g. utilization, scrap rate, product quality) and to link the production activities (e.g. based on average load profiles) to TBS (e.g. compressed air, HVAC). The focus is on identifying improved schedules of production activities. The authors provide their model structure and considered system elements as well as desired performance indicators for MES and EMS. However, they have published only few details about the DE simulation model and only qualitative simulation results.

Stahl et al. (2013) proposed a total factory simulation aiming at extending material flow calculation toward environmental goals. Their concept includes the state-based modeling of production assets such as machines combined with peripheral equipment. They generate power demand profiles of each asset depending on the asset's states. This concept was introduced to plant simulation.

Seow and Rahimifard (2011) proposed a framework for modeling energy demands on plant and process level from a product perspective. Their motivation was to determine the total energy required to produce one product unit and to derive optimization potentials for production operational as well as product design. They consider direct and indirect energy demands as well as theoretical and auxiliary energy demands. In order to allocate indirect energy demands to product units, they differentiate zones of facilities with similar indirect energy demands. Their approach includes energy demands of TBS (e.g. compressed air, lighting, heating, process liquids) and auxiliary equipment which results in a multiscale perspective. They developed an integrated DE simulation model in Arena which allows to determine the embodied energy of product units of multiple product types. This is based on the simulation of the throughput of products through processes and different building zones. Product type specific processing times are implemented. The theoretical energy demands are calculated with mathematical models describing the characteristics of each process (e.g. based on specific cutting energy and volume of a parts). Auxiliary energy demands are estimated by equipment manufacturer specifications or determined by measurements but they did not include more detailed models of TBS system. Their tool can be used for what-if analysis of different scenarios. The authors clearly state that the generated results can be valuable input for further evaluations such as LCA or life cycle cost analysis. They further motivate to use the results as indicators for improvement potentials in product design. Multiple planning perspective are clearly addressed. However, the influences of processes on product quality are not considered.

Junge (2007) developed a method for the simulation-based development and optimization of energy efficient production control. The core of his simulation approach is a DE material flow simulation which enables to determine the energy demands and costs as well as the production costs and other logistical performance indicators (e.g. utilization, work in progress). Furthermore he modeled the current temperature, ventilation rate, and pollutant concentration inside a factory which are relevant conditions for the operation of machines and the calculation of costs for heating and cooling. This simulation model for the production system operation was coupled with a building simulation. A specific coupling solution was developed based on TCP/IP connections. The coupled simulation approach allowed analyzing the effects of different production strategies and schedules as well as to support the planning of TBS.

The goal of the research project ENOPA (engl.: Energy efficiency through optimized coordination of production and technical building services) was to develop an approach for the coupling of models for simulating energy demands of TBS and the building with a process chain in order to improve energy efficiency in production facilities (Hesselbach et al. 2008). The main motivation was to determine the timing of demands for different media (e.g. electrical energy, compressed air, hot water, or cooling liquids) of production processes and the resulting loads on supporting building equipment. A comprehensive summary of the project results can be found in the project report (ENOPA 2011) and in Hesselbach (2012).

Thiede developed a generic and adaptable DE simulation environment for analyzing the energy efficiency in production systems (Thiede 2012; Herrmann et al. 2011). He decided for an integrated modeling approach in order to avoid technical problems and synchronization issues arising from a coupling of models. The main goal was to assess the energy demands of production systems depending on the actual operation. The approach aims at supporting strategic and operational production management in the designs and control of production systems. For that reason, the simulation environment contains generic modules for processes and TBS (e.g. compressed air and steam generation). This allows to determine the load profiles for all observed energy carriers of the relevant equipment within a production system in order to identify hot spots and peak loads. The process modules and the sub-models for TBS are integrated within one model which is implemented with the software AnyLogic. The model is flexible, modular, and scalable to be usable for different industries. The simulation environment was used to demonstrate what-if analyses for different scenarios of improvement measures. For example, the approach allows changing operational system parameters (e.g. production speed) and to determine the total energy demand.

Mousavi et al. (2015) presented a modeling approach for the integrated evaluation of energy demands of unit processes and the entire production systems. The goal of their energy-oriented factory simulation is analyzing the impacts of specific machine tool parameters on the energy demand on production system level. They proposed a framework which divides process chains into different unit processes which are characterized by machine specifications, the design of products and the related process. The process chain is supplied by peripheral and TBS equipment. Their approach can determine the total time-dependent energy demand of the production system as well as indicators describing the production performance such as lead time and output. Within their implemented hybrid simulation model, they integrated models for unit processes with models for TBS and a process chain model which is controlled by a production control unit. They presented two case studies showing that the lot size and machine parameters have impacts on the energy efficiency of the entire system.

The project INFO (Interdisciplinary research for energy optimization in production operations) pursued the similar goal of increasing energy efficiency in production by using a holistic factory simulation. More specifically, the goal was to obtain a holistic contemplative simulation model to investigate the energy and resource efficiency of production facilities already within the planning stage (Dür et al. 2013). The main objectives were the analysis and reduction of the energy demand as well as the related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and the economic profitability. That means that economic and environmental goals are simultaneously addressed. For this purpose, the INFO approach integrates the disciplines of power engineering, production technology and building design. Within this project, several researcher worked on different aspects of such holistic factory simulation. Leobner et al. (2011) presented an overview of components of production facilities (structured in physical and information components) as well as related rules, parameters, boundaries, and interfaces of interactions which should be considered in a holistic modeling approach. Hafner et al. studied the practicability of co-simulation with BCVTB for simulating the thermal processes in a production building with the goal to optimize the energy usage in cutting factories (Hafner et al. 2012, 2014). They coupled models for machines, the energy system, and a building with different zones. Machines are modeled in Modelica, Simscape and Matlab (simple data model combined with MS Excel). Machines in Dymola and Simscape are simplified represented by electrical motors at which electrical energy is lost at the resistor and converted into thermal energy (heat flow to the building). Kovacic et al. (2013) further discussed the potential benefits of coupled simulation based on a parametric simulation case study including a life cycle cost analysis of a production facility with a focus on the building. Heinzl et al. (2013) set a research focus on the communication, step size, and synchronization methodology of simulation models. He used an energy system model (Modelica) and a building model (EnergyPlus) to evaluate different production scenarios and building locations regarding the electrical power demand. The complete project results are presented in Dür et al. (2013). On machine level, machines are represented as parameter models based on state specific average energy demands (although physical machine models were presented for example by Hafner et al. 2014). Parameter models were implemented for machine tools, compressors and lasers. Building models were created in EnergyPlus but further simulation studies were also conducted with COMSOL multiphysics (2D) CFD-simulation for evaluation of influences of temperature distribution on the energy demand. BCVTB was used to combine Matlab, Excel, EnergyPlus, and Dymola. In summary, all relevant aspects of production systems related to energy flows were addressed at different levels of detail. However, traditional production objectives such as utilization, availability, lead time or throughput were not part of the analysis. The simulation does not include a specific model for a process chain. Furthermore, a product perspective is missing and process physics with respect to product properties are not part of any simulation sub-model.

Based on results from the INFO project, Bleicher et al. (2014) further presented a prototypical simulation framework and exemplary models for supporting the planning of production facilities by combination of specialized simulation models for production equipment, energy system, and the building. Machines are represented by multi-domain models combining electrical, mechanical, and thermal aspects of machine tools. As an example they have presented a model of a turning lathe drive train. The software Matlab Simscape is used to model the energy flows. These models do not include operational machine characteristics such as availability, capacity, or MTTF. Also the authors state that models become increasingly complex if multiple machines have to be simulated. They suggest the use of energy demand profiles based on empirical studies to substitute physical models. Their models are reduced to relevant energy related states with allocated average energy demand. Using the detailed physical models is suggested for validation and prediction of energy demands outside the co-simulation. The operation of machines (e.g. scheduling and job allocation) is controlled by production data which in the presented case was retrieved from SAP. The actual material flow of products through multiple machines is not simulated. Furthermore, the value adding physical processes and their influence on product characteristics are not included in their models. Consequently it is not possible to evaluate performance indicators such as lead times or quality rates. The energy system and related equipment is included in the co-simulation. The compressed air generation is also mentioned in the case study but it is only stated that the power demand of the compressors was represented with a physical model. The building is said to be modeled within the software EnergyPlus according to the building information modeling (BIM) methodology. However, no detailed information is given about the energy system model, compressed air system model, or building model. Furthermore, it is not explained how the static parameter models are linked with simulation models.

A similar objective was addressed in the project THERM (THrough-life Energy and Resource Modeling) which aimed at reducing energy demands, carbon emissions and waste through integrated simulation of production operations and building environments. The main result is a sustainable manufacturing modeling tool of which the requirements, the model concept, the graphical representation, and the prototypical implementation are presented in various publications (Wright et al. 2013; Despeisse et al. 2012, 2013; Oates et al. 2011; Ball et al. 2013). The authors found that existing physical building simulation tools did not allow to sufficiently consider heat emissions from production equipment into the building environment (Oates et al. 2011). As a result from this, they proposed a combined simulation of the building environment, production equipment, and supporting TBS in order to determine the heat balance and energy flows in a factory. The prototypical THERM simulation tool and the defined workflow enable modeling of the climatic environmental conditions within a factory building and the interactions with production equipment depending on operational states. The tool is based on IES Virtual Environment. It enables the determination of the total energy demand of a production facility and the evaluation of improvement measures such as the reuse of resources. Moreover, a set of predefined improvement measures (tactics) is provided. Ball et al. further proposed integrating the effects of resource flows (e.g. parts, material) through a factory. However, the tool includes neither the evaluation of traditional production performance indicators nor product properties or detailed process and machine behavior. Also, no detail information is given about how the energy and resource flows are actually modeled and how or if different schedules for equipment operations and jobs are considered.

Outside the field of production simulation, the simulation of buildings and building controls are broadly covered topics in building engineering and simulation science. In this context, various multiscale and co-simulation approaches were developed addressing the interactions between different building elements (e.g. Trčka et al. 2010; Wetter 2011; Sagerschnig et al. 2011; Wills et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2013). Many of these approaches focus on the integrated analysis of the interactions between building shells and HVAC systems. Trčka and Hensen (2010) provide an overview of related simulation approaches. As an example of a simulation concept, Chen et al. (2015) used co-simulation to study the interactions between indoor climate in a multi-zone building and energy efficiency measures.

To summarize the results of the evaluation, Harvey balls are used to represent the rating of the evaluation criteria. Harvey balls indicate the degree to which a research contribution fulfills the related criteria.<sup>2</sup> The results of the comparison are shown in Table 3.1. It must be emphasized that the results were also significantly influenced by the type and level of detail of the publications.

The table shows clearly that no simulation concept fulfills all criteria which are relevant for the desired multiscale simulation of battery production systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A white empty ball ( $\bigcirc$ ) indicates that a criteria is not fulfilled at all while a black filled ball ( $\bigcirc$ ) indicates that a criteria is completely fulfilled. Partial fulfillment of a criteron is indicated by partially filled balls ( $\bigcirc$ ,  $\bigcirc$ ,  $\bigcirc$ ).

Table 3.1 Evaluation of research contribut
--

	Li et al. (2014)	Brecher et al. (2009)	Abele et al. (2015)	Eisele (2014)	Schrems (2014)	Weinert et al. (2011)	Liang and Yao (2008)	Colledani and Tolio (2013)	Cho (2005)	Heilala et al. (2008)	Sproedt (2013)	Michaloski et al. (2011)	Stahl et al. (2013)	Seow and Rahimifard (2011)	Junge (2007)	ENOPA (e.g. Hesselbach et al. (2008))	Thiede (2012)	Mousavi et al. (2015)	INFO (e.g. Dür et al. (2013))	Bleicher et al. (2014)	THERM (e.g. Wright et al. (2013))	Wetter (2011)
Scope																						
Battery production relevance	•	٥	٩	٥	٩	٥	٥	0	٥	٥	•	٥	٥	٠	٥	٥	•	•	•	•	٥	٥
Multiple planning perspectives	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	٥	•	٠	0	0	•	0	•	٠	0	•	•	O	0
Integrated objectives	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	•	0	0	•	•	•	0
Production system scales																						
Process	•	•	•	•	٠	0	•	•	0	٠	•	0	0	٠	0	0	0	0	•	٠	•	0
Product	•	0	•	•	0	0	0	•	•	0	•	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Machine Process chain	0	•		•										9	-	-	5		9	9		0
TBS	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	•	0	•	•	•	Ō	•	•	•	ě
Building	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ō	0	0	•	•	0	0	•	•	•	•
Methodology and appl	licat	ion																				
Model coupling and co-simulation	0	٩	٩	٠	٠	0	•	٠	٠	0	0	0	0	0	٩	•	•	0	•	•	0	•
Methodological contribution	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0	0	0	0	•	O	0	0	•	0	0	•
Applicability	0	0	•	•	•	•	0	٥	0	0	•	•	0	0	0	0	•	0	0	•	•	•

## 3.3 Findings and Research Demand

The evaluation has shown that there is a diversity of simulation concepts and applications which were developed for various purposes addressing different goals and planning perspectives. It has revealed that the idea of a multiscale factory simulation may provide various advantages but no published simulation concept was found which fulfills all criteria relevant to the desired multiscale simulation of battery production. The majority of developed simulation concepts were designed for discrete production scenarios which allows an adaptation to battery production. Some concepts also include aspects relevant for a multiscale simulation of battery production, such as the combined analysis of production activity and TBS. However, only very few simulations directly address battery production (e.g. Li et al. 2014).

Furthermore, none of the reviewed simulations supports all planning perspectives. Some simulations aim at supporting operational and tactical decisions such as the combined evaluation of schedules and production system configuration (e.g. ENOPA). Other simulations allow the evaluation of production system performance combined with strategic planning tasks such as LCA (e.g. Sproedt 2013), factory planning (e.g. INFO) or product design (e.g. Seow and Rahimifard 2011).

The review has also shown that coupled or integrated simulation approaches either consider larger or smaller scales. Simulations linking the modeling of the building and TBS with production operations in general simplify the process and product scale and use abstract models of machines. Simulations considering the process physics or product states and traditional production objectives within a process chain usually do not consider the building environment or TBS in greater details. Overall, no simulation application combined detailed models for all scales.

In addition, the results show that only very few simulation concepts address methodological issues regarding the application of coupled or co-simulation for production systems. No publication was found in the context of production system simulation which provides a defined framework for structuring simulation models, a definition of relevant system parameters, state variables, and variables for data exchange between models. The only concept aiming in this direction was published by (Leobner et al. 2011) who defined the relevant system elements but without specifying how these elements has to be modeled and which information has to be exchanged. Wetter (2010) present detailed concepts for co-simulation in the context of building simulation which could be transferred to production system simulation.

Similar, no reviewed simulation concept allows an integrated evaluation of technological, economic, and environmental objectives. The majority of the found simulations address the energy demand of production equipment and consequently – since energy contributes to the production costs – a combined evaluation of economic and environmental objectives. Only very few simulations aimed at the evaluation of the product quality in correspondence with process parameters (e.g. Brecher et al. 2009 and Li et al. 2014) but they neglect economic or environmental objectives. And although the idea of PMI is transferable to battery production (and in particular to cell production), the reviewed simulation concepts (e.g. Witt 2007) focused on machining or forming processes which is of limited relevance for battery production.

Furthermore, the reviewed simulation applications show no evident structure regarding the relations between the addressed objectives (economic, environmental, quality), production system scales (product, process, machine, process chain, TBS, and building) and the used simulation approaches (DE, DS, AB, SD, and cosimulation). This information would support developers of multiscale simulation in selecting the best suitable simulation approach for their objectives. Figure 3.2 presents these findings by showing the research contributions on the left, simulation approaches on the right at the top, objectives on the right in the middle, and scales on the right at the bottom. The lines indicate the relations and the line color is inherited from either the simulation approaches, objectives, or scales. The figure shows that DE and DS are the dominating simulation approaches whereas DS is mostly used for simulations considering low or high production system scales. DE is used in most of the simulations except for the lowest or highest scales. Co-simulation is not often used and only applied in simulations considering small or large scales. Economic and environmental objectives are equally often addressed while product quality is neglected in most simulations. Accordingly, the product scale is not considered in many simulations. It can be seen that the lines from different scales do not intersect very often. Since the contributions are ordered from small to large scales, this means that simulations mostly address only one or few different scales. The figure shows that the scales machine and process chain are most considered. Overall, most



Fig. 3.2 Radial chart of the connections between research contributions, objectives, simulation approaches, and addressed scales of production systems

of the reviewed simulations use DE and DS simulation to address economic and environmental objectives by considering interlinked machines.

Although the reviewed research contributions provide various relevant concepts and modeling solutions for production system simulation, there is still further research demand towards the desired multiscale simulation of battery production systems.

In this context, the most relevant demand refers to the **combination of a detailed multiscale co-simulation of a production system** including TBS and the building (e.g. as in project INFO or Bleicher et al. 2014) with a process chain simulation (for different process chain configurations, such as in Thiede 2012) for the coordination of machine operation in interaction with TBS. The machines within such process chain model must be modeled in greater detail (e.g. as in Abele et al. 2015 or Weinert et al. 2011) to be able to evaluate the influence of different machine parameters or configurations on system level. The process chain model must further be able to evaluate traditional production objectives such as throughput time and output. This is important for the evaluation of economic objectives and so far neglected in detailed co-simulations which focus mostly on energy demands.

Furthermore, a stronger emphasis has to be put on the product perspective. The product quality must be included in a multiscale simulation. For this reason, it must be possible to describe the influences of processes on characteristics of product units. This requires detailed physical process models or simplified parameter models (see Brecher et al. 2009) which determine the process results for each product units based on product type specific process parameters. These process models - or cosimulations combining models for processes and machines – must be connectable to the process chain model to get information about the required processing of a specific product type. Moreover, the evaluation of the product quality along the process chain is of great interest. For this reason it must be possible to trace the characteristics of each product units through the process chain. This feature was not found in any of the reviewed process chain simulations. It requires product units to be individual entities and not just events as in DE simulation. In addition to the tracking of product characteristics, it should be possible to determine the specific demands of materials and energy for each product unit (similar to Seow and Rahimifard 2011). This fosters the evaluation of environmental impacts.

Multiple planning perspectives can be addressed by a **modular model structure** in which sub-models can be exchanged or added in order to achieve suitable results for operational, tactical, or strategic planning tasks. At an early planning stage, models must not be too detailed but operational decisions may require very accurate results in high resolution. In this regard, co-simulation seems promising for creating a modular structure. However, required is a framework for structuring the different models as well as guidelines for model specification and co-simulation design.

## References

- E. Abele, C. Eisele, and S. Schrems. Simulation of the Energy Consumption of Machine Tools for a Specific Production Task. In *Leveraging Technol. a Sustain. World*, pages 233–237. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012.
- E. Abele, S. Braun, and P. Schraml. Holistic Simulation Environment for Energy Consumption Prediction of Machine Tools. *Procedia CIRP*, 29:251–256, 2015. ISSN 22128271. doi:10.1016/ j.procir.2015.02.059.
- M. H. Agha, R. Thery, G. Hetreux, A. Hait, and J. M. Le Lann. Integrated production and utility system approach for optimizing industrial unit operations. *Energy*, 35(2):611–627, 2010. ISSN 03605442. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2009.10.032.
- S. Allu, S. Kalnaus, W. Elwasif, S. Simunovic, J. a. Turner, and S. Pannala. A new open computational framework for highly-resolved coupled three-dimensional multiphysics simulations of Li-ion cells. J. Power Sources, 246:876–886, 2014. ISSN 03787753. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour. 2013.08.040.
- J. C. Aurich, D. Biermann, H. Blum, C. Brecher, C. Carstensen, B. Denkena, F. Klocke, M. Kröger, P. Steinmann, and K. Weinert. Modelling and simulation of process: machine interaction in grinding. *Prod. Eng.*, 3(1):111–120, 2009. ISSN 0944-6524. doi:10.1007/s11740-008-0137-x.
- P. D. Ball, M. Despeisse, S. Evans, R. M. Greenough, S. B. Hope, R. Kerrigan, A. Levers, P. Lunt, V. Murray, M. R. Oates, R. Quincey, L. Shao, T. Waltniel, and A. J. Wright. Factory modelling: Combining energy modelling for buildings and production systems. *IFIP Adv. Inf. Commun. Technol.*, 397:158–165, 2013.
- F. Bleicher, F. Duer, I. Leobner, I. Kovacic, B. Heinzl, and W. Kastner. Co-simulation environment for optimizing energy efficiency in production systems. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 63(1):441– 444, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.122.
- C. Brecher, M. Esser, and S. Witt. Interaction of manufacturing process and machine tool. CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol., 58(2):588–607, 2009. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2009.09.005.
- Y. Chen, L. Gu, and J. Zhang. EnergyPlus and CHAMPS-Multizone co-simulation for energy and indoor air quality analysis. *Build. Simul.*, 8(4):371–380, 2015. ISSN 1996-3599. doi:10.1007/ s12273-015-0211-1.
- S. Cho. A distributed time-driven simulation method for enabling real-time manufacturing shop floor control. *Comput. Ind. Eng.*, 49(4):572–590, 2005. ISSN 03608352. doi:10.1016/j.cie.2005. 08.003.
- M. Colledani and T. Tolio. Integrated process and system modelling for the design of material recycling systems. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 62(1):447–452, 2013. ISSN 00078506. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2013.03.046.
- M. Despeisse, P. D. Ball, and S. Evans. Modelling and Tactics for Sustainable Manufacturing: an Improvement Methodology. In G. Seliger, editor, *Sustain. Manuf. Shap. Glob. Value Creat.* Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012.
- M. Despeisse, M. R. Oates, and P. D. Ball. Sustainable manufacturing tactics and cross-functional factory modelling. *J. Clean. Prod.*, 42:31–41, 2013. ISSN 09596526. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2012. 11.008.
- W. Du, N. Xue, W. Shyy, and J. R. R. A. Martins. A Surrogate-Based Multi-Scale Model for Mass Transport and Electrochemical Kinetics in Lithium-Ion Battery Electrodes. J. Electrochem. Soc., 161(8):E3086–E3096, 2014. ISSN 0013-4651. doi:10.1149/2.013408jes.
- F. Dür, T. Flatz, I. Kovacic, L. Waltenberger, D. Wiegand, S. Emrich, I. Leobner, T. Bednar, K. Eder, W. Kastner, W. Kastner, B. Heinzl, K. Kiesel, and K. Liesel. INFO – Interdisziplinäre Forschung zur Energieoptimierung in Fertigungsbetrieben. Technical report, TU Wien, Wien, 2013.
- C. Eisele. Simulationsgestützte Optimierung des elektrischen Energiebedarfs spanender Werkzeugmaschinen. Shaker, 2014. ISBN 978-3-8440-3270-3.
- ENOPA. Verbundvorhaben ENOPA: Energieeffizienz durch optimierte Abstimmung von Produktion und TGA Schlussbericht. Förderkennzeichen BMWi 0327422A. Verbund-Nr. 01055553, 2011.

- I. Hafner, M. Rössler, B. Heinzl, A. Körner, F. Breitenecker, M. Landsiedl, and W. Kastner. Using BCVTB for Co-Simulation between Dymola and MATLAB for Multi-Domain Investigations of Production Plants. In *Proc. 9th Int. Model. Conf.*, pages 557–564, Munich, nov 2012. doi:10.3384/ecp12076557.
- I. Hafner, M. Rößler, B. Heinzl, A. Körner, M. Landsiedl, and F. Breitenecker. Investigating communication and step-size behaviour for co-simulation of hybrid physical systems. *J. Comput. Sci.*, 5(3):427–438, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.jocs.2013.08.007.
- J. Heilala, S. Vatanen, H. Tonteri, J. Montonen, S. Lind, B. Johansson, and J. Stahre. Simulationbased sustainable manufacturing system design. In *Winter Simul. Conf.*, pages 1922–1930, 2008. ISBN 9781424427086.
- B. Heinzl, M. Rossler, N. Popper, I. Leobner, K. Ponweiser, W. Kastner, F. Dur, F. Bleicher, and F. Breitenecker. Interdisciplinary Strategies for Simulation-Based Optimization of Energy Efficiency in Production Facilities. In 2013 UKSim 15th Int. Conf. Comput. Model. Simul., pages 304–309. IEEE, apr 2013. ISBN 978-1-4673-6421-8. doi:10.1109/UKSim.2013.115.
- C. Herrmann, S. Thiede, S. Kara, and J. Hesselbach. Energy oriented simulation of manufacturing systems Concept and application. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 60(1):45–48, jan 2011. ISSN 00078506. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011.03.127.
- J. Hesselbach, C. Herrmann, R. Detzer, L. Martin, S. Thiede, and B. Lüdemann. Energy Efficiency through optimized coordination of production and technical building services. In 15th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., number March, pages 17–19, 2008. ISBN 1877040673.
- J. Hesselbach. Energie-und klimaeffiziente Produktion. *Springer Vieweg*, page 367, 2012. doi:10. 1007/978-3-8348-9956-9.
- M. Junge. Simulationsgestützte Entwicklung und Optimierung einer energieeffizienten Produktionssteuerung. Kassel university press GmbH, Kassel, 2007. ISBN 978-3-89958-301-9.
- J. Kaiser, V. Wenzel, H. Nirschl, B. Bitsch, N. Willenbacher, M. Baunach, M. Schmitt, S. Jaiser, P. Scharfer, and W. Schabel. Prozess- und Produktentwicklung von Elektroden für Li-Ionen-Zellen. *Chemie-Ingenieur-Technik*, 86(5):695–706, 2014. doi:10.1002/cite.201300085.
- I. Kovacic, K. Orehounig, A. Mahdavi, F. Bleicher, A.-A. Dimitrou, and L. Waltenberger. Energy Efficient Production – Interdisciplinary, Systemic Approach through Integrated Simulation. *Strojarstvo*, 55(1):17–34, 2013.
- I. Leobner, K. Ponweiser, G. Neugschwandtner, and W. Kastner. Energy Efficient Production A Holistic Modeling Approach. In 2011 World Congr. Sustain. Technol. (WCST), London, pages 62–67. IEEE, 2011.
- B. Li, X. Gao, J. Li, and C. Yuan. Life Cycle Environmental Impact of High Capacity Lithium Ion Battery with Silicon Nanowires Anode for Electric Vehicles. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 2014. ISSN 1520-5851. doi:10.1021/es4037786.
- S. Liang and X. Yao. Multi-level Modeling for Hybrid Manufacturing Systems Using Arena and MATLAB. 2008 Int. Work. Model. Simul. Optim., pages 155–159, 2008. doi:10.1109/WMSO. 2008.79.
- B. Löfgren and A.-M. Tillman. Relating manufacturing system configuration to life-cycle environmental performance: discrete-event simulation supplemented with LCA. J. Clean. Prod., 19(17-18):2015–2024, 2011. ISSN 09596526. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.07.014.
- J. L. Michaloski, G. Shao, J. Arinez, K. Lyons, S. Leong, and F. Riddick. Analysis of Sustainable Manufacturing Using Simulation for Integration of Production and Building Service. In SimAUD '11 Proc. 2011 Symp. Simul. Archit. Urban Des., pages 93–101, 2011.
- S. Mousavi, S. Thiede, W. Li, S. Kara, and C. Herrmann. An integrated approach for improving energy efficiency of manufacturing process chains. *Int. J. Sustain. Eng.*, 7038(January):1–14, 2015. ISSN 1939-7038. doi:10.1080/19397038.2014.1001470.
- M. Oates, A. Wright, R. Greenough, and L. Shao. A new modelling approach which combines energy flows in manufacturing with those in a factory building. In *Proc. Build. Simul. 2011 12th Conf. Int. Build. Perform. Simul. Assoc.*, pages 14–16, Sydney, 2011.

- C. Sagerschnig, D. Gyalistras, A. Seerig, and S. Prívara. Co-simulation for building controller development: the case study of a modern office building. In *CISBAT*, Lausanne, Switzerland, 2011.
- L. O. Schapp. Gekoppelte Simulation von Maschine und Prozess in der Massivumformung. Dissertation, RWTH Aachen, 2008.
- S. Schrems. Methode zur modellbasierten Integration des maschinenbezogenen Energiebedarfs in die Produktionsplanung. Shaker, 2014. ISBN 978-3844029994.
- Y. Seow and S. Rahimifard. A framework for modelling energy consumption within manufacturing systems. CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol., 4(3):258–264, jan 2011. doi:10.1016/j.cirpj.2011.03.007.
- S. Sicklinger, V. Belsky, B. Engelmann, H. Elmqvist, H. Olsson, R. Wüchner, and K.-U. Bletzinger. Interface Jacobian-based Co-Simulation. *Int. J. Numer. Methods Eng.*, 98(6):418–444, 2014. doi:10.1002/nme.4637.
- A. Sproedt. Decision-support for eco-efficiency improvements in production systems based on discrete-event simulation. Dissertation, ETH Zürich, 2013.
- A. Sproedt, J. Plehn, P. Schönsleben, and C. Herrmann. A simulation-based decision support for eco-efficiency improvements in production systems. J. Clean. Prod., pages 1–17, 2015. doi:10. 1016/j.jclepro.2014.12.082.
- B. Stahl, M. Taisch, A. Cannata, F. Müller, S. Thiede, C. Herrmann, A. Cataldo, and F. C. Antonio. Combined Energy, Material and Building Simulation for Green Factory Planning. In *Proc.* 20th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., pages 493–498, Singapore, 2013. Springer Singapore. doi:10.1007/978-981-4451-48-2\_80.
- T. Sweafford and H.-S. Yoon. Co-simulation of dynamic systems in parallel and serial model configurations. *J. Mech. Sci. Technol.*, 27(12):3579–3587, dec 2013. doi:10.1007/s12206-013-0909-x.
- S. Thiede. Energy Efficiency in Manufacturing Systems. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN 978-3-642-25913-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-25914-2.
- M. Trčka and J. L. M. Hensen. Overview of HVAC system simulation. Autom. Constr., 19:93–99, 2010. ISSN 09265805. doi:10.1016/j.autcon.2009.11.019.
- M. Trčka, J. L. Hensen, and M. Wetter. Co-simulation for performance prediction of integrated building and HVAC systems – An analysis of solution characteristics using a two-body system. *Simul. Model. Pract. Theory*, 18(7):957–970, 2010. ISSN 1569190X. doi:10.1016/j.simpat.2010. 02.011.
- A. Viel and P. Minimes. Implementing stabilized co-simulation of strongly coupled systems using the Functional Mock-up Interface 2.0. In *Proceeding 10th Int. Model.*, 2014. doi:10.3384/ ECP14096213.
- N. Weinert, S. Chiotellis, and G. Seliger. Methodology for planning and operating energy-efficient production systems. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 60(1):41–44, 2011. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011. 03.015.
- M. Wetter. Co-simulation of building energy and control systems with the Building Controls Virtual Test Bed. *J. Build. Perform. Simul.*, 4(3):185–203, sep 2010. doi:10.1080/19401493.2010. 518631.
- M. Wetter. A view on future building system modeling and simulation. *Build. Perform. Simul. Des. Oper.*, (i):1–28, 2011. doi:10.4324/9780203891612.
- C. Wieser, T. Prill, and K. Schladitz. Multiscale simulation process and application to additives in porous composite battery electrodes. *J. Power Sources*, 277:64–75, 2015. ISSN 0378-7753. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2014.11.090.
- A. Wills, C. A. Cruickshank, and I. Beausoleil-Morrison. Application of the ESP-r/TRNSYS cosimulator to study solar heating with a single-house scale seasonal storage. *Energy Procedia*, 30:715–722, 2012. doi:10.1016/j.egypro.2012.11.081.
- S. T. Witt. Integrierte Simulation von Maschine, Werkstück und spanendem Fertigungsprozess. Shaker, 2007. ISBN 978-3832268107.

- A. J. Wright, M. R. Oates, and R. Greenough. Concepts for dynamic modelling of energy-related flows in manufacturing. *Appl. Energy*, 112:1342–1348, 2013. ISSN 03062619. doi:10.1016/j. apenergy.2013.01.056.
- S. Yu, S. Kim, T. Y. Kim, J. H. Nam, and W. I. Cho. Model Prediction and Experiments for the Electrode Design Optimization of LiFePO 4/Graphite Electrodes in High Capacity Lithium-ion Batteries. *Bull. Korean Chem. Soc.*, 34(1):79–88, 2013. ISSN 0253-2964. doi:10.5012/bkcs.2013. 34.1.79.
- R. Zhang, K. P. Lam, S.-c. Yao, and Y. Zhang. Coupled EnergyPlus and computational fluid dynamics simulation for natural ventilation. *Build. Environ.*, 68:100–113, oct 2013. ISSN 03601323. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.04.002.

# **Chapter 4 Multiscale Simulation Modeling Concept for Battery Production Systems**

The purpose of a multiscale simulation of battery production systems is enabling an integrated evaluation of improvement measures regarding production costs, product quality, and environmental impacts, as well as gaining interdisciplinary system understanding. Figure 4.1 illustrates how different disciplines can use a multiscale simulation to evaluate their specific improvement measures virtually and receive results indicating the related impacts on system level.

This chapter covers the development of a multiscale simulation concept for battery production systems which is the basis for a later implementation of such simulation within software. The goal of this concept is supporting the development of a multiscale simulation and to develop specialized simulation models considering the required inputs and outputs for the use within the multiscale simulation. The review of the state of research has shown that such concept is not available but that the demand for multiscale production simulation is strong. The resulting research demand and the motivation for a detailed analysis of battery production systems led to a set of objectives for the desired simulation concept (Sect. 4.1). Based on the identified objectives and derived requirements, the simulation concept was developed by defining the system boundaries and a model framework (Sect. 4.2), describing the content and logic of the identified relevant models (Sects. 4.3 and 4.4), selecting suitable model coupling strategies and variables for data exchange (Sect. 4.5), and defining the achievable results (Sect. 4.6). Finally, an application procedure is suggested which describes how a specific multiscale simulation could be developed (Sect. 4.7).

# 4.1 Objectives and Requirements

In general, objectives (O) describe what should be achieved and requirements (R) describe what has to be done to fulfill the objectives. The derivation of objectives was

59

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_4


Fig. 4.1 Scheme of a multiscale simulation of battery production systems

based on a deductive approach and the identified objectives were transformed into specific requirements for the multiscale simulation. The objectives and requirements are grouped according to the topics simulation structure, simulation objectives, model architecture, model specification, and cooperative employment.

## Simulation Structure

The main objective of this simulation concept is providing the theoretical foundation for the development of a software-based multiscale simulation environment. The concept has to define the fundamental structure of the simulation approach which has to be flexibly applicable to different configurations of production systems for different product types  $[O_1]$ . The simulation must be usable for electrode and cell production (independent of a specific cell type such as LIB or next generation cells) as well as for module and system assembly  $[O_2]$ . Also it has to consider multiple goals for the improvement of these production stages  $[O_3]$ . These superordinate objectives lead to the following requirements.

- $\mathbf{R}_1$  Definition of system boundaries of the simulation approach regarding content of the simulation, desired results, and use cases.
- $\mathbf{R}_2$  Definition of production system elements which are required for integration into the multiscale simulation.
- $\mathbf{R}_3$  Elaboration of the spatial and temporal scales required to represent the behavior and interactions of elements within the hierarchical structure of production systems according to the desired results.
- $\mathbf{R}_4$  Formation of a framework for clustering of models for production system elements and information flows between models considering the hierarchy of production systems.
- $\mathbf{R}_5$  Realization of a flexible model structure to model all production stages.

## Simulation Objectives

The simulation approach targets the interlinked improvement of production costs, product quality, and environmental impacts of batteries and their components [O<sub>4</sub>].

These tasks depend on the derivation and simultaneous evaluation of improvement measures. The simulation shall support these tasks by creating transparency about the production system behavior  $[O_5]$ . This requires the

- $\mathbf{R}_6$  definition of production stage specific performance indicators for technological, economic, and environmental evaluation, as well as the
- $\mathbf{R}_7$  derivation of state variables and parameters of simulation models needed for the calculation of the defined performance indicators.

## Model Architecture

Based on these indicators and variables, the concept has to specify the functionality of the multiscale simulation environment in alignment with the involved models and desired simulation results [O<sub>6</sub>]. This requires the

- $\mathbf{R}_8$  selection of required models for the detailed simulation of production system elements, and the
- $\mathbf{R}_9$  detailing of all models regarding their inputs and results as well as the inherent model type (e.g. empirical vs. physical) and logic.<sup>1</sup>

## Model Specification

It is necessary to specify the simulation models in order to get desired results. This includes the model functions for the evaluation of traditional economic production objectives and environmental impacts [O<sub>7</sub>]. This leads to the following required functions of a multiscale simulation.

- $\mathbf{R}_{10}$  Simulation of material flows of jobs through a process chain.
- $\mathbf{R}_{11}$  Characterization of finished jobs by production time, used resources, date and time stamps, as well as value adding and non-value adding time shares.
- $\mathbf{R}_{12}$  Consideration of blocking, starving and machine failures to imitate a realistic system behavior.
- $\mathbf{R}_{13}$  Simulation of energy demands of all equipment based on load profiles which enable determining environmental impacts related to energy generation as well as energy costs.
- $\mathbf{R}_{14}$  Simulation of used quantities per material type and amount of scrap materials for calculation of material costs and the amount of used and wasted materials.

Moreover, the simulation shall enable identifying the relevant product characteristics and product specific influences on the production system  $[O_8]$ . Also it should allow the analysis of cause-effect relationships between processes and product characteristics (e.g. process tolerances) along a process chain  $[O_9]$ . This requires:

 $\mathbf{R}_{15}$  a product model which allows tracing the product characteristics of semifinished work pieces and products during production (this has to include product specifications, the current state of production, and product characteristics).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The logic refers to the characteristics of the modeled element as well as the type and structure of relations between parameters, variables, and performance indicators (e.g. equations or parameter-based relations).

- $\mathbf{R}_{16}$  product instances to have individual values for characteristics to enable the analysis of deviations of characteristics (this is needed to store information about process tolerances and the effects on product characteristics).
- $\mathbf{R}_{17}$  the definition of product type specific process routing and required processes.

In order to analyze cause-effect relationships and trade offs, it is important to simulate the interactions between the production system activities and the operation of installed equipment along with the specifications and the characteristics of products  $[O_{10}]$ . The simulation must enable to perform different experiments to evaluate the impacts of improvement measures, product designs, and production strategies on system level  $[O_{11}]$ . The results of these experiments have to be easy to interpret and to create transparency about the system behavior. This requires

- $\mathbf{R}_{18}$  multiscale modeling of effects and relations between machines, auxiliary equipment, TBS, and the environment inside a building.
- $\mathbf{R}_{19}$  a process chain model to determine the activity in a production system.
- $\mathbf{R}_{20}$  adaptable simulation periods to identify effects on different temporal scales.
- $\mathbf{R}_{21}$  adjustable model parameters to define specific production system scenarios.
- $\mathbf{R}_{22}$  visualization of variables and performance indicators over time.
- $\mathbf{R}_{23}$  specific report layouts for different performance indicators and stakeholders.

Cooperative Employment

The simulation concept shall facilitate the cooperation of experts from different domains and disciplines by combining their knowledge into one simulation approach, based on specialized models  $[O_{12}]$ . The concept has to provide guidance on how a multiscale simulation environment has to be developed, employed, and maintained  $[O_{13}]$ . Moreover, the concept has to be independent from a specific software or model implementation  $[O_{14}]$ . This requires

- $\mathbf{R}_{24}$  a definition of the information exchange and interfaces between models (regarding required inputs from and outputs to other models).
- $\mathbf{R}_{25}$  knowledge about model coupling in the context of production systems.
- $\mathbf{R}_{26}$  a procedure for the development and employment of a multiscale simulation including the development of each suggested model type.

The presented objectives and requirements for the multiscale simulation concept are the starting point for the modeling framework development and the specification of individual models.

## 4.2 Modeling Framework Development

The purpose of the multiscale modeling framework is supporting the selection and structuring of simulation models based on defined system boundaries of the simulation as well as on the hierarchy and scales of battery production systems.

62

## 4.2.1 System Boundaries and Scope

The definition of system boundaries and the scope of the simulation is an important prerequisite for determining the simulation content, the model inputs and outputs, the simulation goals and desired results, as well as the involved stakeholders. System boundaries define which aspects of battery production have to be included in a simulation and the scope describes the challenges and related planning tasks.

The starting point of the definition of system boundaries and associated scope is the analysis of the production stages of battery production: electrode and cell production as well as module and system assembly (see Sect. 2.1.3). The production of electrodes and cells involves chemical and physical processes in a defined sequential order but without an uniform tact time due to a large spread of processing times. The order of processes is identical for all product variants and the number of electrode or cell variants per process chain is low. The processes need specialized machines and peripheral equipment for media supply or to maintain particular ambient conditions (e.g. temperature or humidity). The major challenges in cell production are the selection of suitable equipment, identification and evaluation of cause-effect relationships between processes and product quality, determination of optimal process parameters, analysis of energy efficiency measures, as well as the elimination of bottlenecks in order to achieve a full utilization of expensive resources.

The module and system assembly consists of various automated or manual handling and assembly tasks which can be very different depending on the design of modules and systems. In contrast to the rather predefined production of electrodes and cells, there are many possible sequences for the assembly of modules or systems (Li et al. 2011). And due to a high product variety, the sequence of processes can be different for each job. Consequently, the material flow of jobs through the assembly system is not predetermined and can be subject to optimization regarding a short tact time. In contrast to electrode and cell production, there are no strict requirements regarding building ambient conditions. The influences of the actual processes on product quality is relatively low compared to the influences of processes in cell production. However, the characteristics of the used cells also determine the performance of an entire battery system. This leads to the necessity to also consider product characteristics in the assembly of modules and systems. This also allows using simulation to evaluate selective assembly strategies, which aim at combining most compatible cells into one module (Schmitt et al. 2014).

The planning tasks differ for cell production and system assembly. While in the first the focus of improvements lies on product quality, energy efficiency, and resource utilization, the focus in the second lies on achieving a high assembly system utilization and reduced throughput times while handling a high product variety with high volumes. High product variety is a challenge if variants require different processing times for the same production steps. Hence, the line balancing problem is more relevant in the module and system assembly as it is for electrode and cell production. These different improvement goals lead to the conclusion that it is



Fig. 4.2 System boundaries and scope

reasonable to differentiate system boundaries for cell production and battery system assembly. Figure 4.2 summarizes the system boundaries and the respective scope.

## 4.2.2 Hierarchy and Scales

The system boundaries determine the battery production system elements which have to be included in a multiscale simulation. In addition, the framework needs to incorporate the hierarchical structure of these elements and their associated scales in order to specify the required flows of information between simulation models.

The existing hierarchy concepts (see Sect. 2.1.2) use different levels for their description of a production system which represent different scales. Spatial scales refers to the size and geometrical extend of a production system element as well as to the organizational allocation and relations of system elements. As an example, a production machine is on a smaller spatial scale compared to a process chain or the factory building. A machine is also part of a process chain and a process chain is contained in a building. Another example is the allocation of TBS to single or multiple machines, a process chain, or the building. TBS are on larger spatial scale than the machines but on smaller scale than the building.

In addition to spatial scales, the hierarchical framework for simulation models has to consider different temporal scales since the response time and the relevant evaluation periods differ for various system elements. Consequently, it is necessary to derive the framework based on relevant spatial and temporal scales.

The main activity of production systems is creating products which is in general described by input-throughput-output processes. Batteries and battery components require many processes which transform a current product state to the next desired state by using machines, energy, and material. Machines, processes, and products are the elements on the smallest spatial and temporal scales of a production system. This means that the smallest value adding unit within a production system consists of a machine, a processes, and a product. This unit is illustrated in Fig. 4.3. A product is transformed from product state *n* to state n + 1 by a process which is defined





and characterized by process parameters. A machine is used for the execution of the process.

The combination of processes and related machines to process chains represents the second spatial scale. Regarding the temporal scales, the duration of single processes usually ranges from seconds to hours. The production of one product can take hours and the production of multiple products (e.g. of a job with a specific quantity of product units) can be measured in hours or days. The operation and performance of process chains or multi-machine environments depends on schedules and the production program which are valid for days, weeks, or months.

On higher scales, TBS can be differentiated between building related services (e.g. energy supply, ventilation, or lighting) and process related services (e.g. compressed air supply).<sup>2</sup> For this reason, TBS are allocated to a spatial scale between process chains and the building shell. Regarding the temporal dimension, TBS cover a larger time spectrum. The interaction of TBS with processes has to be analyzed within intervals of seconds. The energy supply peak load is determined for intervals of 15 min. Temperature and humidity in a building change continuously but relatively slowly within hours creating heating, cooling, or dehumidification demands. The demands of processes (e.g. compressed air or air suction) can vary depending on the utilization of the production systems which can change during weeks or months. Thus, TBS systems have to be observed on different time scales.

The building is on the largest spatial scale of a production system. It contains all equipment and products and is exposed to the outside environmental conditions such as temperatures or humidity. These conditions depend on the season and the location of a building. The relation between the outside conditions and the inside ambient conditions is influenced by the building construction and the operation of HVAC systems. Consequently, the energy demands of HVAC systems depends on the outside conditions and its analysis requires a larger time scale in order to account for seasonal effects. Figure 4.4 illustrates the arrangement of production system elements within the spatial and temporal scales.

The structure of spatial and temporal scales is the foundation for the framework which defines of relevant simulation models within a multiscale simulation and their interactions within the defined system boundaries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Sometimes the term TBS is also used equivalent to auxiliary equipment of machines such as a decentralized cooling system. This equipment is directly related to single machines and not allocated to TBS. It is suggested to be included within the modeling of the related machine.



Fig. 4.4 Spatial and temporal scales of production systems (pc: process, m: machine)

## 4.2.3 Multiscale Model Framework

The framework clusters models for production system elements, defines interfaces, and proposes a lean flow of information between models. It has a generic character which allows using it as a foundation for multiscale simulations for any type of production systems. Consequently, it can be used and adapted for both the production of cells and the assembly of modules or systems. Figure 4.5 illustrates the framework which consists of layered model categories, exemplary model instances, and indicated information flows. The most upper layer - containing models for machines, processes, and intermediate or final products - represents the smallest spatial and temporal scale of a production system. While going to lower layers of the framework, the spatial and temporal scales increase according to the arrangement in Fig. 4.4. Machines are part of a process chain and operated by workers. The process chain model is the core of the multiscale model structure and it describes the material flow within a multi-machine environment. Furthermore, it coordinates the information flow between models on different scales. A process chain is supplied by machine related TBS. Other TBS are related to the operation of the building and models of these TBS system interact with the building model on the lowest framework layer.

The models are embedded in an infrastructure for model coupling which provides the interfaces and data sources required by the models to interact with each other. Inputs into the framework are data needed for developing and configuring the individual models. Examples are data about machines (e.g. energy demands), product bills of material, routing of products, machine allocation, or the construction of the building. Outputs of the multiscale simulation are diverse results which have to be evaluated and visualized.

The following chapters describe the different elements of the multiscale simulation framework in the order indicated by the numbers in Fig. 4.5.

ouilding	zone 1	zone 2	zone	
technical bui	ilding services	machine related TBS <b>TBS</b> <sub>m</sub> <b>TBS</b> <sub>m</sub>	building related TBS	6
process c	hain	electrode & cell production	module & pack assembly	1
→ machir	nes machine	machine 	machine MN W	orkers orker
proces	ses process	process	process	orker
produc	rts product model	state > state	e nps-1 state nps	vorker wn
	raw materials		finished product	4
			1	

Fig. 4.5 Framework for multiscale simulation of production systems

# 4.3 Process Chain Model (1)

The process chain model imitates a multi-machine environment and acts as the coordinator of product specific production activities. One function is determining the schedules of machines and the routing of jobs through the production system in order to derive demands for TBS as well as the related effects on the building environment. For this purpose, it gathers and aggregates information from all machines to determine demands for supplying units such as related TBS. More specifically, the model represents the operation of machines to consider their availability, aggregate the values of state variables of machines (e.g. power demand), to generate performance indicators, to incorporate different production strategies and product routing, and to coordinate the flow of product units between machines according to machine allocation and schedules. With these functions, the model imitates the dynamics on the "shop floor" by coordinating the system elements according to the production program and defined production rules. The model further allows to examine the movement of product units for tracing product characteristics and the impacts of different product types and production activities on performance indicators (e.g. utilization, energy demands). Furthermore, the model collects information and acts as a hub for information exchange with other models.

## 4.3.1 Process Chain Elements

The process chain model, based on an object oriented approach, allows modeling of a process chain which consists of a number mn of machines or workstations<sup>3</sup> MACH<sub>mn</sub>, each with a buffer  $B_{mn}$  with buffer capacity  $bac_{mn}$ . Machines are located on a virtual shop floor according to a defined layout. The process chain can be configured to produce a number *ptn* of different product types  $PT_{ptn}$  such as variants of anodes, cathodes, or cells. The production of each product type needs a finite sequence of production steps  $(PS_{ntn})$ . As an example, the production of an anode requires the production steps mixing, coating and drying, calendering and separation. Hence, the production steps indicate the sequence of required processes<sup>4</sup> where  $nps_{ptn}$  is the total number of production steps of product type  $PT_{ptn}$  ( $PS_{ptn} = \{PS_{ptn,1}, PS_{ptn,2}, \dots, PS_{ptn,nps_{nm}}\}$ ). Each production step has to be assigned to at least one machine. Vice versa, the available machines must be able to perform all production steps of all product types. The allocation of production steps to machines may depend on the machine configuration, dimensions or work space, tools, and peripheral equipment. The allocation determines the routing of a product units through the production system during production.

The routing of product units during production is different for batch or single unit production. Batch production means that an entire job  $J_{jn}$  (with job number jn) is produced on one machine simultaneously or until all product units of the job are done with processing. A flow of single product units means that the first product unit of a job is forwarded to the next machine as soon as it is done with processing. The second product unit starts processing as soon as the first leaves the machine. A job is finished if all product units have completed all production steps. Combining batch and single product flow within one simulation is not common since – in traditional DE process chain simulation – the flow of same types of entities (batches or single product units) is usually represented by occurring events. However, battery cell production contains batch and single unit processes. Consequently, the process chain model must be able to simulate the flow of batches and single product units as well as diverging and converging flows. For this reason, so-called processing units  $PU_{pun}^{ptn}$ are introduced to the process chain model. Processing units are characterized by a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The term workstation is used if no specific dedicated machine is utilized for a productions step. This might be the case in assembly systems relying on manual labor. It is usually not the case in fully automated series production.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The differentiation between productions steps and processes is proposed since same processes can be required multiple times for the production of a product type but with other process parameters and utilized machines. A described sequence of production steps avoids confusion about which specific processes are actually required.



Fig. 4.6 Process chain structure with machines (MACH), buffers (B), material flows (MF), and processing units (PU)

number *pun* and an associated product type (*ptn*). Processing units can represent batches or single product units and they are the modeled entities which actually move to machines during simulation until all related production steps are completed. Using processing units allows modeling the flow of a batch from machine to machine (as one processing units) as well as the individual flow of several product units (as several processing units) related to one job. This model structure makes it possible to utilize multiple machines simultaneously by processing units related to one job which reflects a realistic system behavior. Figure 4.6 shows an exemplary process chain configuration consisting of machines with buffers and processing units with the related material flows  $MF_{cmn,nmn}$  from the current machine (number of current machine *cmn*) to the next machine (number of next machine *nmn*). Each material flow is characterized by distance and velocity of the transport of a processing unit between two machines.<sup>5</sup>

For each job which has multiple assigned processing units, it has to be specified which processing unit has to be finished before a consecutive processing unit can be created. For example, in battery production electrodes are produced in batches. The resulting semi-finished product after these processes is an electrode coil from which electrode sheets are cut out. So far, an electrode batch can be represented by one processing unit. Next, a number of anodes and cathodes are used to create a cell. Each cell of a job individually travels through the machines until completion. Each cell is represented by one processing unit. Overall, a job of a specific quantity of cells starts with the batch production of electrodes and finishes when the last cell is completed. During system assembly, a number of cells is used to assemble a module and a number of modules is used to assemble a system. Figure 4.7 shows the relations of processing units for the stages of battery production. The routing of these processing units depends on the allocation of production steps to machines, the configuration of the process chain, and the selected control strategy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The possible velocity depends on the product type (e.g. size, weight), handling equipment and conditions such as obstacles (e.g. doors, air locks, slopes). The distance depends on the machines locations within a defined shop floor coordinate system.



Fig. 4.7 Structure of processing units for cell production and system assembly

# 4.3.2 Process Chain Configurations and Control Strategies

The process chain model must have a flexible structure to simulate the sequential production steps of electrode and cell production as well as flexible material flows in module and system assembly. As explained in Sect. 2.1.2, there are different types of material flow (e.g. diverging or converging) and production principles (e.g. job shop or line) of which the suitability depends on the product type. According to the product-process matrix presented by Hayes and Wheelwright (1979), job shop and disconnected line configurations are suitable for few unique product types with low volumes whereas continuous and connected line configurations are suitable for high volumes of standardized products. Flexible and agile production systems aim at handling high volumes of multiple product types (e.g. Langer and Alting 2000; Hu et al. 2011). An example of an agile process chain configuration is the matrixstructured configuration (Greschke and Herrmann 2014). Thus, the process chain model needs an adaptable modeling structure for imitating different process chain configurations and related control strategies. This is required to replicate existing systems as realistic as possible and to model innovative configurations and control strategies. Relevant for battery production are sequential assembly lines or job shops layouts as well as flexible configurations such as matrix-structured process chains. Due to their innovative character, matrix-structured process chains are not yet covered in established simulation tools for material flow analysis.

Matrix-structures avoid a constant cycle time and equip machines in a way that each can be used for the processing of different production steps of several product types (Greschke 2016; Greschke and Herrmann 2014; Schönemann et al. 2015). The redundancy of machine capabilities allows a flexible flow of processing units and results in a higher utilization of the process chain. This configuration is proposed for handling a high product variety with uncertain demands for each product type. Hence, it may be a feasible configuration for module and system assembly.<sup>6</sup> Figure 4.8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In general, the feasibility of a matrix-structure configuration strongly depends on the specific product types which should be produced or assembled. The realization of a flexible routing may be difficult for large and heavy products and limited due to space restrictions. Further information about the concept of matrix-structured production systems and its application and evaluation is



Fig. 4.8 Comparison of a sequential line with a matrix-structured configuration and the possible material flows



Fig. 4.9 Simplified logic of processing unit flow

illustrates the comparison of a sequential line configuration with a matrix-structured configuration indicating the possible material flows.

In order to achieve the required adaptable and flexible modeling of different process chain configurations and control strategies, the routing of specific processing units is based on autonomous decisions of processing units regarding selecting the next machine instead of being predetermined in the model configuration. Whereas traditional DE process chain models typically connect machines or processes corresponding to static directional material flows, the proposed model treats machines and the flow of processing units independently. This can be realized by a hybrid DE and AB simulation approach in which machines and processing units are modeled as individual agents. Machines offer capabilities for the processing of production steps and processing units select suitable machines for each productions step. This logic enables to model any kind of process chain configuration and control strategy. Figure 4.9 illustrates the logic of the processing unit flow. Once a processing unit enters a process chain, it searches a suitable machine for the next production step. If one is found, the processing unit moves to the selected machine or its buffer. The processing starts after arrival or after the previous processing unit is finished. After completion of the production step, the processing unit searches a machine for the next production step or – if all production steps are completed – moves to the finish area. If no machine can be found and the processing unit is currently at a machine, the product unit cannot travel anywhere. In this case, the current machine is blocked until the product unit finds a next machine.

<sup>(</sup>Footnote 6 continued)

published for example in Greschke (2016), Greschke et al. (2014), Greschke and Herrmann (2014), and Schönemann et al. (2015).

Control strategies contain rules and criteria for the selection of suitable machines and have to consider the given process chain configuration. Examples of control strategies are "shortest distance" or "shortest throughput time" (Schönemann et al. 2015).

- **Shortest distance** The control strategy shortest distance aims at reducing the distance a processing unit has to travel through the process chain. After completion of a production step, a processing unit searches the next suitable machine based on the distance between the current location and the next machine. This strategy does not consider the overall lead time of a processing unit. This strategy might be favorable if the costs of transportation are high.
- **Shortest throughput time** The strategy shortest throughput time aims at short waiting times for each processing unit resulting in short overall throughput times and a high system utilization due to reduced idling times of machines. A processing unit selects a machine which offers the processing of the next production step in the shortest period of time. According to this strategy, first all machines are checked whether they can process the next production step. Next, all suitable ones are analyzed regarding the time until each station could start processing. This time depends on the state of a machine (e.g. idle or processing), the amount of other products in the buffer, and on other processing units having reserved the machine.<sup>7</sup> The strategy also considers the distance and velocity of the movement between the current location and the respective machine. The times until processing of all suitable machines are compared and the one with the shortest time until processing is selected.

Control algorithms based on these strategies require knowledge about the states and conditions of all machines. A processing unit has to know which machine is capable of processing the next production step, if a suitable machine is available (turned on, free, and not disturbed) or what the ramp-up time is, what the capacity or the current buffer level is, or how much remaining time it takes until the currently processed processing unit is completed. These dynamic properties are determined in models for each machine and provided as an input to the process chain model.

## $2 \rightarrow$ Input: properties and states of all machines from machine models.

In the other direction, the process chain model interacts with machine models by sending information about machine selection and arrival of processing units to models of machines which have been selected by a processing unit. This allows modeling the machine operations based on the dynamic scheduling and routing of jobs and related processing units.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>If a machine is currently in idle state and not reserved by other products, the time till processing is only determined by the movement. If a machine is currently processing another product, the remaining processing time as well as the processing times of products in the buffer has to be considered. If a machine is reserved by another processing unit, the time until processing is at least the time until the prior processing unit is finished.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **2**: information of processing unit flow and machine selection of processing units to machine models.

Control strategies have to consider different shift schedules. Often, facilities operate in two or three shifts per day each with defined working hours and break times. The process chain model has to define the working hours and rules about what happens with machines during non-working hours.

The described concept for process chain configuration and control strategies allows to model various kinds of process chains and material flows and to dynamically create schedules for machine operation which also influences the operation of TBS and workers.

## 4.3.3 State Variables and Indicators

Performance indicators are used to quantify the operation of a process chain and the surrounding infrastructure. They indicate the impacts of improvement measures and enable the comparison of different process chain configurations. The suggested indicators for this model are grouped into the categories energy flows, material inputs, costs of machine operation, as well as system utilization and processing unit flow.

#### 4.3.3.1 Energy Flows

The total energy demand is relevant for the energetic evaluation of a process chain as well as for determining the embodied energy of individual processing units and the average of the embodied energy. Thus, one purpose of the process chain model is aggregating energy demands related to the operation of machines and to allocate these demands to processing units.

Energy Demand of Process Chain

The total power demand (in kW) of a process chain and its infrastructure over time  $PD_{TOTAL}$  is the sum of the aggregated power demands of all machines ( $PD_{MACH}$ ) and the indirect power demand of the related TBS ( $PD_{TBS}$ ).

$$PD_{TOTAL}(t) = PD_{MACH}(t) + PD_{TBS}(t)$$
(4.1)

Figure 4.10 illustrates the considered energy flows related to machines and TBS for an exemplary building zone.

 $PD_{MACH}$  at time t is determined by summing up the power demands of all machines.

$$PD_{MACH}(t) = \sum_{mn=1}^{MN} PD_{MACH_{mn}}(t)$$
(4.2)

**Fig. 4.10** Energy flows (PD: power demand,  $\dot{Q}$ : heat flow, CAD: compressed air demand, CAG: compressed air generation) for an exemplary building



Since machines and other equipment demand energy not only during processing but also during non-productive times (Gutowski et al. 2006; Devoldere et al. 2007), it is important to consider the actual power demand over time instead of the average power demand. The power demands of machines must be provided by machine models.

2  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: power demand *PD*<sub>*MACH*<sub>*mn*</sub> from machine models.</sub>

 $PD_{TBS}$  is determined by summing up the power demands of TBS systems. For battery production, relevant TBS are lighting, compressed air generation (CAG), and HVAC of all building zones.

$$PD_{TBS}(t) = PD_{LIGHTS}(t) + PD_{CAG}(CAD_{MACH}, t) + PD_{HVAC}(\dot{Q}_{TOTAL}, t)$$
(4.3)

The first term refers to the power demand of lights which is determined by a lighting model considering the required lighting intensity and efficiency for all building zones.

**5** 
$$\rightarrow$$
 **Input**: power demand *PD*<sub>*LIGHTS*</sub> from lighting model.

Both the power demand of CAG and HVAC depend on different operational factors.  $PD_{CAG}$  depends on the compressed air demand  $CAD_{MACH}$  (in  $m^3/h$ ) which is calculated by summing up the demands of all machines.

$$CAD_{MACH}(t) = \sum_{mn=1}^{MN} CAD_{MACH_{mn}}(t)$$
(4.4)

This demand is forwarded to the CAG model for determining  $PD_{CAG}$ .

**2**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: compressed air demand  $CAD_{MACH_{mn}}$  from machine models. **Output** $\rightarrow$  **4**: total demand  $CAD_{MACH}$  to CAG model. The CAG model has to return the determined power demand (e.g. for compressors) which is caused by the operation required to provide the requested amount of compressed air. The CAG model further determines the pressure within the CAG system which is a relevant information for machines (if the pressure is too low, a machine may not be able to operate).

5 → Input: power demand *PD<sub>CAG</sub>* from the CAG model.
5 → Input: system pressure *cap* from the CAG model.

 $PD_{HVAC}$  depend – among other factors – on heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{TOTAL}$  to the building. That means that the process chain model has to aggregate the heat emissions from various sources and forward this information for determining the power demands for heating, cooling, and ventilation. Machines demand power which is transformed into heat and emitted to the building ( $\dot{Q}_{MACH}$ ).

**2**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{MACH_{mn}}$  from machine models.

Furthermore, lights are heat sources emitting heat ( $\dot{Q}_{LIGHTS}$ ) depending on the schedule (Ryckaert et al. 2010) and type of light source.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **5**: signals for turning lights on and off to the lighting model. **5**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{LIGHTS}$  from lighting model.

In addition, workers emit heat depending on their activity level (Harriman 2002). The behavior of workers, depending on required machine operation and schedules, can be modeled in more detail consider different levels of activity.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **4**: required activity of workers to worker models. **5**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: heat emissions of workers  $\dot{Q}_{WO}$  from worker models.

In general, heat can also be emitted by products (here: processing units) if their temperature is increased during processing (Wright et al. 2013). However, this is usually not relevant in battery production. Consequently, the total heat emissions can be calculated by summing up all heat emissions.

$$\dot{Q}_{TOTAL} = \dot{Q}_{MACH} + \dot{Q}_{LIGHTS} + \dot{Q}_{WO} \tag{4.5}$$

These heat emissions act as heat gains inside the building and may cause a temperature increase. Thus, the process chain model has to communicate the heat emissions to the building model which determines the resulting inside temperatures.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **6**: total heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{TOTAL}$  to building model.

The building model provides the indoor temperature to the HVAC model which calculates the required heating or cooling loads and the resulting power demand.

**5**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: power demand of HVAC system *PD*<sub>HVAC</sub> from HVAC model.

Besides electricity, HVAC systems often use gas or district heat for heating or dehumidification. These demands can also be collected within the process chain model.

Since the requirements regarding indoor environment (e.g. temperature, humidity, cleanness, illumination) are not necessarily the same for an entire building, it is proposed to define building zones with identical conditions.<sup>8</sup> Hence, heat emissions have to be allocated to building zones. This requires knowledge about the location of heat sources within the building. Machines can be allocated to zones based a process chain layout and lights can directly be associated to a zone. Workers, however, can move inside the building and across building zones. Worker models must be able to simulate the movement and location of all workers within the building.<sup>9</sup>

 $4 \rightarrow$  **Input**: current locations of workers from worker models.

The total power demand is base for the calculation of the total energy demand  $ED_{TOTAL}$  during a period of time ( $t_{start}$  until  $t_{finish}$ ).

$$ED_{TOTAL} = \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{finish}} PD_{TOTAL}(t) dt$$
(4.6)

This total energy demand can be further broken down into the used energy carriers. While machines, lighting, and compressed air generation usually require electric energy, energy for building heating is often generated from natural gas or provided as district heat. This breakdown of energy carriers as well as the related consumption pattern is important since different energy carriers may cause different energy costs (depending on the specific energy supply contract). As an example, industrial supply contracts for electricity often determine the costs considering the electrical peak power demand in addition to the total energy use differ for each energy carrier. For example, the equivalent  $CO_2$  emissions per generated kWh depend on the regional electricity mix.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The differentiation of building zones is common for building simulation and also suggested by Seow and Rahimifard (2011) for the allocation of indirect energy demands to specific processes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Tracking of heat flows from movable objects to the building is proposed by Wright et al. (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The equivalent CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from electricity generation in the German electricity mix in 2014 are  $0.609 \text{ kg CO}_2^{eq}$ /kWh (Umweltbundesamt 2015).



### Embodied Energy of Processing Units

With reference to Seow and Rahimifard (2011), the embodied energy of products is another interesting indicator. In the process chain model, the embodied energy of a processing unit is made up of the direct and indirect energy demands which are allocated to this unit. Direct energy demands are related to the actual value adding activity. Indirect energy demands are caused by non-value adding activities as well as the services and infrastructure needed to maintain the required conditions for the processing. Figure 4.11 illustrates the allocation of energy demands to the direct and indirect shares of embodied energy.

In the model, the direct embodied energy  $dee_{pun}$  of a processing unit is determined by integrating the power demands of the utilized machines<sup>11</sup> over the processing times (from  $t_{start,ps}$  to  $t_{finish,ps}$ ) of all production steps ( $ps = 1, ..., nps_{pin}$ ) of the particular processing unit divided by the quantity of processing units  $qpu_{MACH}$  which is simultaneously processed in a machine.

$$dee_{pun} = \frac{\sum_{ps=1}^{nps_{pin}} \int_{t_{starr,ps}}^{f_{finish,ps}} PD_{MACH} \, \mathrm{d}t}{qpu_{MACH}}$$
(4.7)

There are different strategies for allocating indirect energy demands from machines in idle state or peripheral equipment and TBS to the indirect embodied energy  $iee_{pun}$ of processing units. The process chain model allows to evaluate the impacts of different allocation strategies. One strategy is to subtract the sum on the direct embodied energy demands of all processing units being finished during an observed period of time from the total energy demand and to divide the remainder by the quantity of finished processing units *qfpu*.

$$iee_{pun} = \frac{ED_{TOTAL} - \sum dee_{pun}}{qfpu}$$
 (4.8)

It could also be the case, that compressed air is required for the actual processing of processing units. In this case, a share of the energy demand for compressed air

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In this model, energy demands of linked auxiliary equipment and services directly related to a machine during the processing state are also considered as direct energy demands.

generation could be assigned to the direct embodied energy of the certain processing units. Moreover, if not all processing units are being processed inside all building zones, it is also possible within the model to allocate the energy demands of building zones (e.g. of a dry room) only to processing units which were processed inside these zones. The allocation of indirect energy demands was discussed in detail by Posselt et al. (2014).

The embodied energy of a processing unit indicates how much energy was used for the production. If a processing unit is used to create another processing unit (e.g. cells are assembled into a module), the embodied energy has to be added to the embodied energy of the receiving processing unit. A breakdown of the embodied energy allows determining energetic hot-spots as well as evaluating impacts of process parameters (on direct energy demand) and production strategies such as different batch or buffer sizes (on indirect energy demand).

#### 4.3.3.2 Material Inputs

During processing, the transformation of a processing unit is carried out using energy and materials. For example, in the mixing process, diverse materials are fed into a mixer to create a viscous slurry. Since materials contribute to a large share of costs and environmental impacts of batteries, the evaluation of required materials is relevant. The process chain model can allocate consumed material fractions to processing units and determine the increase of material costs along the process chain. The model contains a set of material types  $MAT_{matn}$  (with number matn = 1, ..., MTN) and related prices  $MATP_{matn}$ . During processing, an amount of a material type  $mata_{matn}$ is added to the processing unit along with cost information. The material costs of a processing unit  $matc_{pun}$  can be calculated during production by multiplying the embodied amount of each material type with the unit price.

$$matc_{pun} = \sum_{matn=1}^{MATN} mata_{matn} \cdot MATP_{matn}$$
(4.9)

The necessary amount of each material per production step  $mata_{matn}^{PS_{pm,i}}$  can be defined for each process within the process chain model or within process models and provided to the process chain model.

**3**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: amount of each material type  $mata_{matn}^{PS_{pin,i}}$  for production step *i* of product type *ptn* from process models.

Beside direct material demands of processes, machines and processes often require indirect auxiliary materials such as lubricants or other media. These indirect material demands are determined within each machine and aggregated per auxiliary material type *AUXMAT*<sub>auxmatn</sub> on processes chain level. These demands can be allocated to processing units in the same manner as indirect energy demands.

**2**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: amount of each auxiliary material type *auxmata*<sub>*auxmatn*<sub>*mn*</sub> of all machines from machine models.</sub>

In a similar way, environmental impacts related to the amount of used material can be added to processing units for each material type. The environmental impact of materials can be represented by equivalent  $CO_2$  emissions (kg  $CO_2^{eq}/kg$ )). This allows determining the current environmental impacts cause by finished and semi-finished processing units at a specific point in time.

### 4.3.3.3 Costs of Machine Operation

The operation of machines induces fix and variable costs. Examples of fix costs are costs resulting from depreciation, interests, insurances, used building space, etc. Examples of variable costs are costs due to maintenance and repairs, energy demand, auxiliaries (e.g. lubricants), etc. To assign the costs of machine operation to a processing unit, machine-hour rates can be derived from the sum of all costs related to the operation of a machine divided by the annual usage of the machine (Plinke and Rese 2006). The process chain model allows to allocate defined machine-hour rates *MHR*<sub>mn</sub> for each machine (in EURO/h) to processing units depending on the time spent on a specific machine.

#### 4.3.3.4 System Utilization and Processing Unit Flow

The utilization of a process chain and the flow of processing units are relevant indicators for the economic evaluation of process chains.

Utilization

The utilization of a process chain  $uti_{PC}$  or a machine  $uti_{MACH}$  is defined by the ratio of productive time shares and overall available production time. Figure 4.12 illustrates the operational time shares of a machine as fractions of the available production time (e.g. shift time). A machine is only productive in processing state and not if it is in idle state (e.g. during break times or if no jobs are available), blocked, or in failure state.

In the model, the utilization of a process chain at a specific point in time t  $uti_{PC_t}$  is determined by the ratio between the quantity of machines processing and the total quantity of machines. For example, if four machines out of ten machines are processing at time t,  $uti_{PC_t}$  is 40%. The mean utilization of a process chain  $uti_{PC_mean}$ 

available production time (e.g. shift time)				
productive time share (processing)	breaks	machine failures	blocking	starving

Fig. 4.12 Operational time shares of a machine during the available production time

for an observed time period (e.g. shift or week) can be determined as the mean of  $uti_{PC}$ .

Yield

The yield  $Y_t^{ptn}$  at time t is the output of finished processing units of type *ptn* in the desired quality (reduced by the discarded units) during a time period from start of production until t. The yield refers to a job of a product type (e.g. yield of cells). This indicator is important for the allocation of indirect energy demands and production costs.

### Production Lead Time of Jobs

The production lead time  $plt_{jn}$  of a job is the time between the introduction of the first processing unit of a job to the process chain  $(t_{jobstart_{jn}})$  until the last processing unit is finished  $(t_{jobfinish_{jn}})$ . This time can be determined for each job but the average lead time  $aplt_{ptn}$  resulting from all jobs is also relevant for the evaluation of the overall performance of a process chain. This average is calculated by dividing the sum of the lead times by the yield.

Value Adding and Non-value Adding Time Shares

The ratio of value adding to non-value adding time shares describes how fluent processing units travel through the process chain. Figure 4.13 illustrates the different time shares of the lead time of a processing unit. This sequence corresponds to the processing unit flow logic shown in Fig. 4.9.

The only value adding activity is the processing in a machine. All other activities such as handling, movement, or waiting occur during production but do not directly add value. The value adding time share of a processing unit is determined by adding the processing times of all production steps. The value must be divided by the entire lead time of the processing unit. The ratio can also be calculated for jobs by considering the time shares of the associated processing units.

### Blocking

Whenever a processing unit cannot leave a machine because no next machine is available, the current machine gets blocked. No new processing unit can enter the machine because the finished processing unit is still present. Such blocking causes waiting times for processing units and idle times for blocked machines and consequently result in non-value adding time shares and energy demands. The process chain model can determine the quantity of occurring blocking and the related production steps which caused each blocking. This enables the identification of bottlenecks.



Fig. 4.13 Time shares of processing unit flow during production (M: moving; W: waiting; B: blocked; P: processing)

All described performance indicators can be used for evaluating different aspects of the process chain operation which is effected by the behavior of its various elements and the surrounding infrastructure. The consideration of relevant cause-effect relationships between model elements requires detailed modeling.

## 4.4 Concepts for Sub-models

The different models presented in the framework have to be further defined regarding the required inputs, the inherent model logic, and the output results. First, a model concept is proposed for machine models (Sect. 4.4.1). Second, a concept for modeling product characteristics and specifications is explained which can be combined with process models describing the creation and transformation of product characteristics (Sect. 4.4.2). Third, a concept for human worker activity modeling is presented (Sect. 4.4.3). Fourth, concepts and relevant aspects are derived for modeling of the operation of TBS systems (Sect. 4.4.4) for lighting, compressed air generation, and HVAC. Fifth, it is explained how a building model can describe the interactions of a building with the surrounding environment and how the inside conditions can be determined in order to derive required heating and cooling loads (Sect. 4.4.5).

## 4.4.1 Machine Models (2)

The behavior and operation of each machine within the process chain needs to be described by a machine model. The purposes of machine models are

- modeling of machine operation over time according to the schedule provided by the process chain model,
- description of machine states of entire machines or for all relevant components,
- determination of demand profiles for energy carriers and resulting heat emissions, as well as
- modeling the machine failure behavior.

Machine models can be developed and configured based on production data and measurements (e.g. Herrmann et al. 2011) or by using mathematical equations describing the machine operation based on physical effects (e.g. Eisele 2014; Heinzl et al. 2012). Furthermore, machine models can be of different detail (Hesselbach 2012). On the one hand, a machine can be treated as a black box. On the other hand, machines can be described in more detail by modeling the operation of each component. As a minimum requirement for the multiscale simulation, machine models have to describe machine states, the transition conditions between states, and parameters associated to states (e.g. energy demand during idle). Moreover, the compressed air demand and heat emissions of a machine have to be calculated. Information about states,



Fig. 4.14 Generic state chart for modeling of the machine operation

demands, and emissions is required by the process chain model. To fulfill the minimum requirements, a generic state-based machine model – applicable for any kind of machine type – can be parametrized for specific machines.

## 4.4.1.1 Generic Machine Model

Machines can be described by static properties such as geometrical dimensions, capacity and buffer size, as well as by dynamic characteristics such as electric power and compressed air demands, media demands (e.g. cooling lubricant), and heat emissions. The dynamic characteristics depend on the machine state.

Machine States

During production, a machine can be in different operational states with specific transition conditions between these states. All machines can be described by generic states such as off, on, ramp-up, idle, setup, processing, blocked, and failure. Thus, a generic state chart has been created to model the behavior of a machine in a generic manner (similar as in Schönemann et al. 2015; Mousavi et al. 2015; Thiede 2012; Dietmair et al. 2009). This chart is shown in Fig. 4.14. Initially, a machine is in off state and it is turned on if the model receives the signal from the process chain model, that it has been selected by a processing unit.

 $1 \rightarrow$  Input: signal about allocation of processing unit to machine from process chain model.

When a machine is turned on, it is in the ramp-up state until it switches to idle state after the ramp-up time  $t_{ramp}$ . When a processing unit arrives, the machine switches into processing or setup state.

 $1 \rightarrow$  Input: signal about arrival of a processing unit (and its product type) from process chain model.

If the product type requires a setup, the machine switches to processing state after the setup time  $t_{setup}$ . After the processing time  $t_{process}$ , the processing unit will leave the machine. If the processing unit has left and a next processing unit is waiting for processing, the machine will switch to setup or processing state again. If no further product is available for processing, the machine switches to idle state. If no next processing unit arrives for processing, the machine is switched off after the shutdown time  $t_{shutdown}$ . If a processing unit cannot leave the machine after processing (if no next machine is available), the current machine switches to the blocked state and stays in this state until the processing unit leaves.

 $1 \rightarrow$  Input: signal about leaving of processing unit from process chain model.

If a machine failure occurs, the machine switches from the available to the failure state. Processing units which are currently processed stay in the machine until the failure is repaired. The time between failures is represented by the MTTF. The time until a failure is resolved is represented by the mean time to repair (MTTR). These times are usually modeled by using probability distributions which describe the characteristics of each machine.<sup>12</sup> The history element (H) indicates that when a failure is resolved, the state chart switches to the state within the available state in which the failure occurred.<sup>13</sup> Information about each state change is provided to the process chain model.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **1**: states and conditions of machine to process chain models.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In general, any kind of probability distribution can be used for describing MTTF and MTTR. However, often a Weibull function is used since it is flexible and can be configured by defining suitable scale and shape parameters (Birolini 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>This assumption is not always valid. It is possible that failures required a machine to be switched off completely or that the currently processes product units will not be further processed.



Fig. 4.15 Exemplary power load profile of a machine with associated operational states

#### Electric Power and Compressed Air Demands

The process chain model requires information about the machine's power demand  $PD_{MACH_{mn}}$  and compressed air demand  $CAD_{MACH_{mn}}$ . Both the power and compressed air demands depend on machine states. Figure 4.15 illustrates an exemplary power demand profile of a machine for different states. In the generic model, the power demand of a machine is modeled by an average power demand value for each state, i.e. one (electric) power demand value  $PD_{MACH_{mn}}$  and compressed air demand value  $CAD_{MACH_{mn}}$  for each state. These values can be determined by measurements or estimated based on manufacturers specification and the nominal power of a machine. The power demand profile can show different profiles depending on the type of machine.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **1**: power demand  $PD_{MACH_{mn}}$  to process chain model. **Output**  $\rightarrow$  **1**: compressed air demand  $CAD_{MACH_{mn}}$  to process chain model.

#### Heat Emissions from Machines

During the operation of a machine, the supplied energy is partially converted into heat due to conversion losses and inefficiencies.<sup>14</sup> These internal heat sources lead to a continuous increase of the machine temperature until a steady state is reached. The warm machine emits heat  $\dot{Q}_{MACH_{mn}}$  from the machine surface to the building environment through convection and radiation<sup>15</sup> (Hesselbach 2012). The thermal behavior of a machine has to be modeled with a different approach compared to power and compressed air demand since the system reacts slower on changes induced by different states. The machine slowly heats up after it is turned on and it cools down after it is turned off. The heat transfer through convection can be calculated base on the convective heat transfer factor  $\alpha$ , the machine surface area  $A_{mn}$  and the temperature difference between the machine temperature at the surface  $T_{mn}$  and the air temperature of the building zone  $T_z$  (Lampinen et al. 2007).

$$\dot{Q}_{conv} = \alpha \cdot A_{mn} \cdot (T_{mn} - T_z) \tag{4.10}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>A comprehensive description of energy conversion in factories can be found in Posselt (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Heat transfer through conduction can be neglected since air has a low thermal conductivitiy.

The heat transfer through radiation can be determined based on the emissivity<sup>16</sup> of the machine  $\varepsilon_{mn}$ , the Stefan-Boltzmann constant<sup>17</sup>  $\sigma$ , the machine surface area  $A_{mn}$  and the temperature difference between  $T_{mn}$  and  $T_z$  to the fourth power.<sup>18</sup>

$$\dot{Q}_{rad} = \varepsilon \cdot \sigma \cdot A_{mn} \cdot \left(T_{mn}^{4} - T_{z}^{4}\right) \tag{4.11}$$

**6**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: temperature of building zone  $T_z$  from building model.

The thermal behavior of a machine can be modeled at different levels of detail. In the generic machine model, a machine is considered as a mass (of one material) which is sufficient for a first analysis of the thermal behavior. For simplification, heat emissions from the machine through radiation are neglected. This allows calculating the machine temperature with the following equation<sup>19</sup> (Hesselbach 2012).

$$\dot{T}_{mn} + \frac{\alpha \cdot A_{mn}}{m_{mn} \cdot c_{mn}} \cdot T_{mn} = \frac{Q_{HS_{mm}} + \alpha \cdot A_{mn} \cdot T_z}{m_{mn} \cdot c_{mn}}$$
(4.12)

The heat source  $\dot{Q}_{HS}$  is simplified modeled as the electrical power input to the machine reduced by an efficiency factor  $\eta$  indicating the share of power which is not converted into heat (e.g. converted into internal energy).

$$\dot{Q}_{HS_{mn}} = PD_{MACH_{mn}}(t) \cdot (1 - \eta) \tag{4.13}$$

The described equations can be used to determine the total heat emission of a machine  $\dot{Q}_{MACH_{mn}}$ . This value is passed to the process chain model for the calculation of the entire internal heat gains of a building zone.

# **Output** $\rightarrow$ **1**: heat emissions $\dot{Q}_{MACH_{mn}}$ to process chain model.

In summary, the generic machine model enables the simulation of sequences of machine states based on commands from the process chain about the production program. It enables the generation of state-based profiles for power demand, compressed air demand, and heat emissions. However, the generic models considers a machine as a black box and relies on various assumptions. Consequently, the accuracy of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Emissivity values of polished aluminum and polished steel are 0.77 or 0.15, respectively.  $^{17}\sigma = 5.6703 \cdot 10^{-8} \text{ W/m}^2 \text{K}^4$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>Heat exchange through radiation occurs between the machine surface and the surrounding surfaces such as walls, the ceiling, or other machine surfaces. For simplification, Hesselbach suggests to use the average room temperature to determine the temperature difference (Hesselbach 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>The equation is derived from the law  $Q = m \cdot c \cdot \Delta T$  which defines the heat required to increase the temperature of a body by  $\Delta T$ . The acting heat flows are the internal heat source reduced by heat emissions to the building environment. This leads to  $m \cdot c \frac{dT_m}{dt} = \dot{Q}_{HS} - \dot{Q}_{con} - \dot{Q}_{rad}$ . For simplification, radiation is neglected in Eq. 4.12.

achievable results is reduced in favor of modeling complexity. If a higher accuracy is required, machine models can be of more detail in different regards.

#### 4.4.1.2 Detailed Machine Model

Detailed models can substitute a generic machine model or be used in addition to determine the previously defined model outputs based on the defined inputs. This may become relevant since many modern machines can contain several functions such as performing different processes, tool change, waste removal, and others (Gutowski et al. 2009). Thus, the states of a machine can be broken down further compared to the generic model. Hence, a generic model may not provide the necessary functionality to imitate the machine behavior correctly. In this case, detailed models can describe physical effects within the machine as well as the behavior and interactions of different machine components. Depending on the components of a machine, on a lower level, more specific states can be differentiated for individual machines. As examples, a mixer could have the states "low intensity mixing" and "high intensity mixing" and component specific transition conditions.

### Power and Compressed Air Demand

The power demand of a machine is the sum of the power demands of all components (e.g. Dietmair et al. 2009).

$$PD_{MACH_{mn}}(t) = \sum_{c=1}^{C} PD_{mn_c}(t)$$
(4.14)

*C* indicates the number of different components. Likewise, the compressed air demands is the sum of the demands of all components (e.g. grippers).

$$CAD_{MACH_{mn}}(t) = \sum_{c=1}^{C} CAD_{mn_c}(t)$$
(4.15)

The power demands of each component can be either determined by measurements or by physical modeling such as presented in Eisele (2014) and Schrems (2014). Abele et al. presented a combined approach of machine and process modeling for determination of a machine's power demand (Abele et al. 2015). In every case, the operational states of components have to be linked to the overall states of the machine. The advantage of component based models is the possibility to identify components with high energy demands. These components can be modeled with greater detail to improve the machine model accuracy. Moreover, the effect of shutdown strategies or stand-by modes can be tested for these components within simulation experiments. Furthermore, the power demand of the entire machine within the different generic states can be modeled at higher resolution since components can switch between their states within the superordinate processing state.

#### Heat Emissions

Instead of treating a machine as one mass with one internal heat source, the thermal modeling of a machine can be detailed by dividing a machine in different virtual layers or by considering multiple internal heat sources induce by different components as well as additional heat flows out of the machine (e.g. through cooling systems or products) (Hesselbach 2012). A layered model allows imitating the heat distribution inside a machine and a more accurate calculation of heat emissions. Moreover, this enables predicting the thermal conditions within a machine. Knowledge about these conditions may be relevant for processes which rely on constant or specific temperatures (e.g. a furnace with a temperature profile).

### Failure Behavior

Machine models on component level allow modeling the failure behavior of components. This may be more accurate compared to a black box machine model and could be relevant for analyzing maintenance strategies. Detailed models can be used to specify MTTF and MTTR for each component. In addition, the consequences of the failing of a particular component can be specified within the model logic. Some failures allow further machine operation but result in decreased product quality while other failures impede further use of the machine until completed repair.

As disadvantages, detailed models are more complicated to develop, have higher requirements regarding computational power, and need longer to compute. Furthermore, in general they rely on assumptions due to missing detailed information and data about machines properties such as component behavior, materials, heat transfer coefficients, etc. Thus, the trade-off between potentially higher accuracy – of detailed models compared to the generic model – and higher modeling effort has to be evaluated carefully. In some cases, combinations of generic machine models with detailed specific models for certain aspects may provide better simulation results and foster a deeper system understanding without causing very high modeling effort. Figure 4.16 presents the advantages and disadvantages of both generic and detailed machine models.



Fig. 4.16 Advantages and disadvantages of generic and detailed machine models

## 4.4.2 Product and Process Models (3)

On the one hand, various factors during cell production and system assembly influence the performance and quality of final cells and battery systems. On the other hand, product specifications of cells and systems influence the operation of machines and process chains, affecting also other production system element. Simulating these influences requires models for describing the specifications and characteristics of processing units during production as well as models for processes describing the creation and modification of product characteristics.

### 4.4.2.1 Product Model

In the multiscale simulation, product models characterize processing units during production regarding their specifications and current characteristics. The purposes of product models are

- providing information about the required production steps, processes, usable machines, and related product specifications,
- · describing the evolution of product characteristics along all production steps, and
- tracking and storing information about the production progress.

A product model has to relate to one particular processing unit which is associated to a subordinate job. A processing units track the existing and created product characteristics as well as time stamps for each production step. The defined job structure of associated processing units allows to exchange product characteristics between different processing units within one job. This is important if processing units become parts of other processing units and the characteristics of the latter depend on the characteristics of the former. An example is the assembly of multiple electrodes with specific characteristics into cells.

Output → 3: product specifications to process models.
3 Input →: product characteristics from process models.

In order to describe the characteristics of a processing unit during production, a set of characteristics  $PCHAR_{ptn}$  can be defined for each product type. These characteristics can be created or transformed within processes. Wuest (2015) developed a concept for describing and tracking of product characteristics along a process chain enabling examining the effects of created or transformed characteristics on consecutive processes. Following this concept, semi-finished processing units can be in different states during production where state 0 is the state prior to production (raw materials) and state  $nps_{ptn}$  is the final state after completing the last production step. Figure 4.17 illustrates the concept of product states and the related product characteristics (A, B, ...). The figure shows that product characteristics can be created (indicated by \*) or transformed (indicated by ') from one product state to another.

	raw materials		discrete steps		<ul> <li>finished product</li> </ul>
states	state 0	state 1	   	state m-1	state m
product characteristics	A B C	A' B C' *D		A''' B' C'' D' E'	A''' B'' C'' D' E'' *F

Fig. 4.17 Generic states (0-nps<sub>ptn</sub>) and exemplary characteristics (A-F)



Fig. 4.18 Process chain and product states in cell production

The transition from one state to another is realized with processes. This product model concept can be applied to any product type. The model development requires the identification of all product states during production and the related product characteristics. Following the defined system boundaries, product models have to be differentiated for electrodes and cells as well as for modules and systems.

### Electrodes and Cells

In general, the production of (LIB) cells requires 13 different processes (see Sect. 2.1.3) whereas the first seven processes of electrode production are the same for both anodes and cathodes. Consequently, there are 14 different product states within cell production whereas states 1–7 are differentiated for anodes (a) and cathodes (c). In these first seven states, anodes and cathodes have the same characteristics but each of them potentially with different values. Figure 4.18 illustrates the product states of anodes, cathodes and cells during production with the related processes.<sup>20</sup>

Product state 0 in the product model refers to the raw materials and their specific properties (e.g. size, shape, and morphology of particles). State 1 refers to the prepared materials with the characteristics weight fraction of each added material,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Here, separation is considered as one process although in reality it could be differentiated between slitting of coils to width and cutting of individual electrode sheets.

conductivity, and packing density. State 2 refers to the finished slurry with the characteristics weight fractions, homogeneity, solid content, surface tension, viscosity, and slurry density. The created slurry is coated on the collector foil and immobilized by the drying process. State 3 refers to the foil with wet coating layer and state 4 refers to the dried electrode coil. The coating procedure has substantial influence on the homogeneity and thickness of the coating layer. Furthermore, relevant characteristics of state 3 are the coating length  $l_c$  and width  $w_c$  as well as the realized mass load  $m_{L_s}$ the coating layer density and the wet coating thickness. Moreover, relevant are the properties of the collector foil (e.g. material, density, thickness). The drying process influences the distribution of the binder which is dissolved in the coating layer, the evaporation of the solvent, the adhesion of particles to the collector foil, as well as the porosity of the dried coating layer (state 4). The coated electrode is compressed in the following calendering process. State 6 refers to the compressed electrode. The calendering process has influence on the density of the coating, coating layer thickness, electrode thickness and porosity, pore radius, as well as the adhesion to the current collector (Haselrieder et al. 2013). State 6 refers to the separated electrode unit which will be processed in the later cell assembly. The main characteristics of state 6 are cutting quality (e.g. form tolerance, cutting edge clearness), and loose particle accumulations<sup>21</sup> (Baumeister and Fleischer 2014). State 7 refers to the dried electrodes. State 8 refers to the created package. Characteristics are the number of anodes and cathodes, the accuracy of the electrode positioning, as well as the balancing of the electrode capacities (Schmitt et al. 2014). Also the separator is added which can be specified by its material properties. In the following processes, the arrester are connected to the current collector (state 9), the package is housed (state 10) and the housing is filled with electrolyte (state 11). Relevant characteristics of these states are the quality of the contacting weld (state 9), the amount of electrolyte and the wetting distribution inside the cell (state 11). The last processes after the assembly are forming and aging. During formation, a cell is initially charged which activates the active material. A low current is used to form the SEI layer on anodes (Yoshio et al. 2009). Measurements are taken for the cells open circuit voltage (OCV) and capacity (state 12). After forming, the cells are stored (aging) at a defined SOC (state 13). Table 4.1 lists the states of electrodes and cells with related processes as well as created and transformed product characteristic.

A job refers to the production of a quantity of cells. It triggers the production of anodes and cathodes as well as the assembly of cells. The electrode coils are produced in a sequence of batch processes. The coils are separated into single electrode sheets. Consequently, the product states of the electrodes have to be differentiated for anodes and cathodes and allocated to each single electrode sheet. The cells are assembled in unit processes. Consequently, each cell has its own states and values of characteristics. The characteristics of electrodes have to be forwarded to each processing unit representing a cell. These relations are shown in Fig. 4.19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>As explained, there may also be a differentiation between slitting of electrode coils and the cutting of single electrode sheets. Thus, there may be another state in the product model.

State	Description	Previous process	Created characteristics	Transformed characteristics
0	Raw material: active materials, additives		Raw material properties; particle size(s); density(ies); CB agglomerate size	
$1_{a/c}$	Mixed material fractions	Dry mixing	Weight fractions; conductivity; packing density	
$2_{a/c}$	Slurry	Wet mixing	Coatable amount; viscosity; solid content; homogenity; surface tension	CB agglomerate size; weight fractions
3 <sub><i>a</i>/<i>c</i></sub>	Coated foil	Coating	Homogeneity of layer; mass load; wet coating thickness; collector properties	
4 <sub><i>a</i>/<i>c</i></sub>	Dried electrode	Drying	Electrode thickness; remaining solvent content; binder distribution; particle adhesion; porosity; density	Pore diameter
5 <sub><i>a</i>/<i>c</i></sub>	Compressed electrode	Calendering		Electrode thickness; coating thickness; density of coating; particle adhesion
6 <sub><i>a</i>/<i>c</i></sub>	Seperated electrodes	Slitting, cutting	Electrode geometry, cutting quality; particle accumulations	
7 <sub><i>a</i>/<i>c</i></sub>	Dried electrodes	Drying	Remaining water content	
8	Wrapped electrode stack/winding	Folding, stacking, winding	No. of layers; placement accuracy; capacity; separator porosity; separator thickness	
9	Contacted electrode package	Contacting	Quality of arrester welds	
10	Pouch package	Housing	Housing material	
11	Assembled cell with electrolyte	Filling, closing	Amount of electrolyte; wetting distribution	
12	Formed and activated cell	Forming	SOC; OCV; SEI	
13	Finished cell	Aging	Storage duration	SOC

 Table 4.1
 Product states, characteristics, and related processes for cell production



Fig. 4.19 Schema for the transfer of product characteristics between processing units and the subordinate job (exemplary for a job of cells)

#### Modules and Systems

Battery modules and systems can also be described during assembly by states with related processes characteristics. Product state 0 refers to the cells and components required for the assembly of a module. In the first process, cells are inspected. It is essential to combine cells within a module which have the same performance. The combination of cells with different performance may have negative impact on the entire module whose behavior is determined by the weakest cell. Similar to the selective assembly of electrodes into cells (Schmitt et al. 2014), strategies and measures for selective and adaptive assembly may be reasonable for module assembly. State 1 refers to the tested selected cells. State 2 refers to the pre-assembled cells and state 3 refers to the contacted cells. A relevant characteristic in state 3 is the quality of the welds which is checked by a voltage test. State 4 refers to a module with installed circuit board and sensors. State 5 refers to the entire assembly after testing. The module is in state 6 after the mounting of cooling plates and in state 7 after housing. State 8 refers to a tested finished module.

State 9 describes the assembly of modules on a base plate and state 10 refers to the final housed assembly. After the initial charging, a system is in state 11. A completed system after testing is in state 12. The states of a module and a system with the related processes as well as created and transformed characteristics are listed in Table 4.2.

A job may refer to the assembly of a quantity of modules or systems. In module assembly, the characteristics of selected cells must be copied to the characteristics of the containing module. In system assembly, the characteristics of cells contained in modules have to become part of the system's characteristics.

In summary, the derived product model can describe the states of processing units during production and the related characteristics. Specific product models can contain parameters for defined product specification as well as variables and arrays to represent product characteristics for each processing unit.

The presented product states and related characteristics cover the characteristics which are often discussed in literature. However, the proposed product model allows to easily extend the set of modeled characteristics to represent specific LIB sys-

State	Description	Previous process	Created characteristics	Transformed characteristics
0	Cells and components		Cell types	
1	Selected cells for module assembly	Inspection	Characteristics of cells	
2	Assembled cells	Pre-assembly	Number of cells per assembly; capacity; voltage; current	
3	Assembled and contacted cells	Contacting	Quality of joints; internal resistance	
4	Assembly with circuit boards and sensors	Installation of circuit boards and sensors	Number of sensors	
5	Tested assembly	Testing	State of assembly	
6	Assembly with cooling system	Cooling plate installation		
7	Housed module	Housing		
8	Tested module	Testing	State of housed assembly	
9	Modules on system base plate	Module placing and fixation	Capacity; voltage; current	
10	Housed components	Component installation and housing		
11	Charged and flashed (software) system	Flashing and charging	SOC	
12	Closed housing which is tested regarding leak-tightness	Closing and testing		

 Table 4.2
 Product states, characteristics and related processes for module and system assembly

tems or other battery types. The exact creation and transformation of the product characteristics can be defined within process models.

## 4.4.2.2 Process Models

The purpose of process models is determining resulting product and process characteristics for each product state (of a processing unit) considering the influences between product specifications, process parameters, existing product characteristics, and various other direct and indirect internal and external factors (e.g. Winter 2016). Product characteristics can be created or transformed during processing of a production step. In a deterministic case, process models determine values of product characteristics – based on relationships between specification and process parameters – and store this information within a product model of a particular processing unit. The resulting values of product characteristics can be predefined in a process model (e.g. based on experimental results or desired values) or calculated based on mathematical equations.

 $3 \rightarrow$  Input: product specifications from product model. Output  $\rightarrow$  3: product characteristics to product model.

However, the results of production processes are subject to variations and accepted within defined tolerance limits (Geiger and Kotte 2005; Brüggemann and Bremer 2015). The variation of processing results can have different origins. Variation can be induced by machines (e.g. through geometric or thermal errors), process parameters (e.g. inaccurate setting of velocities or temperature profiles), materials (e.g. insufficient quality or wrong amounts), method or process selection, environmental conditions (e.g. temperature or humidity), as well as by humans being involved in the process<sup>22</sup> (Wuest 2015; Brüggemann and Bremer 2015).

- $2 \rightarrow$  Input: influences (e.g. machining tolerances) from machine model.
- $6 \rightarrow$  Input: environmental conditions from building model.
- $4 \rightarrow$  Input: influences (e.g. performance level) from human worker model.

Since various processes are required for battery production and different machines can be used, it is not possible to define generic influences which are valid for all processes.

The variations of process results are considered within the multiscale simulation to analyze the impacts of variations in characteristics along a process chain. This consideration allows to evaluate the effects of individual processes on the overall performance of final products. For example, electrodes with different variations in characteristics are assembled into one cell. This effects the performance of each cell. Cells with different performance are combined within one module. Thus, it is important to consider existing characteristics within following processes.

 $3 \rightarrow$  **Input**: existing product characteristics from product model.

Figure 4.20 summarizes the inputs and outputs of a process model. A product model provides information about product specifications and existing product characteristics as inputs to the process model. A process model determines the resulting product characteristics considering process variations based on different process specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>The influence of humans in production is relevant if manual activity is required for processing or setup. Since cell production is mostly automated, influences from workers can usually be neglected. In module or system assembly, however, manual assembly tasks may be more relevant.

#### 4.4 Concepts for Sub-models





influences (from machines, environmental conditions, and human workers). Furthermore, a process model determines the required machine operation based on product specifications and forwards this information to the machine model. For example, in the mixing process the required time and intensity (in terms of circumferential velocity) determine the operational times and in consequence the production rate as well as the power demand of the mixer.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **(2)**: required machine parameters to related machine model.

Different forms of variation can be observed in battery production (Kenney et al. 2012). First, realized product characteristics can vary between different processing units (e.g. one batch has different characteristics compared to another batch). For example, a created slurry has a viscosity and a solid content which are slightly different to other produced slurries of the same product type. Each batch has only one value for viscosity and solid content. The viscosity of a slurry is – among other factors - influenced by the mixing time, the amount of solvent, and the CB agglomerates. Also there may be interdependencies between those factors. An example is that the viscosity is not much effected by the mixing time if CB agglomerates are already small after dry mixing (Bockholt et al. 2013). Second, variations of a product characteristic can occur within one processing unit. For example, the coating thickness of a coated electrode varies within one batch due to processing tolerances or characteristics of the slurry. Moreover, the mass load in coating is not always constant but can be expressed by a probability distribution (Schmitt et al. 2014). This variation can be assumed to be the same for all batches produced with the same machine setup. Another example is the pore diameter distribution, which indicates variation within a slurry. Third, the variation of product characteristics can occur within and between processing units. An example could again be the coating thickness, which can be different if the machine parameters are slightly changes during setup or due to wear over time. Another example is the assembly of different electrodes with variations in coating thickness into cells. Hence, the capacity of cells depend on the characteristics of installed electrodes. Figure 4.21 illustrates these three forms of variation.<sup>23</sup> The sketched plots show the values for a created characteristic of subsequent processed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Figure inspired by a discussion with Fridolin Röder.


Fig. 4.21 Types of product characteristic variations resulting from one process

processing units for the same process. The grey background shadow indicate the upper and lower limits.

These types of variations determine how product characteristics have to be modeled within a product models. If a process model determines a single value for characteristics (deterministic case or variation of type A in Fig. 4.21), variables can be used within a processing unit to store values. If variation of characteristics occurs within one processing unit (types B and C in Fig. 4.21), arrays have to be used to store multiple values for a characteristic according to a defined resolution (number of values per processing unit). As an example, a processing unit for an electrode batch may contain an array to store values for the coating thickness of defined fractions of the coated foil.

The variation of product characteristics can be determined according to probability distributions (or probability density functions). Examples of distributions are uniform or normal distributions. Distributions can be characterized by its location (e.g. mean or median), spread (e.g. standard deviation or variance), and shape (e.g. skewness). The probability distributions for each resulting characteristic within a process can be determined based on empirical samples or theoretical models.<sup>24</sup> So far, process variations from industrial applications have not been published.

Probability distributions or density functions have to be implemented within process models to determine resulting product characteristics. The location, spread, and shape of probability distributions of resulting characteristics may be influenced by previously created characteristics. For example, a higher solid content in the slurry leads to a larger variation in coating thickness. As another example, the viscosity of a slurry is – among other factors – influenced by the mixing time, the amount of solvent, and the size of CB agglomerates. Figure 4.22 exemplary shows possible forms of influences of existing product characteristics on resulting characteristics. In addition, tolerance limits can be defined for each characteristic and if a resulting value lies outside the accepted interval, the processing unit may be classified as waste.

In product and process development, product and process parameters as well as machine configurations are varied and adjusted specifically to achieve a desired result within defined tolerances. Excessively high requirements regarding product characteristics and associated product quality result in very small acceptable tolerances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Further information about determining probability distributions and descriptive statistics in the context of product quality can be found for example in Brüggemann and Bremer (2015).



Fig. 4.22 Influences of previous characteristics on probability density functions of created/transformed characteristics

Since the reduction of process variation is associated with increasing complexity and higher costs, unnecessarily small tolerances cause the design and configuration of processes and machines to be more complicated and expensive. Due to the necessary cost reductions in cell production, coordination of process tolerances with required product characteristics as well as detailed understanding and optimization of processes is of great importance. Hence, process models have to be developed considering the type of variation and influences on variations.

Different types of process models can be used within the multiscale simulation. Process models can determine resulting product characteristics and related machine operations in a predictive and deterministic manner. In this case, models hold knowledge about the exact desired value of a product characteristic and the require machine operation (e.g. processing time and intensity). Alternatively, model can use knowledge about process variations to determine the relations between product specifications, existing product characteristics, and external factors on product characteristics. As an example, the relative humidity within the indoor air effects the product quality in the cell assembly. This effect could be described by a parameter model based on empirical experiments or by a physical model if the exact relations between humidity and affected product characteristics are known. However, it is not always possible to find a valid function for each product characteristic. Moreover, often the desired value of a characteristic is known (e.g. from experiments) along with the required process parameter for achieving this value. In this case it is only of interest how the tolerances and variations in the process affect the resulting characteristic. Modeling of the actual physical effects is not necessary. Finally, combinations of different modeling types are possible (e.g. as used by Winter 2016, who developed extensive physical and empirical models to describe the grinding process).

In summary, there are different options for integrating process models for each process into a multiscale simulation:

- 1. no process model, if no relations are known or relevant.
- deterministic parameter model, if resulting product characteristics are known (based on specifications) and not subject to disturbances/variation.
- 3. stochastic empirical parameter model, if variation in process results is known.
- 4. physical model of theoretical effects on product characteristics.

5. combination of empirical and physical models.

#### 4.4.3 Human Workers (4)

The operation of process chains requires workers for material handling, machine operation and maintenance, as well as for manual assembly tasks. Simulation of humans in production systems enables considering the behavior and characteristics of workers while being active in a production environment. Simulation can be used for different purposes. First, human resources contribute to the production costs (Nelson et al. 2015). Thus, simulation can determine how the number of available workers effects the performance of a process chain. As an example, Halubek and Herrmann (2011) used agent-based modeling of worker behavior and characteristics (e.g. speed, skill level) to examine the worker drift and the resulting performance of mixed-model assembly lines. Second, simulation can be used to determine the effects of humans on the building ambient conditions. Workers move within a factory and emit heat and moisture (ISPE 2009; VDI 2015). These emissions depend on the level of activity of workers which can be represented by different states such as seated, standing, walking, working (Harriman 2002). Heat emissions are relevant since they may influence the air temperature within a building zone which could effect the HVAC operation and the related energy demands. Moisture emissions are relevant if worker operate inside a dry room. In this latter case, emissions of workers increase the humidity of the inside air which may lead to undesired environmental conditions and to higher energy demands for dehumidification. Third, as stated in various studies, worker performance is not deterministic and constant over time but it depends on age, biorhythm, and fatigue of a worker (Siebers 2007; Baines et al. 2004). Simulation could enable to determine the resulting product quality depending on the available workers over time.

Within the multiscale simulation, a worker model represents a worker  $WO_{wn}$  as an agent who can move inside and between building zones. Worker activities are coordinated by the process chain model. Workers are required to operate and maintain machines. That means that the process chain model sends requests to worker models about a desired activity. Worker availability and movement times can be integrated into the control strategies of process chains. As an example, a machine can begin to ramp-up only if a worker has arrived.

The level of activity of each worker can be represented by a state chart as shown in Fig.4.23. The chart differentiates the states seated at rest, walking slowly, light work, medium work, and heavy work. If a worker is inactive, the agent is in the state seated at rest. If a worker is called to operate a machine, the worker moves



Fig. 4.23 State chart of worker activity

with a defined velocity towards the machine. At a machine, the intensity of work depends on the machine type and machine state (e.g. required is medium work during machine setup and light work during processing for machine supervision). Each state is associated with values for heat and moisture emissions. Detailed information about heat and moisture emissions of humans can be found for example in Bohne (2014) and Harriman (2002).<sup>25</sup> The heat and moisture emissions are provided to the process chain model since it aggregates all emissions for each building zone.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **(1)**: heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{WO_{wn}}$  to process chain model. **Output**  $\rightarrow$  **(1)**: moisture emissions  $\dot{ME}_{WO_{wn}}$  to process chain model.

In order to allocate the emissions to a building zone, the process chain model has to know the position of each worker within the shop floor coordinate system.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **(1**: current position of worker  $WO_{wn}$  to process chain model.

Overall, simulation of human worker activities can enable the analysis of the impacts on process chain operation, product quality, heat and moisture emissions as well as on labor costs. However, the impacts of workers on total energy demands for cooling and dehumidification as well as on total production costs is relatively small.

# 4.4.4 TBS Models (5)

Relevant TBS systems for battery production are lighting, compressed air generation, and systems for ventilation, heating, and air conditioning. These systems have to be modeled and integrated in the multiscale simulation. The purpose of these models is to

- describe the operation of TBS systems depending on the process chain operation,
- determine the energy demands of systems and their share of the total energy demand of the production system,
- identify energetic hot-spots for the derivation of improvement measures regarding dimensioning or control of TBS, and to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>For example, heat emissions range from 95 W (seated at rest) to 270 W (hard work).

• understand and describe interdependencies between production system elements and TBS systems (e.g. correlations between dry room conditions and product characteristics).

#### 4.4.4.1 Lighting

Lighting requires electrical energy and emits heat to the building which may cause additional cooling loads for the air conditioning. Both the energy demand and heat emissions (both in W/m<sup>2</sup>) depend on the light intensity  $LI_z$  of a building zone (in lm/m<sup>2</sup>), the efficiency of lamps  $LE_z$  (in lm/W), and the duration.

It is assumed that lights in a zone are on if workers are inside the zone, if machines are operating, and if available daylight is not providing sufficient illumination. The schedules for lighting depend on the process chain operation. For example, the lights in a zone are turned on when the first worker enters the zone and turned off if the last worker leaves and no machine is operating. The lighting model uses the two states on and off for lighting control and determines a constant power demand based on  $LI_z$ ,  $LE_z$ , and the zone area  $A_z$ . The model generates the power demand profile of lights based on the schedule provided by the process chain model.

 $1 \rightarrow$  Input: signals for turning lights on and off from process chain model.

The total power demand of lighting is calculated by summing up the power demands of all light sources in all building zones. The total power demand is provided to the process chain model.

**Ouput**  $\rightarrow$  **1**: power demand *PD*<sub>*LIGHTS*</sub> to process chain model.

The required power is emitted as heat to the related building zone (Hesselbach 2012). The resulting heat emissions are provided to the process chain model.

**Ouput**  $\rightarrow$  **(1)**: heat emissions  $\dot{Q}_{LIGHTS}$  to process chain model.

The proposed lighting model is kept rather simple. More detailed models are possible if lighting has strong influence on the production processes or if the energy demand contributes to a high share of the total energy demand. Ryckaert et al. (2010) provide a detailed discussion of energy efficiency measures for lighting. They proposed a model to determine the required power considering *LE* of a zone and different task areas with specific requirements.

#### 4.4.4.2 Compressed Air Generation

Compressed air is used to transform electric energy into mechanical energy. It is among the most expensive and least efficient forms of energy<sup>26</sup> (Mousavi et al. 2014) and a high share of industrial energy demands is caused by compressed air generation (Ruppelt 2003). For this reason, a model of a compressed air generation system is proposed for the multiscale simulation. The purpose of this model is to examine the impacts of system configurations and control strategies on the power demand  $PD_{CAG}$  and pressure *cap* – similar to Mousavi et al. (2014) and Thiede (2012).

A compressed air generation system usually consists of components for generation (one or several compressors), preparation and treatment (e.g. filters), and distribution (e.g. tank, pipes) of compressed air. Such system can supply multiple consumers (e.g. machines) within a process chain. The proposed modeling concept focuses on the power demand of compressors since compressors are the main component of a system supplying air to generate the desired pressure. The model must enable to simulate the system pressure and the related operation of compressors.

The condition of compressed air is defined by pressure (p), volume (V) and temperature (T) according to the following relation (Bierbaum and Hütter 2004).

$$\frac{p \cdot V}{T} = constant \tag{4.16}$$

A common simplification for the determination of the system behavior is the assumption of an isotherm process.

$$p_0 \cdot V_0 = p_1 \cdot V_1 = constant \tag{4.17}$$

The flow of air can be described by the amount of air flowing through a cross section during a specific period of time which can be specified as volume flow  $(\dot{V})$ . The pressure *cap* within the compressed air system with volume  $V_{CAS}$  depends on the inside volume change caused by air supply from the compressor(s)  $(V_{in})$  as well as demand from machines and pressure losses  $(V_{out})$ .

$$cap = \frac{V_{CAS} + V_{in} - V_{out}}{V_{CAS}} \tag{4.18}$$

The demand from machines is determined within the process chain model by summing up the compressed air demands of all machines.

**1**  $\rightarrow$  **Input**: compressed air demand *CAD*<sub>MACH</sub> from process chain model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>The efficiency of compressed air generation can be increased by measures such as heat recovery and adjusted compressor control (Saidur et al. 2010).

The system pressure has to be kept within a defined interval. If the pressure decreases below pressure cap<sub>min</sub>, air is supplied to the system until the maximal pressure  $cap_{max}$  is reached. Different control strategies exist for compressors (Bierbaum and Hütter 2004). The objective of the controller is to maintain the desired system pressure while minimizing energy demand and component wear. The controller directly affects the air supply and the power demand of compressors. For simplification of the model, it is assumed to use only one compressors which is able to supply the desired supply rate.<sup>27</sup> The controller determines if the compressor is in off, on, or idle state. Within each state, the compressor has a specific power demand. An example of a control strategy is the intermittent control using a twopoint controller. The compressor is switched on if  $cap = cap_{min}$  and turned off if  $cap = cap_{max}$ . Other control strategies – for example keeping the compressor in idle state until shutdown – are explained for example in Bierbaum and Hütter (2004) and Ruppelt (2003). The resulting power demand of the compressor is assumed to equal the power demand  $PD_{CAG}$  of the compressed air system ( $PD_{CAG} = PD_{comp}$ ).<sup>28</sup> The power demand as well as the system pressure are provided to the process chain model. The latter allows machine models to check if the available system pressure is sufficient for machine operation.

**Ouput**  $\rightarrow$  **()**: power demand  $PD_{CAG}$  to process chain model. **Ouput**  $\rightarrow$  **()**: system pressure *cap* to process chain model.

This model of a compressed air system allows determining the power demand of compressors and the pressure based on the compressed air demands of machines from a process chain. If required, the model can be extended towards considering multiple compressors with individual characteristics and other system components.

#### 4.4.4.3 HVAC

The indoor climate of a production facility has to be controlled according to process requirements and comfort of workers. Furthermore, the exhaust air of a facility has to be cleaned from substances which are harmful to the environment. For this purposes, HVAC systems are installed for ventilation, heating, and air conditioning (cooling, humidification, dehumidification) of buildings. Usually, an air handling unit (AHU) is installed for each building zone which is equipped to fulfill the required treatment functions (Bohne 2014). The required environmental ambient conditions within a facility for battery production are described by Simon (2013). Since HVAC systems may account for up to half of the energy demand in a facility (Pérez-Lombard et al.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$ Often also several compressors (of the same or different types) or multi-staged compressor systems are used to meet the maximum switching operations for each compressor, to supply air with different rates, or to achieve higher system pressures. The model can be adjusted accordingly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>More detailed models may also include the power demands of filter, dryers or other equipment.



Fig. 4.24 Schematic of an exemplary HVAC system for a building zone equipment for ventilation, cooling and heating with heat recovery

2008), it is relevant to model the operation of these systems and to consider the energy demands in the evaluation of battery production.

#### Ventilation, Heating, and Cooling

The inside air within a building zone is exposed to various emissions from processes, humans, materials, etc. These emissions reduce the air quality and require ventilation with outside air according to an air change rate  $acr^{29}$  (Fitzner 2013). In order to maintain the desired air quality in production facilities, AHU for ventilation usually consist of an outside air inlet, a central processing unit with fans and filters, and ducts for air distribution to the air outlets into the building zone. Detailed descriptions of various types of AHU are given in Bohne (2014) and Fitzner (2013).

Furthermore, a building is subject to internal and external heat sources and sinks. Depending on specific heat flows and dampening effect of thermal masses inside a building zone, heating or cooling equipment may have to be used in addition to ventilation in order to establish the desired indoor temperature. In this case, AHU have to be equipped with heating and cooling coils as well as external chillers supplying the cooling coils (Bohne 2014). The controller of an AHU for heating controls the operation of these different components according to setpoint temperature values and sensor signals of current indoor ( $T_z$ ) and outside ( $T_{OA}$ ) air temperatures. Figure 4.24 shows a simplified and abstract schematic of an exemplary HVAC system for ventilation, heating, and cooling with heat recovery.

If the inside air temperature in a zone is too high or too low, the supplied air has to be heated or cooled in order to adjust the inside air temperature to the desired value. The heating and cooling demands depend on the outside air temperature which depends on the season and location of a facility. To give some examples, Fig. 4.25 shows the daily mean temperatures for three locations.<sup>30</sup> The figure allows to con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>The air change rate defines how often the air within a zone has to be changed during one hour.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Reno is the location of the Tesla giga factory for battery cells, Braunschweig is the location of the Battery LabFactory Braunschweig, and Iceland is basically a rather cold country.



**Fig. 4.25** Daily mean temperature [°C] in Reno (Nevada, USA), Braunschweig (Germany) and Reykjavk (Iceland) in 2014 (based on data from Weather Underground 2015)

clude that the heating and cooling demands for buildings at these locations differ according to the outside temperatures.

Simulation models of HVAC systems for ventilation, heating, and cooling should enable to determine the operation and energy demands of AHU equipment considering internal (e.g. heat emissions of machines or humans) and external (e.g. outside temperature) influencing factors. In contrast to static calculations of maximum heating and cooling loads (required for system design), simulation allows analyzing the dynamic behavior of AHU in different situations and a more precise determination of energy demands. For this purpose, the inside and outside temperatures have to be considered in the simulation. Furthermore, the simulation has to imitate different time periods in order to account for seasonal conditions.

 $\rightarrow$  **Input**: indoor temperature of building zone from building model.

 $\rightarrow$  **Input**: outside weather conditions from weather file.

Based on this information, models of HVAC components determine the required heat flows for heating or cooling for each zone and the resulting power demand.

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **6**: heating or cooling loads  $\dot{Q}_{HVAC_z}$  to building model. **Output**  $\rightarrow$  **1**: power demand  $PD_{HVAC}$  to process chain model.

These values depend on the implemented control strategy of the AHU components (e.g. two-point or variable heat flow control) and the setpoint values (e.g. accepted temperature interval).

#### Dehumidification

In addition to defined indoor temperatures, some processes of battery cell assembly have to take place in dry room conditions with very low humidity. The humidity of the inside air is influenced by the humidity of the supplied air, leaks in the dry room



**Fig. 4.26** Daily mean dew point temperature [°C] in Singapore, Reno (Nevada, USA), Braunschweig (Germany) and Reykjavk (Iceland) in 2014 (based on data from Weather Underground 2015)

constructions, and internal moisture gains from humans<sup>31</sup> or products (Harriman 2002). In order to achieve very dry conditions, an AHU of a dry room has to be equipped with a dehumidification system – in addition to the HVAC components for ventilation, heating and cooling – which removes humidity from the supply air.

In production facilities of battery cells, commonly used are desiccant dehumidification units (Harriman 2002). Within AHU with such units, the inlet air stream is mixed with a circulating air stream from the dry room and cooled down before dehumidification. Within the desiccant dehumidification unit, the moisture of the inlet air stream is transferred to a regeneration air stream, which is heated before entering the dehumidifier to enable a high intake of moisture. This regeneration air stream is transported to the outside of the building (Harriman 2002). After dehumidifying, the inlet air stream is heated before entering the dry room. The energy demands of an AHU for dehumidification depend on internal heat and moisture emissions as well as on outside air conditions such as temperature and humidity. The humidity of the outside air can be characterized by the dew point temperature<sup>32</sup> which also depends on the location of the facility. To give some example, Fig. 4.26 shows the daily mean dew point temperature for four different locations for 2014. In addition to the locations selected for Fig. 4.25, Singapore was added due to its high dew point temperature. The figure allows to conclude that the location influences the energy demand of dehumidification systems.

Consequently, models of HVAC systems for dehumidification must – in addition to the described influences on ventilation, heating, and cooling – consider the humidity of the outside air as well as the moisture emissions within a dryroom building zone which increase the humidity of the inside air.

 $\rightarrow$  **Input**: outside weather conditions from weather file.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Harriman states that humans adapt to very low humidity levels and cause lower moisture loads in super-dry conditions such as found for example in battery production.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$ The dew point temperature is the temperature at which the contained water is condensed into water. It also defines how much vapor is contained in the air.

Since HVAC systems can be of various types (e.g. with or without circulating air flow, heat exchange, or dehumidification), it is not possible to derive a generic HVAC system model. Models have to be created specifically for a HVAC system under examination. For this purpose, different generic models and tools for HVAC simulation have been developed. For example, Chen and Treado presented a library for physical modeling of different HVAC components (Chen and Treado 2014). De Antonellis et al. developed a detailed model for the simulation and optimization of a desiccant wheel (De Antonellis et al. 2010). Furthermore, different libraries are available which allow to use predefined components to design simulation models of HVAC systems with the software environments Modelica (e.g. Wetter et al. 2014) or Simulink (e.g. Kalagasidis et al. 2007). However, despite this preliminary works, physical modeling of HVAC systems is still no easy task. As an alternative to physical modeling, models for HVAC systems can also be derived from empirical data as shown by Cherem-Pereira and Mendes (2012) for the example of room air conditioners. If measurements about the power demand of different components as well as the related environmental conditions are known, such approach may be of sufficient accuracy for the modeling of the HVAC system operation.

Overall, the simulation of HVAC systems is closely connected to the simulation of the thermal response of buildings since inside ambient conditions are the controlled variables in HVAC system controllers. Various research approaches were already developed for the integrated or coupled simulation of HVAC systems and buildings, for example Nouidui and Wetter (2014), Zuo et al. (2014), Gorecki et al. (2015), Feng et al. (2012), Wetter (2010), or Trčka and Hensen (2010). Consequently, a building model is also needed for the proposed multiscale simulation to determine the inside ambient conditions of a battery production facility and the impacts on HVAC systems.

# 4.4.5 Building Model (6)

The building shields the production system from the outside environment. A building can usually be divided in one or multiple thermal zones which can have different properties, thermal behavior (e.g. losses or heat capacities) and desired inside ambient conditions. These inside conditions depend on the building properties (e.g. structure, shape, number of floors, windows, orientation, location, and materials) and various external and internal influences. The purpose of building simulation models is to determine the inside conditions of specific building zones based on these external and internal influences (VDI 2001). Thermal simulation enables analyzing the relevant influences and if passive improvement measures (e.g. sunscreens) allow to reduce the HVAC system operation while maintaining the desired conditions (Bohne 2014; Hesselbach 2012). In the multiscale simulation, the results of the building simulation are inputs to HVAC models as well as to process models in case the environmental conditions have influence on the processing results.



Fig. 4.27 Simplified heat flows of an exemplary two-zone building

**Output**  $\rightarrow$  **5**: inside conditions of building zones to HVAC models. **Output**  $\rightarrow$  **3**: inside conditions of building zones to process models.

The determination of inside conditions is based on the analysis of heat losses and heat gains (energy flows) through the building shell and between building zones. Heat losses can be divided into transmission losses and ventilation losses. Heat losses due to transmission  $\dot{Q}_{tr}$  are influenced by the wall surface area  $A_w$  of a zone. Furthermore, they are influenced by heat transfer coefficients  $U_w$  of the materials of the surrounding walls and by the difference between the inside and outside air temperatures.<sup>33</sup> Heat losses due to ventilation  $\dot{Q}_v$  are mainly influenced by the air change rate  $acr.^{34}$  External heat gains can also be caused due to transmission and infiltration through the ventilation system. Furthermore, heat gains are caused by solar radiation  $\dot{Q}_s$  through windows.<sup>35</sup> Internal heat gains are caused by the HVAC air supply (heating or cooling)  $\dot{Q}_{HVAC}$ , as well as by heat emissions from machines  $\dot{Q}_{MACH}$ , lights  $\dot{Q}_{LIGHT}$ , and workers  $\dot{Q}_{WO}$ . Figure 4.27 illustrates exemplary heat flows related to a building with two zones.

The inside temperature  $T_z$  of a building zone can be calculated based on the energy balance.

$$\dot{T}_{z} = \frac{\dot{Q}_{s} - \dot{Q}_{tr} - \dot{Q}_{v} + \dot{Q}_{HVAC} + \dot{Q}_{MACH} + \dot{Q}_{LIGHTS} + \dot{Q}_{WO}}{m_{air} \cdot c_{air}}$$
(4.19)

The calculation of heat flows due to transmission, ventilation and radiation requires information about the outside temperature which can be taken from radiation models and weather data. Established weather data sources are files created based on the test reference year (TRY) method in which meteorologists define an average year for different locations (Fitzner 2013).

The values for internal gains are determined by HVAC models, machine models, worker models and by the lighting model. They are aggregated within the process chain model.

 $<sup>{}^{33}\</sup>dot{Q}_{tr} = \sum_{w} U_w \cdot A_w \cdot (T_z - T_{OA})$ , (Hesselbach 2012).

 $<sup>{}^{34}\</sup>dot{Q}_{\nu} = acr \cdot m_{air} \cdot (T_z - T_{OA})$ , (Hesselbach 2012).

 $<sup>{}^{35}\</sup>dot{Q}_s = A_d \cdot I_{max} \cdot g$ ; with window area  $A_d$ , maximum radiation  $I_{max}$ , and energy transmittance g, (Bohne 2014).

5 → Input: heating or cooling loads Q<sub>HVAC<sub>z</sub></sub> from HVAC model.
 1 → Input: aggregated heat emissions Q<sub>TOTAL<sub>z</sub></sub> from process chain model.
 1 → Input: aggregated moisture emissions ME<sub>z</sub> from process chain model.

The process chain model has to contain information about the zones of a building to allocate the heat emissions. That includes also heat emissions from moving objects such as processing units (not relevant in battery production) and workers (Wright et al. 2013).

Assessing the detailed thermal response of a complete building requires simulation<sup>36</sup> (Bohne 2014) with physical models to analyze the effects of different weather conditions and scenarios (e.g. shifts). Crawley et al. presented an overview of the capabilities of existing building simulation tools (Crawley et al. 2008).

# 4.5 Model Connection (7)

The derived models have to be connected in order to realize a multiscale simulation imitating the dynamic behavior of an entire production facility. In this context, there are two main tasks: The clear definition of interactions and information exchange between models as well as the selection of suitable strategies for coupling and synchronization of the involved models (which have been implemented in a software).

Interactions and Information Exchange

Interactions and information exchange depend on the desired input and output variables of models. Models providing specific variables have to be connected with models in need of these variables. The relevant inputs and outputs of different model types have already been indicated during the derivation of models. Figure 4.28 illustrates the resulting proposed multiscale model structure and the interactions between models (output  $\blacksquare \rightarrow \square$  input). This illustration refers to a generic case but can be adapted to any type of production system (according to the defined system boundaries) by adding of models for specific machines, processes, and products. For a specific multiscale application, it is necessary to identify all required variables of all involved models. This includes units and resolutions of each variable along with the required frequency of updated values. Furthermore, it is important to optimize the routing of information flows since every interface between two models causes efforts for implementation and the risk of errors or information loss (e.g. due to rounding or different model resolutions). For this reason, the process chain model is suggested to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Alternatively, static calculations can be applied (Hesselbach 2012). Static approaches utilize performance indicators, standardized factors or metrics to determine stationary energy balances of buildings. Static calculations can determine the expected heating or cooling demands for extreme weather conditions at a given location. The results can be used for the design and dimensioning of HVAC systems.



Fig. 4.28 Structure and exchanged variables of total multiscale model

act as a coordinator which collects, aggregates, and distributes information to other models. As an example, the process chain model collects heat emissions of machines, lights, and workers, aggregates these to total heat emissions per building zone, and delivers this information to the building model. The building model in return provides the inside temperature for each building zone to the process chain model which distributes this information to machine and process models. This structure simplifies the information flow, reduces the number of interfaces between models and creates flexibility towards the addition of new models.

#### Coupling and Synchronization

The actual coupling of models can be realized according to different concepts of which the most relevant for production simulation are offline coupling, model integration and co-simulation (Ören 2014; Brecher et al. 2009). Figure 4.29 illustrates the different coupling concepts. Offline coupling means that coupled models are executed sequentially and that results are exchanged after each simulation run of one model. Although this type of coupling is relatively easy to implement, it is not suitable for the proposed multiscale simulation approach since it is not possible to consider dynamic interactions between models during simulation runs. Integration of models means that different models are implemented within one integrated model in the same software tool to avoid data exchange and synchronization between different tools. Models exchange data at each simulation time step or at certain events. In co-simulation, models are implemented in specialized simulation environments which are connected to each other. The data exchange has to be synchronized since



simulation times of individual models may differ. The time between two synchronization steps must be adjusted according to the modeled system behavior. A short synchronization time may reduce the simulation execution performance while a long synchronization time could effect the simulation results because updated variables may be synchronized too late. If interactions between only two models have to be considered in co-simulation, these models could be directly coupled via a specific interface. In this case, one of the models is responsible for the synchronization. If data exchange has to be synchronized between several models and software environments, this can be realized by using coordinating middleware software based on principles of HLA or other middleware solutions (e.g. TISC (Kossel et al. 2006)).

These coupling concepts can also be combined. For example, generic machine models and product models can be integrated into a process chain model and process models can be directly coupled to machine models. The process chain model can be synchronized with detailed machine models and models for HVAC systems, compressed air generation, and a building.

In summary, the connection of models allows to execute and coordinate all models of a multiscale simulation and to simulate the dynamic interactions between the modeled production system elements. The simulation results of each model have to be combined in order to support the desired planning tasks and decisions. For this purpose, it is suggested to determine and prepare the desired results within the process chain model since it has access to data from all other models.

#### **4.6** Result Evaluation and Visualization (8)

The resulting large amount of generated data during simulation has to be examined with respect to the overall performance of the production system. The results allow deriving detailed insight into the cause-effect relations between machines, TBS systems, processes and product characteristics, as well as the material flow. Such detailed analysis is needed to avoid problem shifting which may occur by only considering isolated system elements of a production facility or planning perspectives. Consequently, the simulation results of different models can be combined and aggregated to performance indicators for a consistent evaluation of improvement measures and the enhancement of the production system understanding.

#### Variables and Indicators

Simulation results can be related to the overall performance of a production system, process chains, single machines, jobs, or processing units. For an entire production system, relevant indicators are the total energy demand and the energy demands of different systems such as machines, HVAC systems, compressed air generation, lighting, etc. This allows the identification of the most relevant systems with high energy demand. In addition, the overall material consumption is of interest, divided in raw materials for products and auxiliary materials required for production. The energy and material demands can also be related to the output of final products (e.g. in GWh of battery cells) during a period of time. These indicators on system level enable deriving total costs and environmental impacts of the production activity and comparing of different simulation runs. For example, the production costs  $C_{total}$ can be determined by considering the total energy demand per energy carrier along with energy prices based on the supply contract ( $C_{energy}$ ), the consumed amount of materials along with the unit prices for each material type ( $C_{materials}$ ), and the total costs of machine operation based on the operational time of each machine and the related machine-hour rates ( $C_{machining}$ ).

The total environmental impacts of production  $EI_{total}$  can be determined based on the total energy demand per energy carrier along with the related environmental impacts per energy carrier ( $EI_{energy}$ ) as well as the used amount of materials together with the related environmental impacts of each material type per kg ( $EI_{materials}$ ). In general, the environmental impacts can be expressed regarding different impact categories. A commonly used indicator is the GWP which describes the induced contribution to climate change (Thiede 2012). In this regard, equivalent CO<sub>2</sub> emissions caused by energy and material production can be applied as an indicator for the environmental impacts on system scale. However, in order to gain insight into the dynamic production system behavior and to evaluate specific improvement measures, required is a more detailed evaluation of the performance of production system elements.

The material flow characteristics of process chains determine the output of semifinished and finished products as well as the operation of machines and related systems. More specifically, a process chain can be characterized by its yield of product units per product type, its utilization, as well as by the average production lead time of all jobs per product type. Furthermore, the energy and compressed air demands, non-productive time and energy demand shares, and heat emissions of all machines can be aggregated to identify critical machines or associate processes.

The operation of individual machines is influenced by the material flow within a process chain and it can be evaluated based on indicators for energy demands and utilization. Energy demands can be derived by values of the state depended electrical power demand and the compressed air demand. The utilization is determined by the ratio of productive and non-productive time shares. A machine is only considered productive within the processing state. If a machine is in setup, blocked or failure state, it is considered non-productive. In addition, the overall heat emissions of a

machine can be calculated for a given period of time to study the effects on HVAC systems operation.

While the process chain model generates performance indicators about the material flow of all jobs which are completed during a time period, single jobs and processing units collect data about their specific material flow as well as specific energy and material demands. Indicators of a job depend on the indicators of the associated processing unit(s). Relevant indicators describe the start and finish time, lead time, non-productive time share, and times per machine. Furthermore, relevant results are the specific energy demand and material input per material type per processing unit. They allow deriving the direct material costs and costs of machine operation based on machine-hour rates. Material costs can be represented by a cumulative plot in order to indicate the value of a semi-finished processing unit during production. Finally, processing units store information about created or modified product characteristics. Jobs can aggregate the product characteristics of all associated processing units as average values or represented by a histogram. Also, on process chain level, the product characteristics of processing units of all jobs (of one product type) can be characterized by their distributions. This enables identifying the spread of individual product characteristics and the origins of variations.

Table 4.3 lists all suggested performance indicators with units and suitable forms of representation. These indicators have to be made accessible by a simulation tool or available within generated reports.

#### Value Stream Representation

In addition to single performance indicators, each job and processing unit can be described by a value stream map. Value stream mapping (VSM) is an established method aiming at the identification of inefficiencies and waste within a production line (Erlach 2007). Value stream maps illustrate the processes required for production along with buffers and specific process data. Traditional VSM focus on the identification of lead times and non-value adding time shares but it was already extended toward the consideration of specific energy demands (EVSM) for a job or per product unit (Erlach and Westkämper 2009; Bogdanski et al. 2013). Figure 4.30 illustrates the structure for an extended EVSM representation of the simulated flow and processing of a processing unit for a battery cell. In general, the application of VSM requires relatively low effort and the visualization of results is easy to understand even without having expert knowledge. However, shortcomings of the traditional static VSM method are that a value stream map refers to one product type or family and that it is based on one time measurements or average values. Thus, a value stream map has a snapshot character and it is not possible to consider dynamic interactions between different jobs such as blocking of machines which may cause waiting times. This shortcoming is abolished in the multiscale simulation since value stream maps can be dynamically created for each job and processing unit. The model is able to trace the material flow of processing units by creating a data box representation to each processing unit with simulated values for times, direct and indirect energy demands, and material demands for each completed process. This simulation of value stream maps is based on the Multi-product EVSM (MEVSM) approach

Reference	Indicator	Unit	Unit Suggested representation	
Production system	Total energy demand <i>ED<sub>TOTAL</sub></i>	kWh	Number	
	Energy demand per energy carrier	kWh Number		
	Total power demand PD <sub>TOTAL</sub>	kWh	Plot	
	Energy demand of TBS $(ED_{CAG}, ED_{HVAC}, ED_{LIGHTS})$	kWh	Numbers	
	Share of energy demand per machine/system	kWh	Pie chart	
	Output of final products		Number	
	Total consumption of raw and aux. materials	kg	Numbers	
	Energy costs per energy carrier	EUR	Numbers	
	Total energy costs C <sub>energy</sub>	EUR	Numbers	
	Material costs (for all material types) Cmaterials	EUR	Numbers	
	Costs of machine operation Cmachining	EUR	Numbers	
	Total production costs C <sub>total</sub>	EUR	Numbers	
	Environmental impact of energy supply EI <sub>energy</sub>	kg CO <sub>2</sub> <sup>eq</sup>	Numbers	
	Environmental impact of material consumption EI <sub>materials</sub>	kg CO <sub>2</sub> <sup>eq</sup>	Numbers	
	Total environmental impact EI <sub>total</sub>	kg CO <sub>2</sub> <sup>eq</sup>	Numbers	
Process chain	Utilization <i>uti<sub>PC</sub></i>	%	Number	
	Output/yield of product types $Y_t^{ptn}$		Numbers	
	Energy demands per machine	kWh	bar/pie plot	
	Compressed air demands per machine	m <sup>3</sup> /h	bar/pie plot	
	Waiting times per machines	s, min	bar/pie plot	
	Blockings per machine		bar/pie plot	
	Heat emissions per machine per zone	kWh	bar/pie plot	
Machine	Utilization <i>uti<sub>mn</sub></i>	%	Number	
	Energy demand ED <sub>MACHmn</sub>	kWh	Number	
	Power demand PD <sub>MACHmn</sub>	kW	Plot	
	Compressed air demand CAD <sub>MACHmn</sub>	kW	Plot	
	Share of productive and non-productive times	%	Pie chart	
	Share of productive and non-productive energy demand	%	Pie chart	
	Total heat emissions $\dot{Q}_{MACH_{mn}}$	kWh	Number	

 Table 4.3 Result indicators for different scales of production systems

(continued)

Reference	Indicator	Unit	Suggested representation
Job and processing unit	Lead time	s, min	Number, VSM
	Start time (overall, per process)	s, min	Number, VSM
	Finish time (overall, per process)	s, min	Number, VSM
	Share of productive and non-productive times	%	Pie chart, VSM
	Material input per material type	kg	Number
	Material cost	EUR	Number, cumulative plot
	Material cost per material type	%	Pie chart
	Material cost per process	EUR	Number, VSM
	Direct and indirect embodied energy (iee, dee)	kWh	Number
	Embodied energy per process	%	Pie chart, VSM
	Product characteristics	Various	Numbers, histograms

Table 4.3 (continued)

(Schönemann et al. 2016). The MEVSM approach combines VSM and simulation by using a generic structure for the definition of product type specific routing, product characteristics<sup>37</sup>, and process parameters, as well as an AB and DE simulation logic which allows calculating process specific performance indicators and product specific evaluations. Using the MEVSM approach enables generating value stream maps for all processing units which are produced simultaneously within one process chain. A similar approach is the E<sup>2</sup>VSM approach which also combines DE simulation with VSM to generate economic and environmental evaluations of the production of multiple product types (Alvandi et al. 2016).

Furthermore, for the simulation of battery production, the simulated value stream map representation can be modified to show material inputs with related material costs and costs of machine operation. Additionally to the VSM representation of jobs or processing units, this kind of representation can be used for all jobs of each product type combined. In this case, the values in data sets per process have to be replaced by the average values determined by the values of each job. Moreover, a histogram could be given for each data item, for example showing the direct energy demands of all electrodes for coating and drying. This representation allows identifying the most time or energy intensive production step of each product type. Evaluation of stochastic effects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Details about integrating product characteristics into value stream modeling are discussed in Schönemann et al. (2014).



Fig. 4.30 Structure for an extended value stream representation of the production of a processing unit for a battery cell

If variables or inputs of a simulation model are stochastically distributed, the results also have to be considered as random variables. In this case, simulation runs represent sampling experiments with fluctuating outcome. Random variables have to be described using descriptive statistics. That means that they have to be represented by expected values and measures for variation. Within the result presentation, histograms or box plots can be used to show the distribution of resulting values. Furthermore, it is necessary to determine the minimum number of simulation runs required to achieve statistically significant results (e.g. for a Monte Carlo simulation). Detailed information about dealing with uncertainty are given for example in Rabe et al. (2008) and Liebl (1995).

# 4.7 Application Procedure

The development and employment of a multiscale simulation is different compared to monolithic specialized models. It allows to combine the knowledge and expertise of different engineering disciplines. In particular, the improvement of battery production regarding product quality, costs, and environmental impacts demands the cooperation of the planning of products, processes, production technology, and factories. These disciplines have their own planning tasks and often use isolated tools or models for the evaluation of specific measures. The knowledge from these disciplines and the available models have to be combined for creating the proposed multiscale simulation. However, existing specific models are often not compatible or reusable by other disciplines (Bergmann 2014). For this reasons, a central function for simulation development and coordination is required which collects and adapts existing models and knowledge for the use in a multiscale simulation. Furthermore, this central function is responsible for the employment of the multiscale simulation and for the generation of reports which are tailored to the needs of the involved disciplines. However, the involvement of all stakeholders and disciplines into the modeling process is essential to foster learning effects and an interdisciplinary system understanding. Once a multiscale simulation environment is developed and established, each discipline can file requests for simulation results related to a specific objective. The central function will adapt the simulation accordingly and perform simulation runs to generate reports. If objectives require more detailed simulation models of which



no expertise is available within the involved stakeholders (e.g. for detailed building simulation), specific simulation expertise has to be (externally) acquired in order to integrate the desired model functions. Figure 4.31 shows the described structure of cooperation of disciplines for the development and employment of a multiscale simulation.

There are multiple ways to apply the developed simulation concept to a specific simulation environment. Different objectives, the availability of simulation models, the know-how of simulation engineers, as well as other organizational and technological factors (e.g. available personal resources or software) can influence the application to a large extend. However, a generalized application procedure should help simulation engineers to structure the development process for a multiscale simulation. This application procedure is divided into twelve steps which are structured in six phases similar to simulation study procedures proposed by Banks et al. (2010) or Wenzel et al. (2008). Figure 4.32 illustrates these phases and steps and also the areas of involvement of stakeholders from different disciplines. The simulation development and coordination function is responsible for planning, realization, and controlling of the twelve-step procedure. The other disciplines support during problem formulation and provide specific planning objectives which should be supported by the simulation. Also they are involved in the development of specific models and the final evaluation of the simulation results. The specific tasks and methods for the twelve steps of the procedure are described within the next subsections.

#### 4.7.1 Description of Production System and Stakeholders (I)

In the first step, the battery production system under survey has to be described along with the roles of involved stakeholders. This is important for clarification of the context for the simulation and the following definition of objectives. The description has to refer to the production stage (e.g. cell production and/or system assembly), product variety, industrial scale (e.g. production volume per year), and utilized production technology. Moreover, the description has to clarify the responsibilities and organizational structure of different disciplines, departments, and people. A result



Fig. 4.32 Procedure for application of the multiscale simulation concept

of this first step is a definition of the system boundaries and the responsibilities for model development as well as the specific use cases of the simulation.

# 4.7.2 Definition of Evaluation and Simulation Objectives (II)

In addition to this greater objective, it is necessary to specify the strategic, tactical or operational planning perspective in order to derive the required accuracy and scope of the simulation results.

- **Strategic** Strategic decisions such as investment in a new production facility face a higher degree of uncertainty and demand the analysis of aggregated effects for a longer time period of the simulated production system operation (e.g. a full year to consider seasonal effects of the local climate). The purpose of a simulation study in this context is the comparison of investment alternatives by comparing the magnitude of performance indicators. The resolution of detailed models can be reduced in order to decrease the computational requirements and to enable a higher number of simulation runs.
- **Tactical** Tactical decisions such as the purchase of an additional machine or the use of a new active material for electrodes require more accurate results for a sound evaluation of the effects on other system elements. The simulated period of time may be shortened with reference to the specific planning task. For example, if an additional machine shall increase the output it may be sufficient to compare scenarios for the weekly or monthly output.



**Operational** Operational decisions – such as scheduling of certain jobs – refer to short term decisions which can be based on a large amount of available data and requires high accuracy. Models must be very accurate and of high resolution to allow the valid comparison of very similar decision options considering a limited time period (e.g. a shift or a week).

Figure 4.33 illustrates the described characteristics of simulation models regarding accuracy and considered time scale for different planning perspectives.

Moreover, different stakeholders may have different weighting of individual objectives. Consequently, it is relevant to clarify the specific objectives of the simulation to determine the required models and their necessary model resolution.

#### 4.7.3 Definition of Required Models (III)

The framework (Fig. 4.5) illustrates the model classes of a multiscale simulation of battery production systems. However, the integration of several detailed models into a simulation increases the complexity of the overall model. That means, that increased functionality and enhanced possible results are achieved at the cost of higher modeling effort, a higher error rate (e.g. due to rounding), and the risk of reduced acceptance of the results. Consequently, it has to be aimed for the balance between high model complexity and result accuracy. It has to be examined which models are needed to generate results in the resolution needed for the evaluation of the defined objectives. For this purpose, it is necessary to collect information about all production system elements within the system boundaries and to identify relevant specifications such as operational times and energy data<sup>38</sup> of machines or TBS systems. This forms the foundation for the definition of required models.

In any case, a process chain model is required for simulating the material flow and coordination for all other models. In addition, machines and other systems have to be included in the multiscale simulation if they

• are part of the process chain,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>Energy demand related data can be acquired from machine specification of manufacturers documentation. If detailed data are required, data acquisition can be used to measure the actual power demand. Strategies for selecting suitable types of acquisition are discussed in Thiede et al. (2013a).

#### 4.7 Application Procedure

- have high energy or power demands, or
- have influence on product characteristics through related processes.

If a machine or system meets one of these criteria, it can be modeled in different levels of detail. Two main model types can be distinguished:

- simplified state-based model (such as the proposed generic machine model), or
- detailed component based, state-based, empirical, or physical model.

If a machine is part of the process chain, its behavior has to be modeled at least in terms of operational states. This is needed by control strategies of process chains to determine the routing of processing units. Furthermore, if a machine or system has a high energy demand, it is important to include a model which determines the power demand even if the machine is not part of the process chain. A suitable method for assessing the relevant machines or systems regarding energy demand is an energy portfolio which clusters all machines/system with respect to power demand and operational time per time period (Posselt 2016). This method is also suggested by Thiede (2012) for selecting relevant machines/systems which should be considered in simulation studies. If a machine or system has high or moderate (nominal) power demand and a high or moderate operational time or utilization factor, it should be included in the simulation.<sup>39</sup> However, this method does not consider the volatility of the power demand. If the demand is rather constant for each operational state, a generic state-based model is sufficient to simulated the power demand profile. If the power demand is very volatile, detailed modeling of the machine/system and its components may be favorable in order to increase the result accuracy. Thus, a second portfolio is suggested to cluster machines/systems regarding power demand and its volatility. Figure 4.34 shows both portfolios. The determination of the volatility and the definition of the boundary between high and low volatility depend on the required accuracy of the simulated energy demand (see Step II). As one feasible approach, it is suggested to analyze the power demand values of a machine regarding a measure of variance. However, it is important to consider the variation in power demand in relation to the processing time of a machine. If the power demand fluctuates by a high magnitude (e.g. periodically) within intervals of only a few seconds, but the operational time of a machine is a couple of hours, the energy demand of the machine may be rather constant.<sup>40</sup>

If a machine additionally has noticeable effects on the associated process – and consequently on the product characteristics – it should be modeled in the required level of detail for considering the impacts on the processing results. Examples of effects are machining tolerances, tool wear, or random deviations. Figure 4.35 summarizes the selection of production system elements and the allocation of a suitable modeling type.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>If it is not clear how often and for how long a machine/system is used, it is possible to perform simulation runs with generic machine models to determine the operational times of machines/systems for the given production system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>In this case, filtering or smoothing of the power demand profile with adequate filtering parameter for the interval length allows to generate better insight in the relevant deviation.



**Fig. 4.34** Portfolios for selection of energy demanding systems (*left*) and allocation of model type (*right*)



Fig. 4.35 Decision tree for selection of model types for machine models

If desired, the evaluation of product characteristics requires the modeling of processes and their impacts on product characteristics as well as a product model to store the results. Some processes could be modeled based on physical equations. If no knowledge about theoretical relations exist, empirical data from experiments may allow to derive relations between process parameters, environmental conditions and resulting product characteristics.

# 4.7.4 Modeling, Implementation (IV), and Coupling of Models (V)

It is necessary to develop a concept for each required model which defines the model logic and specific outputs based on the intended results. For this purpose, each real world system or process which has to be modeled must be analyzed to derive a concept model. Since a model has to be precise enough to achieve the defined objectives, a fundamental understanding of the system or process is needed to decide which essential characteristics should be considered in the model and which are negligible. Subsequently, the concept model is specified and transferred to a formal model (e.g. based on equations, state charts, etc.) and finally implemented in an executable software model (Wenzel et al. 2008).



The selection of a software tool for a specific model depends on various factors. It may be best to select the most suitable tool for each specific model. For example, a DE simulation tool is suitable for the simulation of a process chain while tools for continuous models (DS) are required to realistically imitate a compressed air system or the thermal building ambient conditions over time. Furthermore, it may be reasonable to choose simulation tools based on their ability to share information with other models. However, it may also be adequate to use software which is already available or intended to be used for other models of the multiscale simulation. Wenzel et al. (2008) provided a checklist for model implementation.

Executable simulation models have to be connected within the multiscale simulation. Since there are no established methods, guidelines, or suggestions for selecting the most suitable coupling concept for specific model couples, it is suggested to consider the following criteria.

One criteria is the timing of data exchange between models since different models may require information at different points of time and with different accuracy. For example, while it might be sufficient for some variables to be sampled and communicated at distinctive time steps, it might be necessary for other variables to communicate the integral or regression between two time steps. Furthermore, some models run during the entire simulation while other models only provide results at distinctive time steps. For example, static parametric models may provide results if requested at single events while continuous models provide values at each time step. Figure 4.36 illustrates these different forms of data exchange. It implies that some models can be executed sequentially (e.g. machine and process models within a linear process chain) while other models have to run continuously in parallel (e.g. models for HVAC systems and the building). The utilization of a middleware is reasonable if models running in parallel have to exchange data during simulation.<sup>41</sup>

Another criteria is the execution time (in particular of one iteration). Some models may have a very long execution time due to the amount of required calculations even if the simulated time period is relatively short. Examples are detailed DEM or FEM simulations. If such models would be connected to a process chain model, the latter would have to wait until slower models provide results. Figure 4.37 illustrates the

simulation time

model 1 model 2

model 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>The advantages and disadvantages as well as characteristics of synchronization types are discussed in various publications (e.g. serial versus parallel (Sweafford and Yoon 2013) or strong versus loose coupling algorithms such as Jacobian-based simulation algorithms (Sicklinger et al. 2014). The effects of smoothing and extrapolation of exchanged values is studied by Kossel (2011).



effect of different execution times in real time with respect to the simulation time steps. The coupling of models via a middleware would allow to provide information about the progress of detailed models to the process chain model so that other parallel events could already be started. Alternatively, time intensive models may be substituted with simplified mathematical or parametric models. This could drastically reduce the run-time making the model usable in a coupled simulation (Brecher et al. 2009).

Several recommendations were derived from the discussed criteria. If a middleware software and interfaces to all used software tools are available, the middleware concept is suitable for all models. Another suggestions is that if all models are available in the same software tool, model integration is a reasonable concept (Thiede et al. 2016). In any other case, each model combination has to be examined also regarding the following recommendations summarized in Table 4.4.

Characteristics of model couples	Offline coupling	Model integration	Direct coupling	Middleware synchro- nization
Parallelism of several models with different time scales	0	•	•	•
Interactions between models during model execution	0	•	•	•
High ratio between execution time (of each iteration) and model (simulation) time	0	0	0	•
High number of models to be coupled	0	0	0	•
Models available in the same software environment	0	•	0	0
Only two or few models, available in specialized software	•	0	•	•

Table 4.4 Recommendations for model coupling

•: recommended; O: not recommended; O: reasonable, depending on circumstances

#### 4.7.5 Verification and Validation (VI)

Each specialized model and the connected multiscale model have to be verified and validated (VDI 2014). Verification means, that an implemented model is tested regarding providing the correct results based on the intended model logic without errors. Validation means, that a model is tested regarding representing the corresponding real world system precisely enough with respect to the defined simulation objective. For the validation of the connected multiscale model, a focus has to be set on the validation of cause-effect relations between different production system elements. In general, verification and validation can both be supported by various methods and techniques. Examples are validation based on historical data, fixed or extreme value tests, sensitivity analysis, and sub model tests. Further procedures for verification and validation as well as common methods and techniques are presented for example by Rabe et al. (2008) and Wenzel et al. (2008).

# 4.7.6 Definition (VII) and Execution (VIII) of Simulation Runs

Simulation runs have to be defined (step VII) by creating consistent parameter sets and boundary conditions such as simulation time periods and seed values for random number generators.<sup>42</sup> The definition of simulation runs has to be aligned with the simulation objectives (from step II). Simulation runs represent different production system scenarios which should be compared. Examples are the evaluations of impacts resulting from different processing times, energy demands, shift times, facility locations, or used raw materials on all of the defined performance indicators. If the impacts of specific parameters shall be analyzed in detail, multiple simulation runs can be defined in order to generate results for a sensitivity analysis. In this case, only specific parameters are changed while all other parameters are kept constant. If stochastic variables are included within the simulation, it is also important to conduct multiple simulation runs for the same scenario in order to increase the quality of the results (Wenzel et al. 2008). However, there is no established rule for the definition of the required number of simulation runs and it is often based on experience (März et al. 2011). Kelton (2000) suggested to use traditional experimental design methods to defined simulation experiments and to derive the best combination of input parameters.

After the definition of simulation runs, the multiscale simulation model is used to execute these simulation runs and to generate and prepare the resulting data for the following evaluation (step VIII). Depending on the execution time of the overall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>Using a fixed seed value means, that stochastic variables (e.g. for machine failure) are determined based on a random number generator but that these determined values are the same for each simulation run. This allows to compare different simulation runs with stochastic variables. If random seed values are used, the stochastic variables are different for each simulation run.

model, this step may require a lot of time. The results have to be stored in data formats (e.g. spread sheets) which are easily accessible for evaluation even when simulation tools are terminated.

# 4.7.7 Evaluation of Simulation Results (IX) and Objectives (X)

The first evaluation (step IX) refers to the analysis of the quality of simulation results. It has to be checked if the results are valid and plausible. Moreover, it has to be checked whether they are suitable for the evaluation of the simulation objectives or if required results are missing or if the resolution of results is not high enough. Furthermore, if the results indicate hot-spots within the simulated production activity (e.g. bottle necks or machines with very high energy demands), it has to be checked if these relevant aspects are covered by the results precisely enough or if more detailed models are required for a deeper analysis. In the latter case, models have to be modified or additional models have to be created.

The second evaluation (step X) refers to the analysis of the simulation objectives based on the simulation results. The performance indicator values – based on the definition in Table 4.3 – resulting from different simulation runs have to be compared to derive insight into the system behavior and to evaluate the benefits and shortcomings of the scenarios. This step requires strong involvement of experts from different disciplines. If the results are not sufficient for the evaluation of the defined objectives (e.g. the simulated time period is not long enough), additional simulation runs have to be defined and executed.

#### 4.7.8 Reporting of Evaluation Results (XI)

The quantitative and qualitative findings from the result evaluation have to be combined within a report which addresses the defined objectives. The results will be used by planners from the involved disciplines to derive recommendations for real world decisions towards the improvement of a battery production system. Reports have to contain a description about the utilized simulation models, the characteristics of simulation runs, performance indicator values for each simulation runs, as well as a summary of the results and derived conclusions about the scenarios. A report has to state the impacts on production costs, environmental impacts, and quality of batteries or battery components. Value stream maps can be used for each produced product type (electrodes, cells, modules, systems) showing the process sequences and highlighting the most crucial processes regarding production time, energy demand, and material consumption. Specific requirements for reports have to be discussed with the involved stakeholders. Overall, it is important to clearly state and collect new findings regarding the system behavior in order to establish a knowledge base which allows deriving new improvement measures or experiments.

# References

- E. Abele, S. Braun, and P. Schraml. Holistic Simulation Environment for Energy Consumption Prediction of Machine Tools. *Procedia CIRP*, 29:251–256, 2015. ISSN 22128271. doi:10.1016/ j.procir.2015.02.059.
- S. Alvandi, W. Li, M. Schönemann, S. Kara, and C. Herrmann. Economic and environmental value stream map (E 2 VSM) simulation for multi-product manufacturing systems. *Int. J. Sustain. Eng.*, pages 1–9, mar 2016. ISSN 1939-7038. doi:10.1080/19397038.2016.1161095.
- T. Baines, S. Mason, P. O. Siebers, and J. Ladbrook. Humans: The missing link in manufacturing simulation? *Simul. Model. Pract. Theory*, 12(7-8 SPEC. ISS.):515–526, 2004. ISSN 1569190X. doi:10.1016/S1569-190X(03)00094-7.
- J. Banks, J. S. Carson, B. L. Nelson, and D. M. Nicol. *Discrete-event System Simulation*. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, 5th edition, 2010. ISBN 978-0136062127.
- M. Baumeister and J. Fleischer. Integrated cut and place module for high productive manufacturing of lithium-ion cells. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 63(1):5–8, 2014. ISSN 17260604. doi:10. 1016/j.cirp.2014.03.063.
- S. Bergmann. Automatische Generierung adaptiver Modelle zur Simulation von Produktionssystemen. Universitätsverlag Ilmenau, Ilmenau, 2014. ISBN 9783863600846.
- U. Bierbaum and J. Hütter. *Druckluft kompendium*. Hoppenstedt Bonnier Zeitschriften GmbH, Darmstadt, 2004. ISBN 3935772114.
- A. Birolini. Reliability Engineering Theory and Practice. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- H. Bockholt, W. Haselrieder, and a. Kwade. Intensive Dry and Wet Mixing Influencing the Structural and Electrochemical Properties of Secondary Lithium-Ion Battery Cathodes. *ECS Trans.*, 50(26):25–35, 2013. ISSN 19385862. doi:10.1149/05026.0025ecst.
- G. Bogdanski, M. Schönemann, S. Thiede, S. Andrew, and C. Herrmann. An Extended Energy Value Stream Approach Applied on the Electronics Industry. In Adv. Prod. Manag. Syst. Compet. Manuf. Innov. Prod. Serv. IFIP WG 5.7 Int. Conf. APMS 2012, Rhodes, Greece, pages 65–72. Springer, 2013.
- D. Bohne. *Technischer Ausbau von Gebäuden*. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, Wiesbaden, 2014. ISBN 978-3-8348-1832-4. doi:10.1007/978-3-8348-2253-6.
- C. Brecher, M. Esser, and S. Witt. Interaction of manufacturing process and machine tool. CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol., 58(2):588–607, 2009. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2009.09.005.
- H. Brüggemann and P. Bremer. Grundlagen Qualitätsmanagement. Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden, Wiesbaden, 2015. ISBN 978-3-658-09220-7. doi:10.1007/978-3-658-09221-4.
- Y. Chen and S. Treado. Development of a simulation platform based on dynamic models for HVAC control analysis. *Energy Build.*, 68:376–386, 2014. ISSN 03787788. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2013. 09.016.
- G. Cherem-Pereira and N. Mendes. Empirical modeling of room air conditioners for building energy analysis. *Energy Build.*, 47:19–26, 2012. ISSN 0378-7788. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2011.11.012.
- D. B. Crawley, J. W. Hand, M. Kummert, and B. T. Griffith. Contrasting the capabilities of building energy performance simulation programs. *Build. Environ.*, 43(4):661–673, 2008. ISSN 03601323. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.10.027.
- S. De Antonellis, C. M. Joppolo, and L. Molinaroli. Simulation, performance analysis and optimization of desiccant wheels. *Energy Build.*, 42(9):1386–1393, 2010. ISSN 03787788. doi:10. 1016/j.enbuild.2010.03.007.
- T. Devoldere, W. Dewulf, W. Deprez, B. Willems, and J. R. Duflou. Improvement Potential for Energy Consumption in Discrete Part Production Machines. In S. Takata and Y. Umeda, editors, *Proc. 14th CIRP Conf. Life Cycle Eng.*, London, 2007. Springer London. ISBN 978-1-84628-934-7. doi:10.1007/978-1-84628-935-4.
- A. Dietmair, A. Verl, and P. Eberspaecher. Predictive Simulation for Model Based Energy Consumption Optimisation in Manufacturing System and Machine Control. In *Flex. Autom. Intell. Manuf. FAIM2009*, pages 226–233, Teesside, UK, 2009.

- C. Eisele. Simulationsgestützte Optimierung des elektrischen Energiebedarfs spanender Werkzeugmaschinen. Shaker, 2014. ISBN 978-3-8440-3270-3.
- K. Erlach and E. Westkämper. *Energiewertstrom Der Weg zur energieeffizienten Fabrik*. Fraunhofer Verlag, Stuttgart, 2009.
- K. Erlach. Wertstromdesign. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, 2007.
- W. Feng, J. Grunewald, A. Nicolai, C. Zhang, and J. S. Zhang. CHAMPS-Multizone A combined heat, air, moisture and pollutant simulation environment for whole-building performance analysis. *HVAC&R Res.*, 18(1-2):233–251, 2012. ISSN 1078-9669. doi:10.1080/10789669.2011.587585.
- K. Fitzner, editor. *Raumklimatechnik*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 978-3-540-57181-0. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-68213-4.
- W. Geiger and W. Kotte. *Handbuch Qualität*. Vieweg+Teubner Verlag, Wiesbaden, 2005. ISBN 978-3-322-94290-6. doi:10.1007/978-3-322-94289-0.
- T. T. Gorecki, F. A. Qureshi, and C. N. Jones. OpenBuild: An integrated simulation environment for building control. In 2015 IEEE Conf. Control Appl., pages 1522–1527. IEEE, sep 2015. ISBN 978-1-4799-7787-1. doi:10.1109/CCA.2015.7320826.
- P. Greschke and C. Herrmann. Das Humanpotenzial einer taktunabhängigen Montage. ZWF -Zeitschrift für wirtschaftlichen Fabrikbetr., 2014(10):687–690, 2014.
- P. Greschke, M. Schönemann, S. Thiede, and C. Herrmann. Matrix Structures for High Volumes and Flexibility in Production Systems. *Procedia CIRP*, 17:160–165, 2014. ISSN 22128271. doi:10. 1016/j.procir.2014.02.040.
- P. Greschke. *Matrix-Produktion taktunabhängige Flieβfertigung*. Dissertation, Technische Universität Braunschweig, 2016.
- T. Gutowski, M. S. Branham, J. B. Dahmus, A. J. Jones, A. Thiriez, and D. P. Sekulic. Thermodynamic analysis of resources used in manufacturing processes. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 43(5):1584– 1590, 2009. ISSN 0013936X. doi:10.1021/es8016655.
- T. Gutowski, J. Dahmus, and A. Thiriez. Electrical Energy Requirements for Manufacturing Processes. 13 th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., (Cvd):1–5, 2006.
- P. Halubek and C. Herrmann. Design of Mixed Model Assembly Lines Simulation based Planning Support. In *44th CIRP Conf. Manuf. Syst.*, 2011.
- L. G. Harriman. The Dehumidification Handbook. Number 978. 2002. ISBN 0971788707.
- W. Haselrieder, S. Ivanov, D. K. Christen, H. Bockholt, and A. Kwade. Impact of the Calendering Process on the Interfacial Structure and the Related Electrochemical Performance of Secondary Lithium-Ion Batteries. *ECS Trans.*, 50(26):59–70, 2013.
- R. H. Hayes and S. C. Wheelwright. Link manufacturing process and product life cycles. *Harv. Bus. Rev.*, January-Fe:133–140, 1979.
- B. Heinzl, C. Dorn, and A.-A. Dimitriou. Object-oriented modelling of machine tools for energy efficiency analysis in production. In T. Inge, editor, *7th Vienna Int. Conf. Math. Model. (MATH-MOD 2012)*, pages 1300–1303, feb 2012. doi:10.3182/20120215-3-AT-3016.00231.
- C. Herrmann, S. Thiede, S. Kara, and J. Hesselbach. Energy oriented simulation of manufacturing systems Concept and application. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 60(1):45–48, jan 2011. ISSN 00078506. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011.03.127.
- J. Hesselbach. Energie-und klimaeffiziente Produktion. *Springer Vieweg*, page 367, 2012. doi:10. 1007/978-3-8348-9956-9.
- S. Hu, J. Ko, L. Weyand, H. ElMaraghy, T. Lien, Y. Koren, H. Bley, G. Chryssolouris, N. Nasr, and M. Shpitalni. Assembly system design and operations for product variety. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 60(2):715–733, jan 2011. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2011.05.004.
- ISPE. *ISPE Good Practice Guide: Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning (HVAC)*. International Society for Pharmaceutical Engineering (ISPE), 2009. ISBN 1-931879-57-5.
- A. S. Kalagasidis, P. Weitzmann, T. R. Nielsen, R. Peuhkuri, C.-E. Hagentoft, and C. Rode. The International Building Physics Toolbox in Simulink. *Energy Build.*, 39(6):665–674, 2007. ISSN 03787788. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2006.10.007.

- W. D. Kelton. Design of Experiments: Experimental Design for Simulation. In Proc. 32Nd Conf. Winter Simul., pages 32–38, Orlando, Florida, 2000. Society for Computer Simulation International.
- B. Kenney, K. Darcovich, D. D. MacNeil, and I. J. Davidson. Modelling the impact of variations in electrode manufacturing on lithium-ion battery modules. J. Power Sources, 213:391–401, sep 2012. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2012.03.065.
- R. Kossel, W. Tegethoff, M. Bodmann, and N. Lemke. Simulation of complex systems using Modelica and tool coupling. In *Modelica*, pages 485–490, 2006.
- R. Kossel. *Hybride Simulation thermischer Systeme am Beispiel eines Reisebusses*. Dissertation, Technische Universität Braunschweig, 2011.
- M. Lampinen, M. El Haj Assad, and E. F. Curd. Physical fundamentals. In H. Goodfellow and E. Tähti, editors, *Ind. Vent. Des. Guideb.* 2007. ISBN 978-0-12-289676-7.
- G. Langer and L. Alting. An architecture for Agile Shop Floor control systems. J. Manuf. Syst., 19(4):267–281, jan 2000. ISSN 02786125. doi:10.1016/S0278-6125(01)80006-6.
- S. Li, H. Wang, S. J. Hu, Y. T. Lin, and J. A. Abell. Automatic generation of assembly system configuration with equipment selection for automotive battery manufacturing. *J. Manuf. Syst.*, 30(4):188–195, 2011. ISSN 02786125. doi:10.1016/j.jmsy.2011.07.009.
- F. Liebl. Simulation: problemorientierte Einführung. Oldenbourg, 2nd edition, 1995. ISBN 9783486233735.
- L. März, W. Krug, O. Rose, and G. Weigert. Simulation und Optimierung in Produktion und Logistik. 2011. ISBN 9783642145353. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-14536-0.
- S. Mousavi, S. Kara, and B. Kornfeld. Energy Efficiency of Compressed Air Systems. *Procedia CIRP*, 15:313–318, 2014. ISSN 22128271. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2014.06.026.
- S. Mousavi, S. Thiede, W. Li, S. Kara, and C. Herrmann. An integrated approach for improving energy efficiency of manufacturing process chains. *Int. J. Sustain. Eng.*, 7038(January): 1–14, 2015. ISSN 1939-7038. doi:10.1080/19397038.2014.1001470.
- P. A. Nelson, S. Ahmed, K. G. Gallagher, and D. W. Dees. Cost savings for manufacturing lithium batteries in a flexible plant. *J. Power Sources*, 283:506–516, 2015. ISSN 03787753. doi:10.1016/ j.jpowsour.2015.02.142.
- T. S. Nouidui and M. Wetter. Tool coupling for the design and operation of building energy and control systems based on the Functional Mock-up Interface standard. pages 311–320, 2014. doi:10.3384/ecp14096311.
- T. Ören. Coupling concepts for simulation: A systematic and comprehensive view and advantages with declarative models. *Int. J. Model. Simulation, Sci. Comput.*, 05 (02):1430001, jun 2014. ISSN 1793-9623. doi:10.1142/S1793962314300015.
- L. Pérez-Lombard, J. Ortiz, and C. Pout. A review on buildings energy consumption information. *Energy Build.*, 40(3):394–398, 2008. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2007.03.007.
- W. Plinke and M. Rese. *Industrielle Kostenrechnung*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2006. ISBN 978-3-540-23705-1.
- G. Posselt, J. Fischer, T. Heinemann, S. Thiede, S. Alvandi, N. Weinert, S. Kara, and C. Herrmann. Extending Energy Value Stream Models by the TBS Dimension Applied on a Multi Product Process Chain in the Railway Industry. *Procedia CIRP*, 15:80–85, 2014. ISSN 22128271. doi:10. 1016/j.procir.2014.06.067.
- G. Posselt. Towards Energy Transparent Factories. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN 978-3-319-20868-8. doi:10. 1007/978-3-319-20869-5.
- M. Rabe, S. Spieckermann, and S. Wenzel. *Verifikation und Validierung für die Simulation in Produktion und Logistik.* Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008. ISBN 978-3-540-35281-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-35282-2.
- E. Ruppelt, editor. Drucklufthandbuch. Vulkan-Verlang GmbH, Essen, 4th edition, 2003.
- W. R. Ryckaert, C. Lootens, J. Geldof, and P. Hanselaer. Criteria for energy efficient lighting in buildings. *Energy Build.*, 42(3):341–347, 2010. doi:10.1016/j.enbuild.2009.09.012.

- R. Saidur, N. A. Rahim, and M. Hasanuzzaman. A review on compressed-air energy use and energy savings. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, 14(4):1135–1153, 2010. ISSN 13640321. doi:10.1016/j. rser.2009.11.013.
- J. Schmitt, A. Raatz, F. Dietrich, K. Dröder, and J. Hesselbach. Process and performance optimization by selective assembly of battery electrodes. *CIRP Ann. - Manuf. Technol.*, 63(1):9–12, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.cirp.2014.03.018.
- M. Schönemann, S. Thiede, and C. Herrmann. Integrating Product Characteristics into Extended Value Stream Modeling. *Procedia CIRP*, 17:368–373, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2014.01.091.
- M. Schönemann, P. Greschke, C. Herrmann, and S. Thiede. Simulation of matrix-structured manufacturing systems. J. Manuf. Syst., 37:104–112, 2015. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2015. 09.002.
- M. Schönemann, D. Kurle, C. Herrmann, and S. Thiede. Multi-product EVSM Simulation. *Procedia CIRP*, 41:334–339, 2016. doi:10.1016/j.procir.2015.10.012.
- S. Schrems. Methode zur modellbasierten Integration des maschinenbezogenen Energiebedarfs in die Produktionsplanung. Shaker, 2014. ISBN 978-3844029994.
- Y. Seow and S. Rahimifard. A framework for modelling energy consumption within manufacturing systems. CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol., 4(3):258–264, jan 2011. doi:10.1016/j.cirpj.2011.03.007.
- S. Sicklinger, V. Belsky, B. Engelmann, H. Elmqvist, H. Olsson, R. Wüchner, and K.-U. Bletzinger. Interface Jacobian-based Co-Simulation. *Int. J. Numer. Methods Eng.*, 98(6):418–444, 2014. doi:10.1002/nme.4637.
- P.-O. Siebers. Worker Performance Modeling in Manufacturing Systems Simulation. In *Handb. Res. Nature-Inspired Comput. Econ. Manag.*, pages 661–678. IGI Global, 2007. doi:10.4018/978-1-59140-984-7.ch043.
- R. Simon. Aufbau einer Fabrik zur Zellfertigung. In R. Korthauer, editor, *Handb. Lithium-Ionen-Batterien*, pages 249–257. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN 978-3-642-30652-5.
- T. Sweafford and H.-S. Yoon. Co-simulation of dynamic systems in parallel and serial model configurations. J. Mech. Sci. Technol., 27(12):3579–3587, dec 2013. doi:10.1007/s12206-013-0909-x.
- S. Thiede. Energy Efficiency in Manufacturing Systems. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN 978-3-642-25913-5. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-25914-2.
- S. Thiede, G. Posselt, and C. Herrmann. SME appropriate concept for continuously improving the energy and resource efficiency in manufacturing companies. *CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol.*, 6(3): 204–211, 2013a. doi:10.1016/j.cirpj.2013.02.006.
- S. Thiede, Y. Seow, J. Andersson, and B. Johansson. Environmental aspects in manufacturing system modelling and simulation-State of the art and research perspectives. *CIRP J. Manuf. Sci. Technol.*, 6(1):78–87, 2013b. doi:10.1016/j.cirpj.2012.10.004.
- S. Thiede, M. Schönemann, D. Kurle, and C. Herrmann. Multi-level simulation in manufacturing companies: the Water-Energy Nexus case. J. Clean. Prod., 139:1118–1127, 2016. ISSN 0959-6526. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.08.144.
- M. Trčka and J. L. M. Hensen. Overview of HVAC system simulation. Autom. Constr., 19:93–99, 2010. ISSN 09265805. doi:10.1016/j.autcon.2009.11.019.
- Umweltbundesamt. Entwicklung der spezifischen Kohlendioxid- Emissionen des deutschen Strommix in den Jahren 1990 bis 2014, 2015.
- VDI. VDI 6020: Anforderungen an Rechenverfahren zur Gebäude- und Anlagensimulation Gebäudesimulation (engl.: Requirements on methods of calculation to thermal and energy simulation of buildings and plants Buildings), 2001.
- VDI. VDI 3633, Sheet 1: Simulation von Logistik-, Materialfluss- und Produktionssystemen Grundlagen (engl.: Simulation of systems in materials handling, logistics and production Fundamentals), 2014.

- VDI. VDI 2078: Berechnung der thermischen Lasten und Raumtemperaturen (Auslegung Kühllast und Jahressimulation) (engl.: Calculation of thermal loads and room temperatures (design cooling load and annual simulation)), 2015.
- Weather Underground. Weather forecasts and reports (web page: accessed 2015-11-02), 2015. URL www.wunderground.com/history/.
- S. Wenzel, M. Weiß, S. Collisi-Böhmer, H. Pitsch, and O. Rose. *Qualitätskriterien für die Simulation in Produktion und Logistik*. VDI-Buch. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008. ISBN 978-3-540-35272-3. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-35276-1.
- M. Wetter, W. Zuo, T. S. Nouidui, and X. Pang. Modelica Buildings library. J. Build. Perform. Simul., 7(4):253–270, 2014. doi:10.1080/19401493.2013.765506.
- M. Wetter. Co-simulation of building energy and control systems with the Building Controls Virtual Test Bed. *J. Build. Perform. Simul.*, 4(3):185–203, sep 2010. doi:10.1080/19401493.2010. 518631.
- M. Winter. Eco-efficiency of Grinding Processes and Systems. Springer International Publishing, 2016. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-25205-6.
- A. J. Wright, M. R. Oates, and R. Greenough. Concepts for dynamic modelling of energy-related flows in manufacturing. *Appl. Energy*, 112:1342–1348, 2013. ISSN 03062619. doi:10.1016/j. apenergy.2013.01.056.
- T. Wuest. Identifying Product and Process State Drivers in Manufacturing Systems Using Supervised Machine Learning. Springer Theses. Springer International Publishing, 2015. ISBN 978-3-319-17610-9. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-17611-6.
- M. Yoshio, R. J. Brodd, and A. Kozawa, editors. *Lithium-Ion Batteries*. Springer New York, New York, NY, 2009. ISBN 978-0-387-34444-7.
- W. Zuo, M. Wetter, D. Li, M. Jin, W. Tian, and Q. Chen. Coupled simulation of indoor environment, hvac and control system by using fast fluid dynamics and the modelica buildings library. In ASHRAE/IBPSA-USA Build. Simul. Conf., pages 56–63, Atlanta, 2014.

# Chapter 5 Implementation of a Multiscale Core Model

The concept of a multiscale simulation for battery production systems is centered around a process chain model which acts as a coordinator for other models. Such process chain model determines the activities within a production system and derives inputs for detailed models of system elements. Consequently, this model is a key component of multiscale simulations.

For this reason, an adaptable multiscale core model was developed and implemented, which can be configured to any kind of process chain, contains essential sub-models, which can by extended by external simulation models. The intention behind this model is to provide a flexible software tool which contains the minimum functionality needed for the realization of specific multiscale simulation applications. To serve this purpose, the core model allows simulating the material flow of processing units and contains generic models for machines, product characteristics and processes, lighting, and workers. Furthermore, the model has interfaces for connecting external simulation models such as detailed process models, TBS system models, or a building model. As an example, a model for a compressed air generation system was implemented which is connected to the core model via a middleware software. This chapter presents the architecture of the core model (Sect. 5.1), its components (Sect. 5.2), the compressed air generation system model (Sect. 5.3), the synchronization concept for the connection of external models (Sect. 5.4), as well as the verification of the overall model (Sect. 5.5).

# 5.1 Core Model Architecture

The model architecture describes the components and their interactions within the core model. The main function of the core model is the simulation of the flowof

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_5

processing units through a virtual shop floor consisting of different machines<sup>1</sup>. Processing units are of a certain product type which specifies the sequence of required production steps, each of which is allocated to one or several machines. Furthermore, processing units belong to jobs which are characterized by a job type and a quantity of final products. During production time, processing units search for suitable machines, move to these machines and are processed until the last production step is finished (see Sect. 4.3.2). Processing units and machines are modeled as agents with individual properties based on agent classes. This allows the replication of agents and a flexible definition of process chain layouts.

The core model also contains models for lighting and workers (agents) according to the multiscale model structure shown in Fig. 4.28. All system elements are assigned or dynamically linked to building zones. The core model aggregates all variables on the main level – and if necessary for each building zone –, provides data to interfaces for external models, and determines performance indicators. These indicators are visualized within a cockpit for result evaluation during simulation runs. The model also has an export function to make the results available after simulation. Figure 5.1 drafts the model architecture by showing the different sub-models and components with their inherent variables and information, as well as the interfaces for external models.

Based on this architecture, the core model is implemented within the software AnyLogic. AnyLogic is a hybrid simulation tool which enables combining DE, DS,



Fig. 5.1 Architecture of the multiscale core model with interfaces for external models

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As stated in the concept derivation, machines can also be substituted by workstations which do not utilize any equipment.
AB, and SD simulation within one model. The software is based on the programming language Java.<sup>2</sup>

#### 5.2 Core Model Components

As shown in Fig. 5.1, the main components of the core model are sub-models for jobs, product types, processing units, machine agents, workers, lights, building zones, the evaluation cockpit, and schedules. This section describes these components.

#### 5.2.1 Jobs and Product Types

Jobs and product types are objects used for defining and controlling the sequence and routing of processing units. Jobs correspond to requests for the production of a quantity of a product type. As an example, a job is created for the production of 1000 battery cells of a certain type or for the assembly of 200 specific modules. Depending on the product type, different processing units are required to simulate the routing of a job as well as to track product characteristics along the process chain. For this reason, job objects define the type and quantity of processing units which are required to simulate the production of a desired quantity of final products.<sup>3</sup> In the process chain model, a job is characterized by a job type, the desired quantity of final products and the associated product type(s). Three different job types have been predefined. The first is a generic job type which can be used to imitate the production of one product type in a certain quantity. This job creates a number of processing units corresponding to the desired quantity. Processing units can be treated as single product units or as batches.<sup>4</sup> This allows using the generic job type if identical product units should be produced. The second job type addresses the production of battery cells. A job defines two processing units, each of which represents an electrode batch. When both batches are completed, the job defines processing units according to the desired quantity of cells. A job is completed when the last related processing unit (cell) is finished. It is necessary to specify the product types for anodes, cathodes, and cells. The third job type is usable for the combined assembly of modules and systems. The desired quantity of systems has to be specified to derive the required number of modules.<sup>5</sup> As soon as enough modules are finished to complete a system, a processing unit of a system may start production. Table 5.1 summarizes the characteristics of the three job types.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Further information about AnyLogic can be found on www.anylogic.com.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>As an example, the production of 100 cells requires two processing units representing the electrode batches and 100 processing units for representing each cell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>That means that the number of processing units is different for single unit or batch production. Example: If 100 product units should be produced in batches of 20 units, required are five processing units. A generic job would have to be defined with a quantity of five.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The number of modules per system has to be specified in the system's product type definition.

(0), 00115 (0	e), modules (m),	and systems (s)) and related proce	Jooning units
Job type	Quantity (Q)	Product type (PT)	Processing units
Generic	Q	PT	
Cell	Qcell	$PT_{anode}, PT_{cathode}, PT_{cell}$	(a) (c) (c)
System	Qsystem	PT <sub>module</sub> , PT <sub>system</sub>	ms

**Table 5.1** Characterization of job types regarding quantity, product types (anodes (a), cathodes (c), cells (ce), modules (m), and systems (s)) and related processing units

The definition of product types allows the differentiation of electrodes, cells, modules, and systems. Moreover, a product type can specify different variants of these products such as electrodes of different materials or cells with different numbers of layers. In this model, product types specify processing units regarding their production step sequences, the allocation of production steps to machines, as well as processing times and material inputs per production step.

In summary, the job and product type objects make it possible to configure the model to simulate a specific process chain. It can be used to simulate different production stages – according the defined system boundaries – separately or within a combined process chain.

#### 5.2.2 Processing Unit Agents

Processing units are modeled as agents based on a processing unit agent class. On process chain level, processing units are displayed by simplified interactive icons which indicate the ID and product type. Moreover, a dynamic circle indicates the progress during processing. Within each agent, the icon contains further information about the current state, accumulated material cost and direct embodied energy (DEE), as well as an illustration of the current product state. Figure 5.2 shows an exemplary icon of an electrode processing unit within the first mixing process, still in raw material state.

This agent class contains a state chart for representing the states of a processing unit during production, parameters for defining the product specifications, the related job and assigned product type, variables for product characteristics, input materials, and direct embodied energy as well as an algorithm for selecting the next suitable machine. The state chart of a processing unit indicates if a processing unit is already started, searches for a next machine, moves to a machine, is at a machine, or is completed after the last production step. These states allow to control and monitor the behavior of processing units within the process chain. When a processing unit is created and initialized, it searches for the first machine. For this task, the algorithm is implemented according to the shortest throughput time control strategy.<sup>6</sup> This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Other control strategies and selection criteria are possible (see Sect. 4.3.2).



**Fig. 5.3** Screenshot (for illustration only) of processing unit agent class content: *top left* icon, state chart, parameters and variables; *top right* product specification and characteristics per state; *bottom* algorithm (action chart) for machine selection

algorithm requires information from machine agents such as the location and the time until availability.<sup>7</sup> After a machine is selected, the processing unit agent moves to the machine. When the processing is finished, the machine agent sends a signal to the processing unit which searches for the next machine. If no available machine can be found, the processing unit blocks the current machine. In this case, the search algorithm stays active until a machine becomes available. This logic corresponds to the processing unit flow illustrated in Fig. 4.9. Figure 5.3 presents a screenshot of the processing unit agent.

The flow of processing units is visualized by a value stream map. For each production step, the model creates a data field which is filled with related performance indicators such as processing time and waiting time. This allows analyzing if, where, and for how long a processing unit had to wait prior to processing. Also it is possible to determine the overall time of production for each processing unit. Each agent con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>If external machine models are used, the remaining processing time might not be known or predetermined but a result of the simulation. In this case, the algorithm considers a very long time until availability. As a result, a machine is usually not selected unless no other machine is available.



Fig. 5.4 Screenshot of an exemplary VSM representation within a processing unit agent

tains a VSM representation showing the history of processing. Figure 5.4 presents a screenshot of an exemplary VSM representation of an processing unit for an electrode batch. The figure shows the sequence of processes for an electrode job with related processing data as well as a summary of derived indicators such as lead time. The bars indicate the productive and non-productive time shares. Furthermore, the representation shows the direct energy demands from processing at each machine.

#### 5.2.3 Machine Agents

Machines are also modeled as agents based on a machine agent class. On process chain level, machines are displayed by interactive icons which indicate machine name, number, current state (by the color of the border), the current demands, machine temperature, the number of processing units within the buffer, and the time shares per state. Figure 5.5 shows an exemplary screenshot of a machine icon.

The dynamic characteristics of a machine are determined decentralized within a machine agent. On the inside, each machine agent consists of a flow chart for modeling the processing unit agent flow through the machine, a state chart for modeling of possible states and their transitions, parameters for specifying machine properties (e.g. location, buffer size, etc.)<sup>8</sup>, and variables for describing the machine characteristics (e.g. power demand, compressed air demand, and heat emissions). Elements of the AnyLogic enterprise library are used to model the processing unit flow through a machine. These elements allow to control the routing of processing unit entities entering a machine to a buffer (queue element) which is closed (by a hold element) in case the machine is still ramping-up. After ramp-up, a processing unit is routed to the actual process (delay element) and – after the processing time – the processing unit



Coater and dryer
PD: 50,000 CAD: 7 Buffer <b>0</b> /5 Resv: 0
T: 24.662

<sup>8</sup>Machine parameters can be externally configured in spreadsheets and imported to the model.

leaves the machine if a new machine (or a buffer) is available for further processing. If a processing unit does not find a next machine, the processing unit blocks the current machine. If a machine failure occurs, the state chart switches to the failure state and it is assumed that the machine behaves as in idle state. The processing of the current processing unit is resumed after the failure is resolved.<sup>9</sup>

The flow chart communicates with the state chart which describes possible machine states according to the definition of the generic machine model. The state chart further determines the demands for electric power and compressed air. Furthermore, the state chart allows to determine the time shares of different operational states such as ramp-up time, idle time, and processing time. This also enables to derive the utilization of each machine. The power demand is input to the calculations of machine temperature and heat emissions which also require certain machine parameters (mass, surface area, etc.) and the current building zone temperature.

In addition, machine agents contain an algorithm for determining the time until a machine is available for processing of a next processing unit. This algorithm considers various factors such as the current state and buffer level, remaining processing time, future processing times of buffered processing units, and remaining movement times of processing units which are currently moving to a machine. Figure 5.6 shows a screenshot excerpt of the machine agent class content.

Machine agents can further contain process models and a set of associated process parameters. Process models describe how a process modifies particular product characteristics of processing units. Depending on the specific process, process models can be realized by functions which calculate the resulting product characteristics based on specifications and existing characteristics of a processing unit. Alternatively, if the processing results vary over time or different sequential activities can be distinguished, it is also possible to use timed state charts to define the execution of functions in more detail.<sup>10</sup>

Finally, machine agents are responsible for the connection of external machine models. For each machine, a machine agent has to be placed within the process chain. If an external machine model is used, the machine agent coordinates the execution of the external model. For this purpose, the state chart contains a section which controls the interaction with external models. This is important since the external model has to behave according to the defined states. Thus, the state chart of the machine agent is used to send and receive coordinating signals. The machine agent also receives values for power and compressed air demand from the external model. Table 5.2 lists the variables for communication with an external model.

This set of variables may be extended for specific purposes. For example, if an external machine model simulates the detailed thermal behavior of machine compo-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Different failure behavior could be implemented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>This might be relevant for processes with long processing times. As an example, the process characteristics during coating and drying may vary over time if the machine temperature increases or the coating thickness increases due to variations in the coating device. The characteristics of the coating layer may vary over time and may differ for different fragments of the layer. In this case, a state chart may repeatedly trigger the process model function.

nents, the external model has to provide the heat emissions to the related machine agent.



Fig. 5.6 Screenshot (for illustration only) of machine agent class content: *top left* icon, flow chart and state chart; *top middle* parameters and variables; *top right* evaluation of time shares; *bottom left* energy and heat calculation; *bottom right* algorithm (action chart) for determination of time until availability

Table 5.2         Required           standardized variables for	Send variables	Receive variables		
interaction with external	Ramp-up	Is ramped-up		
models	Processing unit available for processing	Is processing		
	Product type	Processing completed		
	Product specifications/ Characteristics	Power demand compressed air demand		

**Fig. 5.7** Representation of a worker agent on process chain level



#### 5.2.4 Workers

Within the core model, it is assumed that each machine needs at least one worker for operation. Workers are modeled as agents.<sup>11</sup> As soon as a processing unit has selected a machine which is currently turned off, this machine agent requests the required number of workers. On process chain level, worker agents are represented by an interactive icon, which is shown in Fig. 5.7. Each worker agent contains a state chart with the states standing, walking, light work, and hard work. During walking, a worker moves along a defined path to the target location. The current location of a worker is mapped with the building zone areas and the heat and moisture emissions are allocated to the current zone. In general, modeling of worker agents allows either to determine the minimum number of workers or if a specific number of workers if sufficient for the operation of all machines. Furthermore, it allows to determine the heat and moisture emissions to each building zone. This aspect may be relevant for dry rooms which accept only a certain internal moisture intake.

#### 5.2.5 Building Zones and Lighting

The core model allows defining building zones within the global shop floor coordinate system. Zones are characterized by area, temperature, lighting condition, and inside heat and moisture emissions. Heat emissions are caused by machines, workers, and lighting. For this reason, machines are assigned to building zones according to their position within the shop floor and processing units and workers are linked to zones based on their current location. The core model aggregates these emissions for each building zone and provides the internal loads to an interface for the connection of a building model. In return, a building model is expected to provide the inside temperature – and, depending on the specific building model – humidity of each zone. For this purpose, the definition of building zones in the process chain model has to match the zone definition in the external building model.

Each building zone has light sources which can be operated according to different schedules and control strategies. In the current model, the lights are turned on when a worker enters a zone and turned off if the last worker leaves a zone.<sup>12</sup> The control of lighting for each zone is realized by a state chart which assigns a state-based power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>The model contains a pool of workers which are all able to operate any type of machine. It would also be possible to specify the skills and characteristics of each worker agent in more detail.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>It is assumed that all lights within a zone are turned on and off simultaneously.



Fig. 5.8 Screenshot of core model level with zones, machines, workers, and processing units

demand for lighting. This power demand depends on the required lighting intensity, efficiency, zone area, and type of light source. The power demand equals the heat emission to the building zone. Figure 5.8 presents a partial screenshot of the process chain level showing multiple machines and workers within three building zones. The characterizing variables of each zone are presented at the top of each zone. The circles around machines indicate the current intensity of heat emissions.

#### 5.2.6 Shift Schedules

Mostly, production facilities operate only during defined shift hours according to schedules. Considering these schedules in the simulation is important since machines and lights may be turned off and HVAC operation switched into energy saving mode during non-operation hours. Furthermore, the output of final products per time period strongly depends on the shift schedules. AnyLogic allows simulating dates and times based on a calender. This enables defining schedules and deriving control signals for machines, TBS, and machine operators. In the implemented model, it is required to define a daily start time and a shift duration. However, it is also possible to define other schedules considering breaks and weekends.

#### 5.2.7 Evaluation and Visualization

Simulation runs generate various data and values for defined performance indicators. The AnyLogic model allows browsing through all agents and model components to inspect specific variables, plots, and charts. Furthermore, on core model level, the evaluation cockpit provides an overview about the key indicators of each simulation run and allows to visualize and export time series of indicators. Plotting various system variables over a longer period of time enables the analysis of effects acting on a larger time scale such as weather impacts. Also it supports the observation of the required initiation time or so-called warm-up period of the simulation

#### 5.2 Core Model Components



**Fig. 5.9** Screenshot (for illustration only) of the visualization of performance indicators within the model cockpit (energy demands, process chain utilization, building zone characteristics, lead times per job, time shares of machine operation, etc.)

model.<sup>13</sup> Examples of indicators in the cockpit are the electrical power demand of all machines, the compressed air demand of all machines and the resulting compressor power demand, the process chain utilization, as well as the aggregated heat and moisture emissions per building zone. In addition, a pie chart illustrates the shares of demanding systems on the overall energy demand. Furthermore, the cockpit contains histograms of the lead times and embodied energy of jobs as well as a display showing the current output of final products. Figure 5.9 shows a screenshot of the evaluation cockpit.

## 5.3 Compressed Air Generation System

The model for a compressed air generation system is implemented in the software Matlab Simulink based on the previously described concept model. The model consists of the three blocks tank, controller, and compressors. The tank block contains the functions for the calculation of the system pressure *cap*. Inputs to the block are the compressed air demand from the process chain, pressure losses due to leaks, and the air supply from the compressor. The output of the block is the system pressure which is an input to the controller block. The controller determines the air supply required to maintain a system pressure within the accepted interval. It generates signals for switching the compressor states off, on, and idle as well as to determine the air supply, the state-based power demand and the count of switching cycles. Figure 5.10 shows a screenshot of the implemented model.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The warm-up period refers to the time from the start of a simulation run until the model represents the normal or balanced behavior of the real system. For example, in the simulation of a series production, the model is warmed-up if all machines are operating and buffers are filled. This period has to be considered in the result evaluation.



Fig. 5.10 Screenshot of compressed air generation system model in Simulink





## 5.4 Coupling and Synchronization of Models

The core model provides two different types of interfaces for the coupling of external models. First, static numeric models can be connected by a direct interface.<sup>14</sup> The process chain model calls the external model and waits for the results of the external model in order to continue the simulation based on these results. For example, this interface can be used to utilize static process models which calculate resulting product characteristics based on empirical data samples. Such model can be called by a machine agent during the processing state.

Second, external simulation models can be coupled with the core model by using a middleware software. The TISC software suite is used which provides different packages for establishing co-simulations.<sup>15</sup> The core element is the TISC Center which connects different client models. The TISC Center is responsible for the co-simulation configuration, synchronization, and data exchange between all models.<sup>16</sup> Figure 5.11 illustrates the connection of external models to the core model using TISC. At model start-up, AnyLogic has to load the required Java classes and connect to the TISC server. Moreover, all exchanged variables have to be defined at model start up. In the AnyLogic model, a reoccurring event triggers the synchronization by sending values to the Corresponding variables in AnyLogic. Figure 5.12 shows a screenshot of the TISC server control window.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This coupling approach was used in Schönemann et al. (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>TISC is offered by TLK-Thermo GmbH. Information can be found on www.tlk-thermo.com.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The TISC suite provides interfaces to various software tools such as Matlab, Modelica (Dymola), Ansys, and others. However, TISC did not provide a standardized interface for AnyLogic. For this reason, the TLK-Thermo GmbH developed a TISC-to-java interface which enables AnyLogic to communicate with TISC via defined Java classes. This support is gratefully acknowledged!

File Server Help							
Description	IP	Port	Receives	Sends	Synchronization	Sync Rate	Last Time
1 Anylogic	127.0.0.1	64540	🕸 3 Variables	🕸 1 Variables	Sync-Signal	1 s	00:00:00,192
2 Matlab	127.0.0.1	64538	1 Variables	4 Variables	Ø Sync-Signal	0.1 s	00:00:00,000

Fig. 5.12 Screenshot of the TISC server control window

#### 5.5 Verification

The multiscale core model was verified during implementation. To demonstrate the used verification procedure, a generic job and model configurations were defined which support testing of all model functions and generating transparent results which are comparable with static calculations. The job defines the production of one batch of a product type. The product type requires three production steps, each of which is allocated to one machine and needs 60 min of processing time. The three machines are located in two different building zones both with an installed lighting power of 1500 W. Table 5.3 lists the characteristics of the machines.

The energy demand per machine can be calculated based on the time shares for each operational state and the associated power demands. The results of static calculations state that the energy demands of the machines for the production of one batch are 5,500 kWh for machine 1, 8,400 Wh for machine 2, and 6,400 Wh for machine 3.<sup>17</sup> Figure 5.13 presents a plot of the resulting power demand profile and the values of the resulting electrical energy demands. The figure also shows the power demand of lighting. During the operation of the first machine, the lighting in zone 1 is turned on. Afterwards, the lighting in zone 2 is turned on. Since machine 1 is in idle mode for 10 min after processing, there has to be a short period in which the lighting in both zones is turned on. This behavior can be seen in Fig. 5.13. Moreover, the power demand profile allows verifying the correct order of production steps. And since the lighting is turned on and off by workers, the power demand profile of lighting allows to conclude that workers enter and leave the zones correctly.

Similarly, in order to verify the determination of the machine temperature, the simulation results are compared to static calculations. The temperature of a machine can be calculated by using the equation  $Q = m \cdot c \cdot \Delta T$ . With the values for the mass and specific heat capacity, the power inputs, and an initial temperature of 20 °C for each machine, the resulting temperatures of the three machines can be calculated to be 20.61, 20.23, and 20.84 °C. During simulation, the model determines the increase of the temperatures up to the expected values, as shown in Fig. 5.14. After the power is switched off, the machines cool down due to the colder surrounding environment. The calculations of heat emissions of machines, workers, and lights as well as their allocation to building zones were also verified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>For example, the calculation for machine 1 is  $ED_{MACH_1} = 10/60 \text{ h} \cdot 2,000 \text{ W} + 1 \text{ h} \cdot 5,000 \text{ W} + 10/60 \text{ h} \cdot 1000 \text{ Wh} = 5,500 \text{ Wh}.$ 

	Machine 1	Machine 2	Machine 3
Zone	1	2	2
t <sub>ramp-up</sub> (min)	10	10	10
t <sub>shutdown</sub> (min)	10	10	10
PD <sub>rampup</sub> (W)	2,000	3,600	4,800
PD <sub>idle</sub> (W)	1,000	3,600	4,800
PD <sub>processing</sub> (W)	5,000	7,200	4,800
$\operatorname{CAD}_{idle}(m^3/h)$	0	0	0
$CAD_{processing} (m^3/h)$	122	10	10
Mass (kg)	5,000	11,000	3,000
Spec. heat capacity $(kJ/(kg \cdot K))$	0.6	0.9	0.7

 Table 5.3
 Machine configuration for model verification



Fig. 5.13 Simulated power demand of the three machines and lighting



Fig. 5.14 Temperatures of the three machines

The compressed air system model was verified with an approach similar to Thiede (2012), who used a calculation example shown by Bierbaum and Hütter (2004) to verify his compressed air module. They assumed a constant compressed air demand of  $122 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$ , a system volume of  $3 \text{ m}^3$ , as well as a compressor with a maximal volume flow of 201 m<sup>3</sup>/h, 30 kW power demand during operation and 10 kW during idle. Furthermore, Thiede assumed an initial pressure of 8 bars and that the compressor stays in idle mode for 60s before being switched off. He simulated a period of one hour and the results showed eight compressor cycles and a power demand of 19.4 kWh. This scenario was also used for the verification of the developed Simulink



Fig. 5.16 Plots of pressure (left) and compressor power demand (right) for different simulation time step sizes (1, 10, 60 s)

model. One of the machines was specified with a compressed air demand of  $122 \text{ m}^3/\text{h}$ . The model generated the same results with eight cycles and 19.55 kWh.<sup>18</sup> Figure 5.15 shows plots of the compressed air demand of the machine, the system pressure, and the resulting compressor power demand.

Another important aspect is the simulation step size of the compressed air system model as well as the step size for synchronization with the core model. In general, shorter time steps result in more accurate results but correspond to a longer execution time. The definition of the step size may have significant impact on the results. As an example for verification, three different step sizes of the compressed air system model have been tested. The results – shown in Fig. 5.16 – reveal that the step size effects the simulated system pressure and compressor power demand. If the simulation step size is larger, the lower and upper pressure limit is detected too late. This caused the compressor to start and stop the air supply too late which also effects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The slight deviation is caused by the initial pressure of 10 bars and by the fact that the last compressor cycle was completely simulated and not stopped after exactly 3600 s.



Fig. 5.17 Plots of demand (*top*) and pressure (*bottom*) for different synchronization time steps (1, 10, 60 s)

the resulting power demand of the compressor. The values for the power demand are 19.55, 19.583, and 19.50 kW for a model step size 1, 10, and 60 s respectively. Although these variations are rather low, they could add up to a larger error over the simulation period.<sup>19</sup>

In addition to the simulation step size, the synchronization step size is another relevant factor. This step size indicates how often variables are synchronized between the two models. At every synchronization step, the core model provides the current compressed air demand to the compressed air system model. That means that peaks in the compressed air demand which occur between two synchronization steps will not be communicated. To demonstrate this effect, a compressed air demand peak of 200 m<sup>3</sup>/h was generated for 30 s. Three simulation runs were conducted with synchronization step size of 1, 10, and 60 s. Figure 5.17 shows the results. It can be seen that the time of occurrence and the duration of the peak are detected wrongly for synchronization step sizes of 10 and  $60 \, \text{s.}^{20}$  This leads to the incorrect simulation of the system pressure. Since short synchronization time steps may result in longer simulation execution times, this experiment has shown that the step size must be defined according to the desired accuracy.

In summary, all relevant model functions were verified and found to provide accurate results. This includes also the correct creation of value stream maps for processing units and the functionality to use process models for the modification of product characteristics within processing units. Consequently, the model can be used as a core model for multiscale simulations. However, the exemplary results of the experiments with different model and synchronization step sizes show that it is of

 $<sup>^{19}</sup>$ The simulation runs have been repeated for the production of 50 instead of one product unit. Shift schedules have been ignored. With a model time step of 1 s, the energy demand was 974.417 kWh. For 10s it was 976.78 kWh and for 60s it was 962.67 kWh.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$ In this example, the demand started exactly simultaneously to the synchronization step of 60 s. If it would have started just a bit later, it would have been ignored completely.

importance to set time steps which are suitable for the specific machine behavior, desired result accuracy, and acceptable simulation execution time. Otherwise, even a verified model may deliver inaccurate results.

# References

- U. Bierbaum and J. Hütter. *Druckluft kompendium*. Hoppenstedt Bonnier Zeitschriften GmbH, Darmstadt, 2004. ISBN 3935772114.
- M. Schönemann, C. Schmidt, C. Herrmann, and S. Thiede. Multi-level Modeling and Simulation of Manufacturing Systems for Lightweight Automotive Components. *Procedia CIRP*, 41: 1049– 1054, 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2015.12.063.
- S. Thiede. Energy Efficiency in Manufacturing Systems. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2012. ISBN 978-3-642-25913-5. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-25914-2.

# Chapter 6 Exemplary Application

The developed multiscale simulation concept is exemplary applied to two different battery production systems. The purpose of this application is demonstrating the use of the simulation concept, the core model, the development of detailed models, as well as the interpretation of simulation results. Since the simulation is applicable for all production stages and different objectives, the application is demonstrated for cell production (Sect. 6.1) as well as for the assembly of battery modules (Sect. 6.2).

#### 6.1 Simulation of Cell Production

In the first study, a simulation model was created for the production of LIB cells at the Battery LabFactory Braunschweig (BLB). The twelve-step application procedure for multiscale simulations structures the following subsections.

#### 6.1.1 Problem Formulation (I) and Objective Definition (II)

The BLB is a battery cell research facility.<sup>1</sup> It serves as a platform for interdisciplinary research on the process chain for electrodes and cells. Research fields are cell design, process improvement, sustainable manufacturing, battery cell and production system simulation, as well as data acquisition and knowledge discovery in production. The BLB is equipped with state-of-the-art production equipment such as different types of

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The BLB was established in 2013 at the Technische Universität Braunschweig as an institution of the Automotive Research Centre Niedersachsen (NFF); www.tu-braunschweig.de/blb.

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_6

mixers, a continuous coating and drying machine, a calender, a laser cutter, automated machines for cell assembly, and cycling automates. The assembly of cells at the BLB is located inside a  $150 \text{ m}^2$  dry room and is characterized by small batch sizes and manual handling operations.

The objective of the simulation is imitating the operation of the BLB – under the assumption that it operates at full capacity – and to demonstrate the capabilities of the proposed multiscale simulation approach. The simulation shall determine performance indicators such as the output of cells per time period and the utilization of equipment, as well as energy demands for different scenarios. More specifically, the simulation shall enable the evaluation of the impacts of machine configurations, processing times as well as different materials on the energy demand. In addition, the simulation shall allocate the energy demands to produced cells and create transparency about the pattern of energy demands in order to identify the most relevant machines and systems. The goal was to demonstrate the interaction of different models as well as possible results and use cases of the multiscale simulation.

#### 6.1.2 Definition of Required Models (III)

The multiscale core model was used to simulate the material flow and to determine the operation and demands of machines. This allows the coordination of detailed models. In order to configure the core model and to define the required machine agents, machines and peripheral equipment have been analyzed. According to the proposed decision tree for model type selection, the machines of the process chain must be included in the simulation. Detailed modeling of machines or equipment may be reasonable if the energy demand is high and volatile see (Sect. 4.7.3). Hence, machines and equipment were observed regarding power demands and operational time to derive the required type of modeling for each equipment. The results of a portfolio analysis provided by Posselt (2016) were used as a starting point for the identification of machines/systems with high energy demands. In addition, an analysis of measured load profiles of machines and equipment was carried out to gather detailed insight into demand patterns. As a result, the following machines and systems have been identified to have high energy demands:

- · continuous coating and drying machine
- calender
- cycling automate
- extruder
- ventilation units incl. heating and cooling
- dry room units
- chiller

These machines and systems were further investigated to determine whether the power demands are volatile and require detailed modeling or if generic models provide sufficient accuracy. As an example, the power demand of the calender was



Fig. 6.1 Power measurement of calender. Unfiltered and filtered data



Fig. 6.2 Power measurement of coating and drying machine. Unfiltered and filtered data

examined and the power demand profile – presented in Fig. 6.1 – shows rather constant power demands for idling and processing. Generic modeling seams reasonable.

As another example, Fig. 6.2 shows a characteristic power demand profile of the coating and drying machine. During ramp-up, the power demand increases until the desired drying temperature is reached. The power demand remains constant during processing and drops to a lower level at which it stays constant again. This allows to conclude that the power demand during processing depends on process parameters. Overall, the power demand of the coating and drying machine could be simplified modeled by a generic machine model in which the state-based power demand depends on process parameters. However, if NMP solvent is used in the electrode slurry, this solvent is emitted in the drying process and the exhaust air has to be filtered before it leaves the building. A treatment system is required which consists of components with high power demands. It has to be modeled and connected to the dryer model in order to simulate the effects of different solvents on the energy demand.

This analysis approach was used for all other machines and equipment with high energy demands. It revealed that all selected machines can be sufficiently modeled with generic models due to constant power demand profiles. There are also machines with higher variation in power demand such as the z-folder or the laser cutter. However, their overall power demand is relatively low which means that a state-based modeling approach with average values is reasonable for a first estimation of the production systems energy demand. Detailed models of these machines may still be reasonable if it is desired to simulate the impacts of machine behavior on process results. For example, the speed of a gripper in the z-folder may effect the positioning accuracy of electrodes. To investigate these effects, a detailed machine model of the

banung	mixing coating,	calendering	zone 3 (dry room) separation	zone 4 (dry room) cell assembly	zone 5 formation	A 1
technica services	I building machin related	e exh. air TBS treatment	CAG building related	BS lights HVAC zone 1, 2,	5 HVAC HV zone 3 zo	/AC ne 4 chiller
proce	ess chain le & cell production	-/+	T ¥	T 🖌		
ma	chines		T		•	workers
inter miz	sive coating & calend	ler laser vacuur cutter oven	m z-folder ultra sonic welder	drawing & sealing machine	e cycling automat	worker
pro	cesses //wet coating & cale drying caling & cale	end- ing cutting dryi	ing folding contac	t- housing filling	forming	worker

Fig. 6.3 Framework for the multiscale simulation of the BLB

z-folder with each component was created in the software Simulink with defined variables for the connection to the core model. However, these aspects and the model were neglected.

The defined models and their relations must be clearly structured within the context of the multiscale simulation. This can be realized by using the suggested framework for multiscale simulation. Figure 6.3 presents the adapted framework for the simulation of the BLB.

# 6.1.3 Modeling, Implementation (IV), and Coupling of Models (V)

The defined models have to be further specified and implemented in software. The core model, the compressed air system model, and the machine models have to be configured. In addition, detailed models have to be created for the HVAC systems including the dry room and a model for the building zones.

#### Multiscale Core Model

The multiscale core model was configured to represent the BLB. This required the definition of product types, material flows, jobs, machines, and building zones. An image of the building ground plan was placed in the background of the models main level and zones were defined based on the actual building zones. The machine



location was specified within the shop floor coordinates according to their position in the ground plan. This allows an easy interpretation of the dynamic model behavior and results during simulation. Figure 6.4 shows a screenshot the process chain model representation of the BLB. The machines are modeled with the machine agent class provided by the process chain model. Each machine was configured based on machine specific parameters and state-based energy and compressed air demands.

As an example for an extended machine model, the coating and drying machine was modeled in more detail to describe the effects of process parameters and the operation of the exhaust air treatment system. This model was implemented in Any-Logic within the machine agent class. The state-based power demand values for the machine were derived from empirical results. Measurements were taken and examined for various process parameter combinations. The analysis revealed that the power demand is mostly effected by the dryer temperature. Figure 6.5 shows box plots of the power demand of the machine for the temperatures 80, 100, and 120 °C. Within the model, the power demand is adjusted based on a defined temperature. Furthermore, the air treatment system was modeled with state charts describing the main components fan, filter, and chiller.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The fan has a nominal power of 11 kW but it mostly operates at 30% of this power. The filter requires compressed air. The purpose of the chiller is cooling of the exhaust air before entering the filter. The chiller has a nominal power of 65 kW. Its power demand depends on the outside air temperature. Since no exact energy data exist so far, a template for a function was implemented which can initially be used for a rough estimation of the chiller power demand and later be adapted.



The control strategy of the process chain had to be adjusted to account for aspects of the small scale production. It is assumed that production activity starts at 7 am and stops at 8 pm on each day (including weekends). The cycling automate is the only machine running at night. All other machines start processing only if the processing time is shorter than the remaining shift time. Furthermore, the mixing process only starts if the slurry can be used for coating at the same day. The buffer capacities at each machine are set high in order to avoid blocking. Mixers and the coating and drying machine have small buffers since they have to be immediately available at the beginning of a job.

Since battery production is highly automated, the influences of worker performance on product quality were neglected within this study.<sup>3</sup>

#### Building and HVAC Model

The BLB has five building zones. Zone 1 contains the mixing processes and is ventilated, heated, and cooled. Zone 2 contains the coating and drying machine and the calender. It is ventilated and heated. Zone 3 and 4 are dry rooms for cell assembly. Zone 5 contains the cycling automate and is ventilated and heated.

For simulation of the building inside conditions, a simplified five room model was built in Simulink using the International building physics toolbox (IBPT).<sup>4</sup> Each zone was composed using construction objects for walls, windows, ceilings, as well as ventilation and air conditioning systems. Weather data were prepared based on TRY-files for Germany (DWD 2016). Figure 6.6 shows a screenshot of the building zone model. In the model, each building zone is ventilated with a constant air change rate and power demands for ventilation are assumed to be constant within each of the states operation and standby according to measurements taken at the BLB.<sup>5</sup> The heating energy is supplied to the BLB as district heat. In addition to the supplied heat, the process chain model determines heat emissions of machines, lighting, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>It is possible to implement existing worker performance models (e.g. from Baines et al. 2004) into a multiscale simulation if the results are expected to be beneficial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The open-source toolbox was developed by the Building Physics research group of the Chalmers University of Technology in Gothenburg, Sweden and the Department of Civil Engineering from Technical University of Denmark in Copenhagen. The resources and information are available on www.ibpt.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For each zone: 8 kW in operation and 5 kW in standby mode.



workers to each building zone. These heat emissions reduce the required heat supply and may demand cooling. The building model determines the resulting heating and cooling power demand required to maintain zone temperatures between 20 and 26 °C. The simulated heating demand equals the district heat demand<sup>6</sup> while the cooling demand has to be provided by a chiller.<sup>7</sup>

The dry rooms are both supplied by an AHU each containing fans, cooling coils for pre-cooling of the outside air (supplied by the chiller), a desiccant wheel, a heating coil for heating of the dried air to the desired room temperature (district heating), a heating coil for the regeneration air flow (gas), and a waste heat recovery from the regeneration air. In order to estimate the power demand of the dry room operation, a model is derived based on power measurements<sup>8</sup> and the analysis of the control scheme. First measurements have shown a rather constant gas demand<sup>9</sup> during dry room operation as well as a constant power demand for ventilation. In addition, a regression analysis was conducted to investigated the correlation between the outside temperature and the power demand of the chiller. Figure 6.7 shows a scatter plot of samples for the power demand during intervals with an average temperature. It also shows a fit based on a polynomial function, which was implemented in the chiller model to estimate the power demand depending on the outside temperature.<sup>10</sup>

The effects of moisture emissions of workers and the relative humidity of the outside air on the energy demand of the dry room components were not considered. However, due to the structure of the dehumidification system, it is assumed that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>It was assumed that heat supply is available throughout the entire year although it might be turned off during summer months.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The model determines the required cooling demand to maintain the zone temperature in the desired range. However, in the BLB, the capacity of the available chiller is not large enough to supply the dry room AHU as we as to provide cooling for all zones.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Measurements were only available for April, August, September and October.

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$ Approximately 7 m<sup>3</sup>/h. However, due to the lack of sufficient data, this aspect is neglected in the model so far.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Goodness of fit: R-square: 0.8496. The quality of this fit has to be re-evaluated if more data samples are available.



Fig. 6.7 Scatter plot of samples of chiller power demand [kW] and outside air temperature (°C)





higher internal moisture loads and higher outside air humidity would result in a higher gas demand.<sup>11</sup> Moreover, in addition to the use of constant values (e.g. as for the ventilation power demand) or empirical model (e.g. as for the chiller power demand), it is also possible to calculate the theoretical energy demands based on the specific characteristics of the air streams to and from the dry room. Such detailed modeling may be reasonable for system or control design or to accurately determine the indoor conditions. However, it would require further in-depth knowledge about the dehumidification and ventilation system and cause higher modeling effort.

#### Model Coupling

The building model and the compressed air system model are connected to the core model via the middleware TISC, as shown in Fig. 6.8. The building model receives information from the process chain model about the shift schedule and variables about heat emissions for each building zone. In return, the building model provides the temperatures for each zone, the heating and cooling demands, as well as the power demand of the chiller. The zone temperatures are used in the core model to calculate the heat emissions of each machine. Furthermore, the building model provides the outside air temperature which is used to determine the power demand of the chiller of the air treatment system.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Further studies could deal with the measurement of the zone dew point temperature along with the number of people inside a dry room over a time period. This may enable to derive a regression function for the power demand depending on moisture loads.

#### 6.1.4 Verification and Validation (VI)

The general verification of the core model, the compressed air system model, and the coupling via TISC was already explained in the previous chapter. The models used in this study were verified based on available production data and energy measurements. Since the BLB is usually not operating at full utilization, data about energy demands and control of HVAC systems are not completely available. Furthermore, the building and HVAC model was modeled without having complete data and information about system characteristics and control parameters. As an example for limitations, heat transfers between building zones are not considered and the materials of construction elements are not exactly matched with the materials used in the BLB. Moreover, the calculation of humidity is not included in the building model. However, the geometry of building zones is specified accurately and the model in general shows the expected thermal behavior. For example, the temperatures in larger zones change slower compared to zones with smaller air volume and zone temperatures increase if heat is emitted from internal heat sources (provided by the core model). Thus, the simulation results are useful as a rough estimation of the building climate and to highlight the directions of interdependencies between model parameters. In summary, although some models were verified and validated based on available data, the overall model cannot be considered validated and serves only as an experimental model demonstrating the functionality of the multiscale simulation.

## 6.1.5 Definition (VII) and Execution (VIII) of Simulation Runs

Specific simulation runs have to be defined based on the objectives and models have to be configured accordingly. In this study, different experiments are used to illustrate possible use-cases of the multiscale simulation. First, a reference scenario is defined which imitates one month of production of one type of battery cells. Jobs, product types, processing parameters, machine allocation and processing times were defined in order to create a consistent scenario of the cell production within the BLB.<sup>12</sup> Each job represents the production of 50 cells and it is assumed that one anode batch and one cathode batch are used for exactly these 50 cells. This reference scenario can be used as a benchmark to evaluate the effects of different system changes related to various planning tasks. This case study addresses the following five exemplary tasks:

 $T_1$ : Evaluation of different drying times and temperatures The coating and drying machine has a high power demand and relatively long processing times. It can be assumed that this machine is a bottleneck which effects the output of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Since there is no established series production scenario of the BLB, this reference scenario represents one exemplary system configuration which is not necessarily completely representative for the BLB.

cells and causes high energy demands. It should be evaluated how the output and energy demand is effected by different processing times and temperature settings.

- $T_2$ : Evaluation of additional machines The reference scenario refers to the actual machine configuration of the BLB. However, since the BLB is not equipped for series production, it is expected that the material flow will be blocked and that buffers will run full due to limited capacity of some processes. For this reason, the simulation should enable evaluating if additional machines can improve the material flow and increase the output.
- $T_3$ : Evaluation of different solvents Electrode slurries can contain different solvents. Often NMP is used which is removed within the drying process and requires treatment of the exhaust air. If water is used as solvent, no air treatment is necessary. The effects of solvents on energy demands should be evaluated.
- $T_4$ : Evaluation of different weather conditions The reference scenario is simulated with weather data for July. It is of interest to evaluate how much the HVAC energy demands are effected by the outside air temperature.

These evaluation tasks are the basis for the derivation of simulation runs. Simulation runs represent scenarios with different production system and simulation model configurations. They have to be specified to generate simulation results which allow the evaluation of the related tasks. Table 6.1 lists the description of defined simulation runs for this case study. These runs have been executed to generate results.<sup>13</sup>

SR	Description
SR <sub>RS</sub>	Simulation run for the reference scenario
SR <sub>1,1</sub>	Reference scenario but with drying time increased by 10%
SR <sub>1,2</sub>	Reference scenario but with drying time increased by 20%
SR <sub>1,3</sub>	Reference scenario but with drying time reduced by 10%
SR <sub>1,4</sub>	Reference scenario but with drying time reduced by 20%
SR <sub>1,5</sub>	Reference scenario but with temperature at 100 °C
SR <sub>1,6</sub>	Reference scenario but with temperature at 120 °C
SR <sub>2,1</sub>	Reference scenario but with two filling machines
SR <sub>2,2</sub>	Reference scenario but with two coating and drying machines
SR <sub>2,3</sub>	Reference scenario but with two filling machines and two coating and drying machines
SR <sub>3,1</sub>	Reference scenario with slurry containing NMP solvent. Air treatment system is activated
SR <sub>3,2</sub>	Machine configuration from $SR_{2,2}$ with slurry containing NMP solvent. Air treatment system is activated
SR <sub>4,1</sub>	Reference scenario but with weather data for January
SR <sub>4,2</sub>	SR <sub>2,3</sub> but with weather data for January
SR <sub>4,3</sub>	Reference scenario but with weather data for October
SR <sub>4,4</sub>	SR <sub>2,3</sub> but with weather data for October

 Table 6.1
 Description of simulation runs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Each run starts with empty buffers and consequently not in steady state. In addition, stochastic effects such as machine failures or process variations are neglected due to the lack of required data.

# 6.1.6 Evaluation of Simulation Results (IX) and Objectives (X)

The results of the simulation runs were examined regarding result quality and usability for the evaluation of the defined tasks. Figure 6.9 presents exemplary plots of performance indicators of  $SR_{2,3}$  for the simulation period of one month. These plots show (from top to bottom) the power demands of machines, compressed air generation, heating and cooling, the dry room (ventilation and chiller), and lighting. These plots enable identifying trends and characteristic situations. For example, a daily power demand pattern can be identified from the first plot. Furthermore, heating demands are higher at times with lower outside temperature and cooling is only active during days with a higher outside temperature. In addition to these monthly plots, it is possible to visualize the total energy demand of each machine and system for the simulated month – as shown in Fig. 6.10 for  $SR_{2,3}$ . This visualization helps to identify the most relevant machines/systems. Here it becomes clear that the highest energy demands are caused by building cooling demand, coating and drying machines, the chiller for the dry rooms, as well as the ventilation of zones.



Fig. 6.9 Plots of indicators for  $SR_{2,3}$ . From *top* to *bottom*: power demand of machines, compressed air generation, heating and cooling, dry room, and lighting



Fig. 6.10 Energy demands of machines and systems during one month for SR2,3

In this case study, indicators have been selected for the comparison of simulation runs. These indicators were the yield of cells during the simulated period of one month, the utilization of the process chain ( $uti_{PC}$ ), the mean production time per job ( $PT_{mean}$ ) and its deviation ( $PT_{dev}$ ), energy demands (ED) of different systems, as well as the average direct and indirect embodied energy per cell ( $\emptyset$  DEE<sub>*cell*</sub>,  $\emptyset$  IEE<sub>*cell*</sub>). Table 6.2 lists the results for the simulation runs. Even though the actual numerical values of the results must be doubted due to the non-validated model character, they enable a discussion of the individual measures, the comparison of simulation runs, and the improvement of the understanding of the complex behavior of the production system.

The results of the reference scenario  $SR_{RS}$  show that the mean of the production time per job is high with 189 h. A detailed analysis showed that the production time increased over the observed time period. This is caused by including the model warm up phase into the simulation results. After reaching a steady state, the model shows that the machines in cell assembly have full buffers because the filling process is a bottleneck. Many semi-finished product units are stored in buffers and cannot be finished due to limited machine capacities. Furthermore, the mixing processes are often blocked which allows to conclude that the coating and drying machine is also a bottleneck. However, the sole extension of coating and drying capacities would only result in more buffered semi-finished product units in cell assembly. In summary, the high mean production time indicates a large amount of work in progress and an undesired obstructed material flow.

The results of  $SR_{1,1}$ – $SR_{1,4}$  show the effects of different processing times for coating and drying. As expected, longer processing times result in higher energy demands of machines and higher direct embodied energy per cell. The reduced mean production time of  $SR_{1,2}$  compared to  $SR_{1,1}$  can be explained with fewer started jobs due to not available coating capacities. Thus, fewer product units fill the buffers in cell assembly causing shorter production times. The opposite effect shows in  $SR_{1,4}$ : A shorter time for coating and drying increases the yield because the cell assembly can start earlier within the simulated month. On the downside, higher throughput in electrode production fills the buffers in cell assembly more quickly causing the production times to increase even more for later jobs and blocking of the previous processes. The resulting reduced activity in electrode production results in lower

Table 6.2 Re	sults of simula	tion runs								
SR	Yield	PT <sub>mean</sub> (h)	PT <sub>dev</sub> (h)	ED <sub>TOTAL</sub> (kWh)	ED <sub>MAC</sub> H (kWh)	ED <sub>CAG</sub> (kWh)	ED <sub>HVAC</sub> (kWh)	ED <sub>LIGHTS</sub> (kWh)	Ø DEE <sub>cell</sub> (kWh)	Ø IEE <sub>cell</sub> (kWh)
SR <sub>RS</sub>	1129	189	58.9	57,003	17,030	878	36,760	1,905	11.292	39.198
SR <sub>1,1</sub>	1129	189	58.8	58,272	18,303	873	37,218	1,877	11.995	39.619
SR <sub>1,2</sub>	1107	186	53	59,146	18,949	863	37,478	1,854	12.973	40.455
SR <sub>1,3</sub>	1129	189	59	55,166	15,907	887	36,501	1,870	10.583	38.28
$SR_{1,4}$	1136	249	109	54,333	14,627	1,014	37,079	1,612	10.466	37.362
SR1,5	1129	189	59	72,675	28,639	878	41,253	1,905	17.008	47.634
$SR_{1,6}$	1129	189	59	81,654	34,570	878	44,300	1,905	20.223	52.101
$SR_{2,1}$	1485	96	14	55,268	16,156	868	36,645	1,589	10.342	26.875
SR <sub>2,2</sub>	1140	292	137	57,919	17,095	1,039	38,348	1,435	11.878	38.928
$SR_{2,3}$	2845	87	13.5	78,106	30,885	1,665	43,660	1,934	9.91	17.543
$SR_{3,1}$	1129	189	59	66,593	26,880	1,049	36,759	1,905	16.675	42.309
$SR_{3,2}$	1485	96	14	65,324	26,013	1,037	36,661	1,611	15.93	28.06
$SR_{4,1}$	1129	189	59	101,392	17,029	878	81,579	1,905	11.292	78.516
$SR_{4,2}$	2845	87	13.5	103,756	30,885	1,655	69,310	1,934	9.91	26.56
$SR_{4,3}$	1129	189	59	73,433	17,029	878	53,620	1,905	11.292	53.751
$SR_{4,4}$	2845	87	13.5	64,746	30,885	1,655	46,547	1,934	9.91	17.947

overall energy demands while maintaining a similar yield compared to the previous simulation runs. However, the amount of produced electrodes is lower at the end of one month.

 $SR_{1,5}$ - $SR_{1,6}$  differ from the reference scenario only regarding the power demand for the coating and drying machine. The results show the expected higher energy demand of machines but also of HVAC systems due to higher cooling demands. Consequently, the direct and indirect embodied energy per cell is effected noticeably by the drying temperature.

 $SR_{2,1}$ – $SR_{2,3}$  examined the impacts of additional machines. First, in  $SR_{2,1}$ , two additional filling machines resulted in a higher yield due to a resolved bottleneck at the end of the process chain. The mean production time dropped significantly. The utilization of cell assembly was reduced (since buffers were not always filled and machines were in idle mode) which can be seen at the reduced power demand for compressed air generation. As a result of the higher yield, the indirect embodied energy per cell was noticeably reduced because the fixed power demands could be allocated to more cells. In  $SR_{2,2}$ , the reference scenario was extended by a second coating and drying machine. The results indicate that the bottleneck was not eliminated since the mean production time is very high and the yield similar to the reference case. In  $SR_{2,3}$ , the reference scenario was extended by both two additional filling machines and one additional coating and drying machine. The results indicate that the indice show that a higher yield and shorter production times were possible in this case. This underlines that the cell assembly was not fully utilized in  $SR_{2,1}$ .

The results of  $SR_{3,1}$  show – in comparison to the reference scenario – that the air treatment system caused higher overall energy demand as well as higher direct (increased by almost 50%) and indirect embodied energy per cell.  $SR_{3,2}$  revealed – based on  $SR_{2,1}$  – that a higher output did not help to reduce the embodied energy since the energy demands of the air treatment system were assigned to the coating machine. If the energy demand of the air treatment system would have been allocated to the TBS systems, the higher output in  $SR_{3,1}$  would have resulted in reduced indirect embodied energy compared to  $SR_{3,1}$ . It can be concluded that avoiding NMP solvents is an important measure in reducing the overall energy demand.

 $SR_{4,1}$  and  $SR_{4,2}$  used weather data for January. The high required heating demands caused an increase of the total energy demand and indirect embodied energy per cell. Even though the output of  $SR_{4,2}$  is higher, the indirect embodied energy is still significantly higher compared to  $SR_{2,3}$ .  $SR_{4,3}$  and  $SR_{4,4}$  used weather data for October. The weather conditions caused lower heating and cooling demands due to moderate temperatures.

The embodied energy per battery cell is an important indicator for the evaluation of the environmental impacts of each cell. Figure 6.11 presents the simulation results for the average direct (DEE) and indirect (IEE) embodied energy of one battery cell. It becomes clear that the indirect embodied energy was higher in all simulation runs. Furthermore, the indirect embodied energy strongly depends on the yield of finished cells. This means that the energy demands of peripheral equipment and TBS as well as the yield of a factory must be considered in the economic and environmental assessment of battery cells. Moreover, the simulation results allow a breakdown



Fig. 6.11 Average direct (DEE) and indirect (IEE) embodied energy per battery cell



Fig. 6.12 Average embodied equivalent CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from energy supply per battery cell

of the energy demand into different energy carriers. This enables a more accurate determination of environmental impacts and energy costs. For example, in this study the building heating is supplied by district heat while the other machines and TBS systems demand electricity. These energy carriers cause different specific equivalent  $CO_2$  emissions<sup>14</sup> which can be used to determine the average embodied equivalent  $CO_2$  emissions from energy supply for each produced battery cell, as shown in Fig. 6.12.

In summary, the results allow to draw some general conclusions. The processing times of individual processes may effect the bottleneck(s) of a process chain and influence the achievable yield of finished cells. This further influences the indirect embodied energy per cell. Moreover, the energy demands of processes may depend on product specifications (e.g. type of solvent) and process parameters (e.g. temperature settings). As an example, the usage of NMP solvent increases the energy demand noticeably (SR<sub>3,1</sub> and SR<sub>3,2</sub>). This also effects the direct embodied energy per cell. In addition, weather conditions have a significant effect on the energy demand of HVAC systems. Thus, weather conditions have to be considered while selecting a location for a battery cell factory.

Overall, the developed models can be used to conduct simulation runs for further planning tasks or for in-depth sensitivity analysis of single parameters or model characteristics. Moreover, the model functions allow the analysis of worker behavior, value streams of jobs, the development of product characteristics, etc. These aspects were not included in this case study but could be used for future studies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>For Germany:  $CO_2^{eq}$  impact of electricity production: 609 g/kWh (Umweltbundesamt 2015);  $CO_2^{eq}$  of district heat (from fossil energy carriers): 325 g/kWh (Umweltbundesamt 2013).

#### 6.2 Simulation of Module Assembly

In this second case study, a simulation model was created for the assembly of battery modules. This demonstration focused the application of the multiscale core model for the evaluation of different process chain configurations. For simplification, only the process chain scale with workstations<sup>15</sup> was examined neglecting processes, workers, TBS, and the building. Due to this specific focus, this section does not specifically cover each step of the application procedure.

Problem Formulation and Objective Definition

The scope of this study was the comparison of a traditional assembly line configuration with a matrix-structured process chain layout for the simultaneous assembly of three exemplary types of battery modules. These modules differ regarding the number of cells, installed cables and sensors, geometric dimensions, and the housing. Consequently, although the production steps of all considered module types are in general identical, there are differences in the exact production steps and related processing times. In this case, two module types require eight production steps while the third requires seven steps because it does not contain a cooling system. Table 6.3 lists the production steps with related processing times for the three module types.<sup>16</sup>

The differing processing times of production steps result in starving and blocking of workstations. Thus, the goal of the production planning is defining process chain layouts and machine allocations which enable a high system utilization by avoiding starving and blocking. The objective of the simulation study was testing of different process chain layouts, different buffer sizes of workstations, and different allocations of production steps to workstations.

	Processi	ng time p	er produc	tion step	(min)			
	PS <sub>1</sub>	PS <sub>2</sub>	PS <sub>3</sub>	PS <sub>4</sub>	PS <sub>5</sub>	PS <sub>6</sub>	PS <sub>7</sub>	PS <sub>8</sub>
Module type 1	3	5	7	5	4	5	6	5
Module type 2	4	6	8.5	6.3	4	6	6	5
Module type 3	2.5	4.5	5	3	5	-	5	5

 Table 6.3 Production steps with related processing times for each module type

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>In this case study, the term workstation was used since assembly tasks are often manual tasks which are supported by different tools or resources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>The processing times are defined based on assumptions and serve the purpose of demonstration. They do not reflect real-word production data.



(b) matrix-structured configuration

Fig. 6.13 Screenshots of the assembly line configuration in u-shape (a) and the matrix-structured configuration (b) modeled in AnyLogic

Development of Models and Implementation

The multiscale core model was used for modeling of different process chain configurations and for evaluating scenarios regarding utilization and production time. In the model, the assembly line configuration and the matrix-structured configurations were created by specifying the workstation coordinates as well as the allocation of production steps to workstation. The operational states of workstations were represented by generic machine models. Energy demands were not observed in this study. Moreover, shift hours were not considered since TBS systems are not modeled and there are no effects of weather conditions on any production system element. Battery modules were represented by processing unit agents and the control strategy shortest throughput time was used to control the flow of processing units.

For the assembly line configuration, each production step was allocated to one workstation. Hence, in this case there were eight workstations which were positioned within the virtual shop floor coordinate system according to the order of production steps. Each workstation must have the required resources (e.g. tools).

For the matrix-structured configuration, each production step was allocated to multiple workstations based on different criteria. For example, if different production steps require the same tools (e.g. for fixation of cells on a base plate and for mounting of the housing), these production steps can be allocated to the same workstation. In this study, the production steps were allocated to nine workstations. Figure 6.13a, b present screenshots of the implemented process chains configurations.

Definition and Execution of Simulation Runs

The simulation model was used to determine the utilization and total production time for the assembly line and the matrix-structured configuration. For each configuration, the assembly of 500 modules was simulated in one simulation run with a random sequence of product types. The buffer size of each workstation was set to one. A fixed seed value was used for simulation in order to replicate the same sequence of products for each simulation run. This random sequence of product types should represent unknown demands for each product type. After the first two simulation runs for both the line and matrix-structured configuration, a third run was executed to analyze an optimized matrix-structured configuration.

#### Evaluation of Simulation Results and Objectives

The results of the simulation runs were analyzed regarding the indicators utilization and overall production time for the simulated assembly of 500 modules. Figure 6.14 shows the plot of the utilization for the assembly line and matrix-structured configuration. The plots for both configurations show a fluctuation of the utilization which can be explained by regular starving and blocking of workstations. However, the utilization of the matrix-structured configuration (mean: 78.8%) is higher compared to the utilization of the assembly line configuration (mean: 69.5%). Moreover, the required production time for 500 modules is approximately 20% shorter with the matrix-structured configuration (including ramp-up and ramp-down of the assembly activity).

For further optimization of the matrix-structured configuration, the causes of blocking were investigated. A total of 186 blockings occurred during the simulation run. It was analyzed in which state a processing units could not be forwarded to a next workstation. A histogram was created showing the production step of processing units at which blocking occurred. This indicated which production steps were not sufficiently available in the process chain. Figure 6.15 presents the histogram which shows that processing units are often blocked after production step  $PS_4$  and  $PS_7$ . Consequently, workstations for production step  $PS_5$  and  $PS_8$  were not available when needed. As a solution, these both production steps were additionally allocated to workstation 9. Another simulation run was executed to evaluate this change in production step allocations. Figure 6.16 presents the plot of the resulting utilization of the adjusted matrix-structured configuration in comparison to the previous simulation results of the initial matrix-structured configuration. The adjusted matrix-structured configuration for matrix and the production step and a shorter production time. The total number of blockings was reduced to 49. This procedure



**Fig. 6.14** Simulation results: Utilization of assembly line (*top*) and matrix-structured configuration (*bottom*)



Fig. 6.15 Histogram of blockings per production step



Fig. 6.16 Simulation results: Utilization of the initial (*top*) and the adjusted matrix-structured configuration (*bottom*)

for analyzing blockings could be repeated in order to further optimize the allocation of production steps. Alternatively to the additional allocation of production steps to other workstations, buffer sizes may be increased or new workstations added to the assembly system. The effects of such improvement measures can be analyzed with the simulation model.

The core model could also be configured for the consideration of machine failures. Probability distribution could be used to model the times between the occurrence of machine failures (MTTF) and until failures are repaired (MTTR). The model must be used to execute a large number of simulation runs with random seed value in order to address the implemented stochastic effects and to avoid a snap-shot character of simulation results. It was shown in Schönemann et al. (2015) that matrix-structured assembly systems can be more suitable for handling stochastic machine failures in comparison to sequential assembly lines. In the analyzed scenario, an assembly line configuration was compared to a matrix-structured configuration. The failure behavior of each machine was specified by Weibull functions for MTTF and uniform distributions for MTTR. Weibull functions have been used since they are adjustable to individual machine behavior. The uniform distribution allowed to equally consider short and long repair times. The model was used to execute 100 simulation runs with random seed values of the random number generator. The results show a higher

utilization of the matrix-structured configuration which was equally high compared to the deterministic case without machine failures.

In summary, this second case study has shown how the process chain model can be used to evaluate different process chain configurations. The shown evaluation addressed the economic performance of an assembly system by analyzing the system utilization and the production time for a predefined yield. Such analysis of the process chain performance may also be applied to cell production in the case that multiple redundant machines are available. Moreover, in further simulation runs, an modeled process chain of an assembly system can also be embedded within a factory environment and extended by detailed models for processes, TBS, and the building – similar to the demonstration in the first case study.

#### References

- T. Baines, S. Mason, P. O. Siebers, and J. Ladbrook. Humans: The missing link in manufacturing simulation? *Simul. Model. Pract. Theory*, 12(7-8 SPEC. ISS.):515–526, 2004. ISSN 1569190X. doi:10.1016/S1569-190X(03)00094-7.
- DWD. Testreferenzjahre (TRY) (web page, accessed 2016-03-28), 2016. URL http://www.dwd.de/ DE/klimaumwelt/klimaforschung/spez\_themen/try/try\_node.html.
- G. Posselt. Towards Energy Transparent Factories. Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management. Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN 978-3-319-20868-8. doi:10. 1007/978-3-319-20869-5.
- M. Schönemann, P. Greschke, C. Herrmann, and S. Thiede. Simulation of matrix-structured manufacturing systems. J. Manuf. Syst., 37:104–112, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.jmsy.2015.09.002.
- Umweltbundesamt. Emissionsbilanz erneuerbarer Energieträger Bestimmung der vermiedenen Emissionen im Jahr 2012 (Emission balance of renewable energies determination of avoided emissions in 2012), 2013.
- Umweltbundesamt. Entwicklung der spezifischen Kohlendioxid-Emissionen des deutschen Strommix in den Jahren 1990 bis 2014, 2015.

# Chapter 7 Summary and Outlook

This chapter summarizes the presented work (Sect. 7.1), gives a critical review of the achieved results (Sect. 7.2), and provides an outlook by suggesting further research (Sect. 7.3).

#### 7.1 Summary

The presented work aimed at contributing to the research field of production system simulation in general and simulation of battery production in particular. Chapter 1 presented an introduction to the challenges in battery production and highlighted the motivation for a multiscale simulation approach for production systems.

Chapter 2 discussed the required background information about battery production and simulation. In its first part, the chapter separately covered the structure and components of battery systems as well as the principles of production systems before presenting the specific characteristics and requirements of the production of battery electrodes, cells, modules, and systems. In the second part, the chapter discussed the simulation methodology in the context of the digital factory network and introduced different modeling characteristics, simulation approaches, and procedures for simulation studies. The idea of a multiscale simulation for production system was derived and various approaches for parallel or co-simulation were presented which enable the simulation of multiple scales. The chapter ended with a summary about the requirements for the simulation of battery production systems. In short: The production of electrodes and cells is characterized by specialized unit processes which have strong influences on cell performance, requires expensive and energy intensive machines, and demands for defined environmental conditions. The assembly of modules and systems is characterized by assembly tasks, a high product variety, and the demand for a flexible material flow. Consequently, a multiscale simulation approach must

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Schönemann, *Multiscale Simulation Approach for Battery Production Systems*, Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-49367-1\_7
consider unit processes, material flow in process chains, TBS, and the building, as well as the impacts of processes on product characteristics.

Chapter 3 analyzed existing contributions in research fields related or relevant to multiscale simulation in production. It showed that there are various simulation concepts combining the simulation of different production system scales, addressing different objectives (technical, economic, environmental), and using different simulation approaches. However, the found simulation concepts mostly focus on specific planning problems and do not enable the multiscale simulation of a whole production system. None of the identified and evaluated contributions allowed or suggested a detailed simulation simultaneously considering the influences of processes on product characteristics, energy and material demands of unit processes, the material flow in process chains based on a defined schedule, interactions between machines and TBS, and the effects of outside weather conditions and the building shell construction on inside ambient conditions. Since such multiscale approach would support the improvement of battery production, Chap. 3 ended with the formulation of a research demand.

Chapter 4 described the proposed multiscale simulation concept for battery production in greater detail. It began with the definition of objectives and requirements based on the identified research demand and the initial motivation to develop a new modeling approach. The chapter continued describing the derivation of system boundaries and a generic modeling framework for a multiscale simulation as a pattern for structuring interfaces between required models. Based on this framework, the required models were derived and explained in detail. The process chain model was found to be the central element of a multiscale simulation approach for production systems since it determines the activity within a production system and acts as a coordinator for other models. Concepts were presented for a process chain model with the desired functionality as well as for additional detailed models for machines, products and processes, TBS systems, and the building. For each model type, the description describes the inputs from and outputs to other models. These intersections between models were summarized and it was shown how detailed models can be integrated or coupled to the process chain model in order to exchange the specified information. Since the coordinated use of simulation models delivers a great amount of results, the multiscale simulation concept further suggests indicators and representations for the evaluation and visualization of simulation results. Finally, an application procedure with twelve generic steps was proposed which supports the development, maintenance, and employment of multiscale simulations for specific production systems. It was suggested to define a responsible organizational role for the coordination of involved stakeholders and the monitoring of the application procedure.

Chapter 5 covered the implementation of a multiscale core model with interfaces for external models based on the derived functionality described in Chap. 4. The chapter presented the model architecture and details of the model components. In addition, as an example of an external model, a generic compressed air generation system was implemented and connected to the multiscale core model via a mid-dleware software. The final section of the chapter explained the verification of the internal functions of the process chain model as well as relevant aspects regarding

the coupling of external models such as simulation step size and synchronization time. As demonstrated by examples, these both aspects may influence the accuracy of simulation results.

Chapter 6 presented an exemplary application of the multiscale simulation concept and the developed model infrastructure around the multiscale core model. Two case studies provided insight into the application procedure, model functions, possible use-cases and exemplary simulation results. The first study addressed the battery cell production and put emphasis on the multiscale character including detailed models for products, machines, TBS, and a building. It was shown how the multiscale model can be used for specific evaluation tasks. The simulation results revealed relations between different system elements and improvement measures highlighting the necessity to consider the complex system dynamics for the evaluation of isolated measures. Some key findings indicate that increasing the output is important to reduce the production cost and environmental impacts due to high fixed energy demands which are independent from the production rate. Furthermore, weather conditions have noticeable effects on these fixed energy demands. Thus, selecting a factory location has to consider the demand for moderate outside temperatures in order to avoid high heating or cooling demands. The second study addressed the assembly of battery modules focusing on the analysis of different process chain configurations. In particular, a conventional assembly line was compared to a matrix-structured assembly system configuration for the assembly of different product types. The results show that the matrix-structured system can achieve a higher utilization while handling high product variety. Both case studies presented different selected application scenarios for the proposed simulation approach.

## 7.2 Critical Review

The presented simulation concept supports the development of multiscale simulation applications for production systems. The concept was derived from the defined objectives and extends the state of research by providing a generic modeling framework for multiscale simulations, the definition of required models for production system elements and their connecting interfaces, specific detailed modeling solutions, as well as an application procedure. Although the basic idea of comprehensive holistic production system simulations is not new, the proposed concept is unique in its proposition to combine economic, environmental, and technological objectives considering various scales from single product units to the building shell. This simulation concept was created in particular for the case of battery production but also provides helpful advise and hints for the development of multiscale simulations for any kind of production system. Especially the framework and the defined variables for information exchange between models are helpful for developers of multiscale production simulations for determining the required model functionality. Moreover, these presented concepts for detailed models for system elements may serve as a foundation for the development of specific simulation models. Theses aspects differentiate the proposed concept from most of the identified research contributions which mainly presented exemplary applications and focused on selected objectives, production system elements or scales, and simulation methods. However, it has to be recognized that the concepts for detailed models are of simplified nature and – in particular for HVAC systems, buildings, and processes – only qualitatively described. This is due the fact that it is difficult to create generic models which are valid for any kind of specific system.

An important feature of the multiscale simulation concept is the suggested use of a process chain oriented core model as a coordinator for other models. This allows imitating a realistic production activity and to dispense the use of average values or assumptions for operational times and demands of system elements (e.g. machines). Furthermore, a process chain simulation enables evaluating economic objectives such as system utilization and production times as well as allocating of all determined energy demands to the achieved yield. Such use of a process chain model in coupled simulations was already suggested for example by Hesselbach et al. (2008) and Junge (2007). However, the benefit of the here proposed multiscale core model is the flexible agent based modeling approach. The approach considers product units (or batches) and machines as agents with individual properties, objectives, and requirements. This enables the flexible configuration of different process chains, product types, control strategies for product routing, machine allocation, and the tracking of product characteristics (e.g. material input, quality parameters, embodied energy) along a process chain. The flexibility in modeling is important for the simulation of battery production since it facilitates the adaptation of a developed multiscale simulation to new production technologies and process chain configurations which are expected to come along with the establishment of new battery technologies. Moreover, in contrast to traditional process chain simulations – which are based on DE models considering products as events and not as instances with individual properties - the agent based approach allows to set individual product characteristics after each process and to carry this information as inputs for following processes. This makes it possible to study the amplifying or damping effects of variations in processing results along a process chain. Thus, the proposed process chain model represents an innovative approach which may also be interesting and useful for process chain simulations addressing solely issues of product quality or production cost.

An exemplary multiscale core model was implemented with interfaces to external models. This model is a generic tool which can be used to create simulation applications for specific cases by connecting external models of machines, products and processes, TBS, and buildings. It demonstrates how a process chain model functionality is suitable for the coordination function in a multi-model environment of coupled co-simulation applications. This tool could be used for the simulation of battery production systems but is also adaptable to any other kind of discrete production activity. However, although the model was build with care and considering the required functionality defined in the concept, it has to be kept in mind that the tool is a functional prototype and no finished software product.

The concept and the implemented core model were exemplary applied in two academic case studies. These applications showed that a multiscale simulation can

support various planning tasks in battery production and that it is applicable for different production stages such as cell production and module assembly. It becomes clear that a multiscale simulation is able to generate results which would not be possible in this extent by isolated simulation models. Within the case studies, detailed specific models have been created for machines, HVAC systems, and a building shell. These models only serve the purpose of demonstration but cannot be expected to deliver valid results due to the lack of data and in-depth knowledge about the simulated systems. For the same reason, the case studies neglected some relevant functions of the concept. Examples are the consideration of material demands, machine-hour rates, process models including machine tolerances, stochastic effects such as machine breakdowns, or influences of moisture loads on the energy demand of the dry rooms. In addition, the case studies do not related to mass production systems. The first study covered the cell production within a research facility and the second study addressed an abstract module assembly process chain. Although the application of the simulation concept could be elaborated and the results are assumed to be transferable to larger productions systems, this situation has to be kept in mind. For a real case application, it is necessary to acquire a sufficient amount of data about the production system and to develop valid models utilizing expert simulation knowledge and involving all stakeholders. The proposed application procedure supports these tasks.

Overall, the multiscale simulation concept brings various advantages for the simulation of battery production systems. The flexible agent based process chain simulation combined with the modular architecture achieved by the coupling of different models creates a planning tool which can be adapted to different scenarios and new technologies. Consequently, this one method can be used for various planning tasks and adapted to future production system configurations. Moreover, it provides a modeling concept which fosters an in-depth understanding of the observed production system. Nevertheless, although the concept fulfills the set objectives and requirements, it is necessary to mention a last relevant challenge. Multiscale simulations bear the risk of being very complex and causing huge efforts for model development and employment. Beside the resulting resource demands, this high complexity may give the impression that the results are more accurate and useful than they actually are. The case studies have shown that many assumptions and simplifications are necessary to create a manageable model which can be executed in acceptable time. These simplifications and assumptions may effect the results and could lead to wrong conclusions and a reduced acceptance of the results. However, this challenge should not impair the potential and relevance of multiscale simulation applications for production systems. In contrast, further research should be motivated to find solutions for new efficient modeling and simulation techniques, as well as methods for knowledge discovery to create valid models for processes and systems more easily.

## 7.3 Outlook on Further Research

Further research activities can build upon the presented work and contribute to the successful establishment of multiscale simulations for production systems in general and for its application to battery production in particular.

- Model library for machines and equipment The composition of a multiscale simulation and the achievable results depend strongly on the available models of system elements. The simulation concept and the proposed framework for model coupling state which models are required to consider all relevant production system elements. In the context of the work, different models for machines and equipment (e.g. TBS systems) were developed and implemented for the use in a multiscale simulation. However, these models are of generic character or based on real machines for the small scale cell production in the BLB. Moreover, detailed models are not available for all relevant system elements. Consequently, it is of interest to create a library of valid models for machines and equipment used in series production which can be employed to create multiscale simulations of various large scale production systems. This task requires information about the used production equipment with related characteristics (e.g. capacities, processing times, machine-hour rates, etc.) in industry along and intensive energy data measurements. Such library, supplied with knowledge from different disciplines, could be an important measure in the context of the digital factory.
- **Product characteristics and process models** The multiscale core model provides the functionality to apply process models within machine model agents and to determine product characteristics which can be stored in processing unit agents. This would allow evaluating the effect of processes (e.g. variations due to tolerances) on product characteristics and to create transparency about the effects along a whole process chain. However, the discussion of product characteristics and process variations in this work stayed on a rather theoretical level due to the lack of real data about machine and process tolerances. Since this aspect is of great interest for achieving a high product quality at low cost, the described ideas should motivate further work in this direction. In particular, it is important to develop models for each process which define how a process creates or modifies product characteristics. This requires empirical studies about production processes and the derivation of knowledge from the gathered data. It is necessary to identify the influences of process parameters, machine properties, and environmental conditions on the process stability and resulting product characteristics. The development of process models is a task for process experts but it should be accompanied by developers of a multiscale production simulation to guarantee the usability of the resulting models.
- **Coupling of process simulation** Process models can be of various types. Some processes might be replicated virtually by simulation models which simulate the transformation of process inputs for given process parameters over the processing time. Such model for example based on DEM may enable to consider various influences on the process execution and resulting product characteristics. Thus,

integrating such models into a multiscale simulation may improve the consideration of product quality. However, process simulation models may require long time for execution. It should be tested if the execution times of available process simulation models allow a co-simulation with the process chain model.

- **Combination with battery simulation** If a multiscale simulation of a production system for battery components is able to simulate process variations and resulting product characteristics along a process chain, it is possible to use the resulting product characteristics of finished product units as input values for battery simulation models. This enables the evaluation of the influences of process tolerances on battery performance. In particular for battery cells such approach is promising since experimental parameter variations within each process of a process chain cause high efforts. A multiscale simulation of production allows to use data and models for each isolated process and to virtually imitate the effect of tolerances along an entire process chain. A connected battery model could simulate the performance of produced cells and determine critical influencing characteristics resulting from production of which other tolerances may be again examined by the process chain simulation. This supports the simultaneous improvement of battery design and production operation.
- Adaptation for reverse material flows The multiscale simulation approach can be adapted for the evaluation of recycling systems. The developed simulation concept allows also to model diverging reverse material flows and recycling processes in detail. A similar application was already presented by Colledani and Tolio (2013).
- **Superordinate system dynamics model** The simulation of battery production systems could be extended by a subordinate system dynamics model for the assessment of a network of production facilities. Such model could describe the demand, supply, supply chain operation and market response to new technologies. It could be fed with results from the multiscale production system simulation (e.g. possible output per time period) and in return provide results as input for the simulated production program (e.g. the demands for different product types).
- **Application to other industrial sectors** Although the concept was developed for the production of batteries, it has been kept in mind that it is also applicable for other production systems and industries. It will be an interesting task to use the concept and developed modeling logic for different case studies in order to evaluate the transferability. Furthermore, it would be interesting to adapt this approach to the process industry with continuous product flows. A test case could be the production of carbon fibers which require different processing steps with very high temperatures and energy demands. Solutions must be found for the assignment of product characteristics to fractions of continuously produced products (similar to the coating and drying of electrodes).
- **Data mining** Valid data from real applications are important inputs for simulation models. Big data applications and data mining approaches are becoming more established in research and industry. It is recommended to combine data acquisition and analytic applications with simulation models. The developed multiscale simulation allows to use data for specific simulation models. In addition to the

application of data mining methods for the generation of simulation inputs, these methods can also be used for the evaluation of simulation results. Especially if a multiscale model is very detailed and considers many elements of a production system, data mining can be helpful to identify patterns within the generated results.

- **Commercial software solutions** The functional prototype of the multiscale core model with interfaces for external models must be further developed for a broad application in industry and research. It is important to achieve a better user interaction and a workflow based on industry standards for software tools. Alternatively, established software for process chain simulation (such as Plant Simulation or Arena) could be extended with interfaces for external models or middleware software. In general, it is important to establish the technical feasibility to connect simulation models which are implemented in different software tools. This would foster the re-usability of created simulation models, which is a major barrier for the broad application of simulation in industry.
- **Simulation-based production control** Simulation models could be used for operational production planning by providing predictive and real-time simulation results in order to control the actual production system operation. The multiscale simulation approach enables the development of a complete factory model which could be used for simulation-based production system control if the required computational resources and interfaces to control tools are available.

## References

- M. Colledani and T. Tolio. Integrated process and system modelling for the design of material recycling systems. *CIRP Ann. Manuf. Technol.*, 62(1):447–452, 2013. ISSN 00078506. doi:10. 1016/j.cirp.2013.03.046.
- J. Hesselbach, C. Herrmann, R. Detzer, L. Martin, S. Thiede, and B. Lüdemann. Energy Efficiency through optimized coordination of production and technical building services. In 15th CIRP Int. Conf. Life Cycle Eng., March, pages 17–19, 2008. ISBN 1877040673.
- M. Junge. Simulationsgestützte Entwicklung und Optimierung einer energieeffizienten Produktionssteuerung. Kassel University Press GmbH, Kassel, 2007. ISBN 978-3-89958-301-9.